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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION FLAGSHIP OF
CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

The Company was first listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 1994 and over the years the Company
has undertaken a number of businesses, all of which have discontinued
by 2008 and disposed of by 2009.

During 2008, the Group acquired from China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited (“CRH”), the Company’s substantial and controlling
shareholder, the entire issued share capital of China Resources Gas
Limited (“CR Gas”) for a consideration of approximately HK$3.8 billion
funded by a four for one right issue. CR Gas, through its subsidiaries
in the PRC, operates 7 city gas distribution businesses including
natural or petroleum gas pipelines, CNG filling stations and bottled
LPG distribution. The name of the Company was changed to China
Resources Gas Group Limited to signify its ultimate transformation
as a city gas distributor and to reflect the focus on its sole city gas
distribution business.

The Company continues to grow organically and by acquisitions.
Additional 20 and 21 city gas projects were added during 2009 and 2010
respectively. As at 31st December, 2010, the Company operates 48 city
gas projects (including 6 provincial capitals and 1 direct administrative
municipality) in 15 provinces in China with annualised gas sales volume
of 5.6 billion mé.
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EBMREREZMEER Gas projects owned by CR Gas

EREERAEEEBENEMEE  Other gas incubation projects retained by the CRH Group

[FEsmRE | BB —H “West to East Gas Transmission” Pipeline |

[FERERE | EE_H “Westto East Gas Transmission” Pipeline II
[IREX ] EE  “Sichuan to East Gas Transmission” Pipeline

BEZBRICRARERE Existing LNG receiving terminals

EEERPZBARARIZERY  LNG receiving terminals under construction
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BHRRDEEE ARHE SUMMARY OF CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION
PROJECT COMPANIES
“E-BERRHERE
2010 Total Gas Sales Volume
Z%-3F
IH¥EF
%-%F o%E B
B/ BRE  RiHRE &it ER IB% AR BER  mEN
£ WEEs KB% HERRER RE4# (Lr%/R) (FIFX) (%) (%) (%) (%) %8
Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l Commercial
Year of Connected  Customers & Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2010 Total Residential Industrial ~ CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned ~ Type of Gas Sold in 2010 (m¥/day) (‘000 m) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations
—EE N \FOEHEEKENtMEER 7 Projects Acquired from CRH in 2008
f#  Chengdu Ml Sichuan 200 %0 EEXAR MAH 1787000 1602000 1,001,974 50.0 494 06 = 3
Piped NG, gas stations
&5 Wi 1%  Jiangsu 2005 500 EERARR/ZAMEE BER. 637,000 7,733,000 437,546 16.9 69.4 8.7 50 6
g3k
Piped NG and]or other gas, bottled gas,
gas stations
g Suzhou & Jiengsu 2003 00 EERARR/FGEMRE BER 132000 754000 146,764 116 874 - 10 -
Piped NG andfor other gas, bottled gas
@R NenjngCNG jT&  Jiangsu 1999 804  MEH - - 70,897 = - 1000 = 11
iE] Gas stations
KRR
g% Fuang ML Zhejang 2005 500 EERAER/FABAE AR 47,000 60,000 24,764 111 39.1 - 498 =
Piped NG andfor other gas, bottled gas
. Huaiei ZH Anhui 2006 5.1 BEXRRR/SEMFE - Ak 160,000 99,000 2972 524 24 52 - 3
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas stations
B Linhai ML Zhejiang 1995 1000 EERARR/FAMFE 2000 12000 3,074 304 696 - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
LEER N 2792000 10,260,000 1,707,991 356 552 7121 2
Sub-total 7 projects
CEENAFOEBREREBNCEEE 7 Projects Acquired from CRH in 2009
@1 Zhenjiang 1%  Jiangsu 2006 510 EERARR/LEMRE - MEH 167,000 630,000 195,168 122 84.2 36 - 2
Piped NG and]or other gas, gas stations
8 IZibo X Shandong 2002 460 EERARR/FEMLAE  MEL 247000 500000 172946 157 832 11 = 1
Piped NG andfor other gas, gas station
EH  Xiangfan #t o Hubei 2002 N4 BERRE MEM 104,000 300,000 102,345 1.3 516 8711 - 5
Piped NG, gas stations
KF  Datong (U  Shanxi 2004 50 BERRE MEM 228,000 270,000 89,680 294 62.2 84 - 8
Piped NG, gas stations
B Yangouan  LUE  Shaxi 2007 B0 EERAR MAK 1300 200,000 93,666 03 765 232 = 4
Piped NG, gas stations
T VYicheng # Hubei 2002 1000 EERAR - MAM 13,000 42,000 13,097 17 648 235 - 1
Piped NG, gas station
BI  Qianjiang B Hubei 2003 1000 EERAR 60,000 38,000 19,060 488 512 - - -
Piped NG
HERR N 790300 1980000 685962 146 738 116 = 16

Sub-otal 7 projects
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“T-BEfRHELR
2010 Total Gas Sales Volume
-3-%%
THXEF
-5-%5& BEE B4
B/ LG E A T fit ER IFE AR BER mA%
£ REER KHe  HERRER RF&Y (I5%/R) (FIFR) (%) %) () (% HB
Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l Commercial
Year of Connected ~ Customers & Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2010 Total Residential |ndustrial CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2010 (m¥/day) (‘000 m) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations
“E-ZHEmMEREERENNEEEB 9 Projects Acquired from CRH in 2010
EFf  Xiamen B2 Rl 2007 00 EERARR/IELFE AER- 288000 1086000 187,774 144 508 99 49 5
g3k
Piped NG andjor other gas, bottled gas,
gas stations
EE  Jining WUE  Shandong 2007 510 EERKE MEM 178,000 158,000 86,727 172 n1r oo = 1
Piped NG, gas station
&2 Suining I Sichuan 1993 500 EERAR AL 143,000 58,000 71939 498 255 47 - 4 5
Piped NG, gas stations
M Tengzhou R  Shandong 2008 00 EERRRR/SEMLFE - MEK 75000 200,000 71,219 96 829 75 = 2
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas stations
fti  Shitang mi - Sichuan 2008 510 EEXAR  MAH 38,000 90,000 58,800 17.1 663 166 = 2
Piped NG, gas stations
Bl Kunshan & Jiangsu 2001 499 EERRR 79,000 468,000 36,723 366 634 - - -
Piped NG
8 Qidong & Jiangsu 2007 1000 EERARR/SEMAE BER 46,000 87,000 12,737 313 66.1 - 26 -
Piped NG and/or other gas, bottled gas
A Gucheng #He Hubei 2004 1000  EERAR 800 16,000 4971 07 93 - = -
Piped NG
fiM& Hangzhouwan I Zhejang 2009 1000 EERAR 400 32,000 2984 = 100.0 = = =
Piped NG
NEEE 3t 848200 2195000 482,034 217 55 116 72 14

Sub-total 9 projects
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“S-SEMRHENE
2010 Total Gas Sales Volume
-3-%%
IH%ERF
-5-%5& BEE B4
B/ BBz RiHRE fit ER IB% AR BER mA%
£ REER KHe  HERRER RF&Y (I5%/R) (FIFR) (%) %) (%) (%)  HE
Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l Commercial
Year of Connected  Customers & Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2010 Total Residential Industrial CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2010 (m¥/day) (‘000 m’) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations
EHRER —_ESAFEEWENT=EEE 13 Projects Acquired Directly by CR Gas in 2009
RE  Wuhan W Hubei 2002 510 EERAR - MEH 67,000 700,000 67,139 44 N7 29 = 1
Piped NG, gas station
28 Kunming ZH Yunan 2008 640 EEXARR/UEHRE 19000 111,000 9,062 45 %5 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
@il Tongzhou B Jiangsu 2008 00 EEXRRR/SEMRE 11,000 25,000 3367 271 729 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
#RF  Hongdong  IUE  Shaxi 2009 510 BEXARR/SEMFE - MEk 13000 100,000 4805 210 208 492 - 1
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas station
EE o Jinan iF  Shandong 2009 1000 EEXRAR - 164,000 7,012 = 100.0 = = =
Piped NG
BB Zaoyang W Hubei 2008 1000 EERAR - MRS 3500 8,600 2354 53 192 755 = 1
Piped NG, gas station
EE  Yiglan & Jlangd 2009 1000 BEAAER/HEMFE 52300 2200 163 233 767 - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
&M Luzhou [l Sichuan 2003 400 EBRAR MR 182,000 156,000 114,484 518 334 148 - 8
Piped NG, gas stations
Bk Hengshui 3 Hebei 2009 1000 EERAR 15,000 78,000 14,665 46 95.4 = = =
Piped NG
fA Vutai W& Shandong 2009 1000 EERAR - MEH 1,000 800 176 - 187 83 = 1
Piped NG, gas station
EM  Huozhou LA Shani 2009 00 EERAR 3,800 144,000 716 498 50.2 - - -
Piped NG
B#  Yangqu G Shanxi 2009 650 EERAR 300 100 7 770 230 - - -
Piped NG
2 Yanzhou WE  Shandong 2009 00 EERAR 3,400 12,000 3,082 13 987 - = -
Piped NG
T=ERA 24300 1501700 227,082 20 608 102 - 7

Sub-otal 13 projects
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“T-BEfRHELR
2010 Total Gas Sales Volume
Z2-%%
THXEF
-5-%5& BEE B4
B/ BBz RiHRE fit ER IB% XAR  BER  mEH
£ REER KHe  HERRER RF&Y (I5%/R) (FIFR) (%) () %) () HE
Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l Commercial
Year of Connected  Customers & Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2010 Total Residential Industrial CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2010 (m¥/day) (‘000 m’) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations
EBHRRN -2 ZFEEWENT=EER 12 Projects Acquired Directly by CR Gas in 2010
EF  Chongging  EEW  Municipality 1995 50 EERRE NAH 2600000 3280000 1805193 310 66.8 22 - 5
Piped NG, gas stations
@M Thengzhou  WE  Henan 2009 a1 EERER 1000000 689,000 493,981 37 509 154 = 10
(56.8)  Piped NG
T2 Jingning  TE  Jiangsu 2010 90 EEXRAR 148000 120,000 4449 27 673 = - =
Piped NG
HE  Yibin I Sichuan 2010 500 EERAR MAH 111,000 98,000 79873 349 21 30 - 4 ¢
Piped NG, gas stations
AT Neifiang mII Sichuan 2010 500 EERAE - MEM 116,000 233,000 47,900 540 36.3 9.7 - 2
Piped NG, gas stations
B  longchang M)l Sichuan 2010 00 EEXAR 35,000 24,000 1519 512 488 = = -
Piped NG
E®  KumingCNG E&  Yumnan 2010 850 & - - 16 - - 1000 - 1
B (Gas station
KR
B Fengcheng  EE  Liaoning 2010 1000 AR
Greenfield
RZ  Beni #E  Liaoning 2010 1000 HRIER
Greenfield
H2  Xinhui E%  Guangdong 2010 100.0 HMRER
Greenfield
7 Chifeng hxE  Inner 2010 1000 AR
EE  Mongolia Greenfield
Autonomous
Bh Zizhong mi - Sichuan 2010 700 HRIER
Greenfield
TZERR 4010000 4444000 2472978 321 619 60 = 2
Sub-otal 12 projects
B+ N\ERR &3t 8,764,800 20,380,700  5576,897 300 610 713 82

Grand-total 48 projects
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Highlights

“ITThEF
(RERZ #m/ “ITTNF
—E-ZfF REFIA) CR ) (EZ) ™ Em,/ (i)
2009
(As Previously
Reported
& Before Increase/ 2009 Increase/
HBZ+-A=+t—HLEE For the year ended 31st December 2010  Restatement) (Decrease)  (Restated)" (Decrease)
TR TEL TET
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2XR Turnover 8,326,747 3,746,779 122% 4,110,151 103%
E7 Gross profit 2,474,866 1,160,709 113% 1,251,808 98%
SRR Profit from operations 1,339,588 659,933 103% 677,125 98%
FRa A Profit for the year 970,399 518,372 87% 536,605 81%
ARRRAFEA Profit attributable to the Company’s
FEAE R A equity holders 733,685 421,599 74% 437,600 68%
REEBMEREFE Net cash from operating activities 1,501,761 942,311 59% 1,006,661 49%
FREAZERN (B) Basic EPS® (HK cents) 51 30 70% 33 55%
EIRBRT SR E Interim dividend paid per share
(L) (HK cents) 2.00 2.00 0% 2.00 0%
BRERRERE Final dividend proposed per share
(B4l (HK cents) 8.00 4.50 78% 4.50 78%
BEE Total assets 19,158,882 8,571,808 124% 10,716,718 79%
RITEBELERS Bank balance and cash 6,521,335 2,226,689 193% 2,671,838 144%
RITREMEE R Total bank and other borrowings 5,625,838 2,731,453 106% 2,731,453 106%
SITREMMES /(34)  Net bank and other borrowings/
38 (cash) (895,497) 504,764 (277%) 59,615 (1,602%)
RRRIRAEE NEERA  Equity attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 5,684,595 1,031,385 451% 2,424,913 134%
SEB RS Minority interests 1,894,764 536,189 253% 732,605 159%
A aE Total equity 7,579,359 1,567,574 384% 3,157,518 140%
ZZETNF
(RFER2%
—E-ZF R E5AT)
2009
(As Previously
Reported
& Before
M IEE Financial Indicators 2010 Restatement)
EUES Gross profit margin 29.7% 31.0%
75 IR Net profit margin 8.8% 11.3%
mEh L & Current ratio 1.5x 0.9x
BERBELEO Debt to equity ratio® &R
Net Cash 48.9%
BEAGBLER® Debt to assets ratio® 29.4% 31.9%
I F IR AN B R R ©) Return on weighted average equity® 13.0% 411%
kB R Payout ratio 19.6% 21.7%

ERRRERERLE - TFFRH
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—TENF
—E-ZF (FHZRIFAMH) 21k
2009
(As Previously
Reported
& Before
EEXRR Operational Performance 2010 Restatement) Change
HE#AE Number of projects 48 27 78%
HERE (BB HXK) Gross gas sale volume
(million m?) 5,577 2,214 152%
BER Residential 1,673 651 157%
T Commercial & Industrial 3,407 1,370 149%
B4R AR CNG station 427 173 147%
RER Bottled gas 70 20 250%
ERAEREBHERXARIL Connected customers and
= CNG stations
BR Residential 8,764,800 3,422,100 156%
= Commercial & Industrial 108,216 26,679 306%
JBR 48 R S8 SR CNG station 82 38 116%
FREBRAFR Additional connections and
B R AR LS E CNG stations
BER Residential 5,432,700 1,223,400 345%
I Commercial & Industrial 81,537 9,359 773%
JER 48 R SR R CNG station 44 22 100%
FHHRE Average tariff
(ARERT SIHXK) (RMB per m?) 2.24 2.15 4%
ER Residential 1.69 1.46 16%
S Commercial & Industrial 2.22 2.19 1%
JER 4B R AR uh CNG station 3.30 3.41 (3%)
THERERER Average residential connection
(AER®T) fee (RMB) 2,640 2,150 23%
IHERFOHERT Installed designed capacity for
HEE (ZAK S8) C&l customers (m? per day) 20,380,700 9,991,900 104%

Notes:

BE_ZETAFE+-_A=+—BHILEEYN
LR T E B AR [ RIS 6
ZEMEFIE] Z8FBUR - MBSy
BRI ZEEHERREBE L —BARSE
MR ERZARESE R (ARG E
A2 LERE (HMER) KEA D
Etiﬁu

FREABNZFELENEFNREET
BAn ey pniEF O BETE -

(8) EBEABMEULEERITRAMMETFRAR
RIEIEBARLER o

(4) é?%fsttf?aﬂ?ﬁ&ﬁwﬁf I RERER
AEMILER

—EENENMEFHRALRELS T
TEARBRAREBERANEEIREES
B & OF 5 18 A5 40 R0 28 B AR 3R e 5 AR AR A
i - ZHRNYERARAE_FT—F
FNATRBRDEERT AR

(1)

The comparatives for the year ended 31st December, 2009 were restated
to reflect the adoption of the “Merger Accounting under Common Control
Combination” accounting policy where the relevant amounts are restated as
if the entities or businesses had been combined at the previous reporting
period or when they first came under common control, whichever is shorter,
and up to the date of disposal where appropriate.

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on profit on continuing
operations and weighted average number of issued share.

Debt/equity gearing ratio is the ratio of net bank and other borrowings to
shareholders’ equity.

Debt/asset gearing ratio is the ratio of total bank and other borrowings to
total assets.

The higher return on weighted average equity in 2009 was mainly due to
the lower shareholders’ equity as a result of the deduction therefrom merger
reserves incurred in each of the asset injection from the parent. The impact
of such deduction was less significant after the Company did a share
placement in September 2010.
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Major Events in 2010
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EHRRERERAT — T THEFH

Completed the joint venture with Chongqging Energy Investment
Group* (EEMALRIZEEEE AR with the acquisition of 25%
equity interest in Chongqging Gas Group Corp Ltd* (EEME (&
E) BREF2AR) for a cash consideration of RMB1,162.8 million.

Entered into a joint venture agreement with Nanjing City
Jiangning District Gas (Group) Company* (BRm/IZEERE (£
E) A7]) with 49% equity interest in Nanjing Jiangning China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd* (BRI EFEHRTERAF)) for a cash
consideration of RMB600 million.

Entered in to a co-operation agreement with Tianjin Gas Group
Company Limited* (K2 AR EBEH R A 7)) with proposal to set up
a joint venture for the supply and provision of piped gas in Tianjin
with a registered capital of RMB4 billion to RMB5 billion. CR Gas
will have 49% interests in the joint venture.

A strategic collaboration agreement was entered between China
Resources (Holdings) Limited (“CRH”), the controlling shareholder
of CR Gas, and China National Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC”).
CNPC agreed to prioritise gas supply to CRH’s downstream
business; welcome CRH's participation in mid-stream and up-
stream gas projects; and will cooperate with CRH on acquisition
of downstream city gas distribution projects and expansion of the
downstream business.

To kick off the natural gas price reform with the aim to narrow the
gap between local and imported natural gas prices, and thereby
increase gas supply, upstream natural gas wellhead price increase
of RMBO0.23/m® was announced by the National Development and
Reform Commission with effect from 1st June, 2010. By end 2010,
the Group has passed on the price increase for 90% of its gas
sales volume. The price increase in certain cities were higher than
the RMBO0.23/m?, resulting in overall dollar margin expansion of
RMBO0.090/m3. The overall impact of the price reform is positive for
the Group as well as the entire downstream industry because more
natural gas is now available to meet hitherto unsatisfied demand.



o STRRMEDMN THEL A & Uk BB BB R |
DHERAFINA43.18% A1 - 5% 58 H|
MEKERSBEBMNRRKRDER
RAINFERISBRRKRGD - RZT—ZF
TAUBEEAERE - SRIENEE
MR R X198 R A R A13.69% K
B RHAR AR R &0 4 o

o ETT230EBMMBRHEE BEE
10.75%8 705 B EC & A 69 UL T (B K Al
F A% 5 B8 TR T EHTE5.2% &
4.22% o 1D BLE B ERIE2518 5
T AR AAR AR RIERRE HE
— &g -

e RMEMEBWEE=HAEHETHRI
BEH (MARFEELNSEILHK) R
B R0EHT - WENRENERTR
10.715%8 T (SRRMECEE10.75%8
TR ERMER) #171.8618 %
D 2 AF - RSERK B B - B T
BEMLE BEFTEEMS @ B2
TFEFENRERARE22(ET -

TR EMIEREEE  ASBEFELAAR
bR ZE8% - ARFIEREBAREESE
M REHREREBRINRET4.9%
P%%£68.09% ' EMAEEERTNRZE
EE o

o HETEMMIBRAT REKEBR
REMRAAKBRARD R #45%E =
51% & 11£95%1E =100% ° % 5 & i
SRFZFEBNATIER

—E-TFEAER
Major Events in 2010

o Completion of acquisition of 43.18% equity interest in Zhengzhou
Gas Company Limited from Zhengzhou SASAC and triggered
off mandatory conditional cash offer for all remaining shares of
Zhengzhou Gas Company Limited. Eventually received acceptance
from domestic and H share shareholders representing 13.69%
of the share capital of Zhengzhou Gas Company Limited upon
subsequent closure of the offer in October 2010.

. Share placement of 230 million shares was launched at HK$10.75,
representing discounts of 5.2% and 4.22% to the closing price
before placement and the average closing price for the previous
five trading days respectively. A total of sum HK$2.5 billion
was raised to provide further funding for the Company’s rapid
expansion.

. Third batch of 9 city gas projects with annual gas sales volume of
some 500 million m® was acquired from CRH at a consideration of
HK$2 billion. This was satisfied by issuing some 186 million new
shares, at HK$10.715 per share (same price as share placement of
HK$10.75 less related expenses). The closing price of the shares
has increased on completion date and the consideration became
HK$2.2 billion based on fair value for accounting purpose.

Following the above two exercises, the net debt to equity gearing of the
Group was reduced to 8% providing further room for future leverage and
the shareholding of CRH in CR Gas was reduced from 74.9% to 68.09%,
thereby improving the trading volume liquidity of CR Gas.

o Increased equity stakes from 45% to 51% and 95% to 100% for
Zhenjiang China Resources Gas Co., Ltd* (GETIFEBHRRAERERQ
7)) and Hengshui China Resources Gas Co., Ltd* (#/KZEEKE
BBRAF]) respectively. These measures will increase the earning
contributions from these projects.

* Names translated for reference purpose only
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The Company, as the
city gas distribution
flagship of China
Resources Group,
has become one of
the leading city gas
distributors in the
PRC.

PRGERZERE  METE MM
MR BT HRREEREROFR B
S T R R 5 U5 L 1 AR TR B R /Y 1K
R8P BT RS T e AR
ERAMBREMNERERNBAZEMFA - X
AREEAERRTF REXKNRHEE
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BEEE24% - FRBFERA [E+_FER
FEE S B -AEBRARE
AREm—(5%28.3% °
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The continued economic growth and the rapid industrialisation and
urbanisation in China has spiked the demand for energy in China. In
order to reduce reliance on polluting energy sources such as coal
and crude oil, the PRC government has, in recent years, taken various
measures to promote the development and utilisation of less polluting
energy sources. Natural gas is considered a cleaner and superior
substitute for conventional energy sources such as coal and crude
oil. The PRC government has therefore been very supportive of the
development of the natural gas industry, especially after the commitment
made during 2010 Copenhagen conference to reduce per capita GDP
carbon emission.

The percentage of energy consumption from natural gas in the PRC is
very low compared to international levels. According to BP Statistical
Review of World Energy 2010, for 2009, natural gas only accounted
for less than 4% of China’s total primary energy consumption, which is
far lower than the international average of 24%. The PRC government
intend to double natural gas utilisation rate to 8.3% within the “Twelfth
Five Year Plan” by 2015.
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To increase natural gas supply, the “West to East Gas Transmission”
pipelines were constructed with the support of the PRC government to
bring natural gas from the Xinjiang Autonomous Region to the coastal
regions of the PRC. Construction of the second and third phases of
the “West to East Gas Transmission” pipelines from Central Asia, the
“Sichuan to East” pipelines from the gas-rich Sichuan Province to
coastal regions and the “Myanmar to Yunnan” gas pipeline as well
as construction of Liquefied Natural Gas terminals in coastal cities
of the PRC are actively in progress. Once completed these upstream
infrastructure projects will more than double the supply of natural gas in
China in the next few years. Moreover, CR Gas is assured of adequate
gas supply by leveraging on the strategic gas supply arrangements
made between China Resources (Holdings) Limited, China National
Petroleum Corporation and China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation.

The above factors augur well for the natural gas industry in China and
offer significant opportunity for future growth of the Group.
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Rapid Growth of Natural Gas Strong Commitment to Cleaner Energy
115 48 BE TR B L 1
As of Total Energy Consumption
100% [ ==~~~ FEFES- T e@ss o
g 37% " 8.3%
90% == oo 86% T T
0
0.7% 17.4%
80% [~~~ - 64% 1.0%
7.6%
2.6%
70% -~ ke
70.6%
Gl i | | m 63.1%
0% .
2009 +=F3
Twelfth Five Year Plan
[ 11 RIAEJEE Natural Gas Consumption I M AR Gas I A7 Oil I 1 #%8¢ Nuclear
|1 RARFAE Natural Gas Production |1 1JKF Hydro 11 HAD Other I 71 #% Coal
ERRR BPHEREERGE (Z2—TFXA) BRERR /ERERE BERRR BRBNE - BPHR ARG (T —FFSA)
Source BP Statistical Review of World Energy June 2010, NEA/NDRC Source NDRC, BP Statistical Review of World Energy June 2010
RANRIE Bl #2535 L RIE

Low Penetration of Natural Gas
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Name of Major Pipeline Completed

B —#&Shann-Jing |

B E 2Se-Ning-Lan

5% — HE (BRE) Zhongxian-Wuhan (Zhong-Wu)
PR R 8 — % West-to-East (W2E)

B3 = #&Shann-Jing Il

KE —15f8 (EM#R) Daging-Harbin

TR R 8 — 13 NEWest-to-East (W2E) — expansion
K ERE R Yong-Tang-Qin

JI| & # #Sichuan-to-East China

PR R — 8 West-to-East |1 (W2E I1)

HAk — ER Yulin-Jinan
NEME R _4%Se-Ning-Lan Il

R =4 (F—H) Shann-Jing IIl (Phase I)

FRAEN
BRi% it & TR B Annual Capacity
Service Region Completion Date (+1&3L % KBCM)
BRI % 4t ;X Shaanxi to Beijing 1997 3.3
& /2= H&Qinghai to Gansu 2001 2.0
E 243t Chongqing to Hubei 2004 3.0
¥ % L/ Xinjiang to Shanghai 2004 12.0
BEFE 2 4t Shaanxi to Beijing 2005 17.0
KEZK [ EDaging to Harbin 2007 5.0
FRRE — #ERAMEZE LEXinjiang to Shanghai 2007 5.0
K& 2% £5Yongging to Qinhuangdao 2009 9.0
79)I|Z L8 Sichuan to Shanghai 2010 12.0
¥ 2 E )l Xinjiang to Guangzhou 2010 30.0
WS ZEEInner Mongolia — Jinan 2010 3.0
%/8% H#&Qinghai to Gansu 2010 4.9
BR#E 2 4t ;R Shaanxi to Beijing 2010 7.0

# £ EPlanned/Under Construction

%25 - &5 (B2 XA REIE) Qinhuangdao to Shenyang
AR ARE EBurma to China

BRE=& ($£= - =) Shann-Jing Il (Phase Il and IIl)
BRERBAARIE

Reverse Line for Zhongxian-Wuhan (Zhong-Wu)

BAERRRIEW

LNG Terminals

AM5Dapeng

& %I (£8) Fujian, Yangshangang (Shanghai)
A& jT#Dalian, Jiangsu

Eigd s 2R WERRE - 55 HIE RN B5
&3 - O8mE XA HERER - RE £0
Caofeidian, Ningbo, Gaolanggang, Qingdao,
Tuieshangang, Wenzhou, Jieyang, Zhenrong, Hainan,
Maoming, Yancheng, Qinhuangdao, Tianjian, Yingkou

EEZZEETLiaoning

Z® » &)lYunnan, Guizhou
B &3t F Shaanxi to Beijing
5 £#1tChongging to Hubei

EE

Status

1% EOperational
# E Operational
2% Construction

& $£ 43 EITotal Proposed

2011E 9.0
2013E 12.0
2014E 8.0
2015E 7.5

R

BRER Nominal Capacity
Startup Date (B BH/Fmmtpa)
2006 3.7

2009 5.6

2011 6.5

425

BERER

Source

BHZ - FAEEY - Wood Mackenzie
NDRC, PetroChina, Wood Mackenzie
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During 2008, the Company acquired a portfolio of city gas distribution
projects from CRH. The acquisition allows the Company to enter into the
fast growing city gas distribution business in China.

The acquisition provided the Group with a sound foundation to tap into
the burgeoning city gas distribution business in the PRC by capturing
the rapid increase in demand for natural gas in China and leveraging
China Resources Group’s strong presence and brand name in China.

The 2008 CR Gas acquisition provides the Group with a solid platform
to further expand and establish itself as one of the leaders in the city
gas distribution business in the PRC. The 7 projects acquired by the
Group in 2008 and the additional 20 projects acquired in 2009 are
mainly located in regions where there are rich natural gas reserves and
the economically more developed Eastern Board as well as densely
populated provincial capitals and emerging cities of China. The Group
also focuses on developing gas distribution projects in areas where
there are existing or potential piped natural gas supply.

During 2010, the Company continues to grow rapidly with acquisition of
additional 9 city gas projects from CRH and 12 other city gas projects
directly from the market. The Company also announced a proposed
acquisition of a major city gas project in Tianjin. As at 31st December,
2010, excluding the on-going acquisition of Tianjin city gas project, the
Company operates a total of 48 city gas projects (including 6 provincial
capitals and 1 direct administrative municipality) in 15 provinces in China
and has become one of the leading city gas distributors in the PRC.

The PRC city gas distribution business continues to provide the Group
with handsome profit and cash flow contributions. The Group recorded
profit attributable to the Company’s equity holders of HK$734 million
for the year ended 31st December, 2010, an increase of 74% over
corresponding year. The operating profit from city gas distribution
business surged by 98% to HK$1,340 million and its net operating cash
inflow increased 59% to HK$1,502 million.
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Chairman’s Statement

The Company is committed to enhancing its standard corporate
governance by bench marking with good corporate governance
practices and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook based
on the Code on Corporate Governance Practices issued by the Stock
Exchange. The Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 48 to
54 of this annual report.

On 26th November, 2001, the Company has terminated the share option
scheme of the Company adopted on 15th October, 1994 and adopted
a new share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) as a result
of changes in Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange in relation to share option scheme. On
5th March, 2008, the Company terminated the Share Option Scheme of
the Company adopted on 26th November, 2001.

A summary showing the Share Option Scheme and its movements
during the year are detailed in the Directors’ Report and in Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme (the “Incentive
Award Scheme”) on 1st December, 2008 and amended on 16th March,
2010, for the purpose of recognizing and motivating the contribution of
employees and providing incentives to existing employees. Details of the
Incentive Award Scheme are set out in the Directors’ Report.

As at 31st December, 2010, the Group employs approximately 13,039
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group values human
resources and recognizes the importance of attracting and retaining
quality staff for its continual success. The Group remunerates its
employees based on their performance, work experience and the
prevailing market wage level. Further, bonuses are granted to employees
and incentive awards are made to employees based on individual
performance. The Group believes this will assist the Group to attract
and retain quality staff and at the same time encourage the employees
to give their best performance.

Annual Report 2010 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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The continued economic growth and the rapid industrialisation and
urbanisation of China has spiked the demand for energy in the PRC. The
PRC government has been very supportive of the development of the
natural gas industry and has promulgated various policies and guidelines
to encourage and rationalize the usage of natural gas. Construction of
the second phase of the “West to East Gas Transmission” pipelines
and the “Sichuan to East” pipelines from the gas-rich Central Asia and
Sichuan Province to coastal regions of the PRC as well as construction
of LNG terminals in coastal cities are actively in progress. The PRC
government will place significant emphasis on the rapid development of
natural gas industry under the 12th Five Year Plan to achieve its carbon
emission commitment made during the 2010 Copenhagen Conference.
All these will greatly boost the availability of natural gas in China and
will continue to offer significant opportunity for future growth in the
downstream gas industry in China. The Company will ride on these
favourable industry fundamentals and its experienced management
team with strong execution record to scale new heights via organic and
acquisition growths.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group’s
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their duties
and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

MA GUOAN
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16th March, 2011
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The management team
strives to continue
the expansion of the
Company, via both
organic and acquisition
growths.

During the year, a strategic collaboration agreement was entered
between the Company’s controlling shareholder, China Resources
(Holding) Limited (“CRH”) and China National Petroleum Corporation
(*CNPC”). CNPC agrees to prioritise gas supply to China Resources city
gas projects; welcomes participation of China Resources in mid-stream
and up-stream gas projects; and will cooperate with China Resources for
the expansion of future downstream city gas projects. The collaboration
further solidifies the foundation for the continue growth and expansion
of the Company'’s city gas distribution business in China.
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The Group took concrete measures to deepen the annual 2 billion m?
supply arrangement entered between CRH and Sinopec previously. Gas
supply coordination and enhancement arrangements with Sinopec were
carried out in city gas projects in Wuhan, Qianjiang and Jindezhen.
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The Company continues to grow rapidly with new acquisitions from the
market and projects injected from CRH. As at 31st December, 2010
CR Gas portfolio includes 48 city gas projects and its footprint covers
15 Chinese provinces (Sichuan, Jiangsu, Hubei, Shandong, Shanxi,
Hebei, Jiangxi, Yunnan, Anhui, Zhejiang, Henan, Fujian, Liaoning,
Guangdong and Inner Mongolia) and includes 6 provincial capitals
(Chengdu, Wuhan, Kunming, Jinan, Nanjing, Zhengzhou) and one direct
administrative municipality (Chongqging).

The Group’s ability in exerting its external expansion strategy is
evidenced by the acquisitions proposed or completed for the following
major projects during the year:

1. Entered in to a co-operation agreement with Tianjin Gas Group
Company Limited* (REMHRER AR A R]) with proposal to set
up a joint venture with a registered capital of RMB4 billion to RMB5
billion for the supply and provision of piped gas in Tianjin city. CR
Gas will hold 49% equity interests in the joint venture. Tianjin is
one of the four direct administrative municipalities in China with an
annual piped gas sale of some 1.2 billion m®. The proposed joint
venture offers the Company access to the vast and fast growing
city gas business in Tianjin and its surrounding areas.
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Report from the Managing Director

Completed the acquisition of 25% interest in Chongging Gas Group
Corp Ltd*. (“Chongging Gas”) for a consideration of RMB1.16
billion. Chongging Gas is one of the largest city gas operators in
China with an annual gas sales volume of 1.8 billion m® and has
more than 2.6 million connected customers. Chonggqing is the
largest among the 4 Chinese direct administrative municipalities
with a total population of some 30 million of which some 11
million are currently under Chongqing Gas’s coverage. The large
population together with its situation in gas rich Sichuan Province
offer tremendous potential for future growth and profitability.

* Name translated for reference only

Completed the acquisition of 43.18% interest in Zhengzhou Gas
Company Limited (“Zhengzhou Gas”), a joint stock controlled
company incorporated in the PRC whose shares are listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The acquisition triggered off
a mandatory conditional cash offer for all remaining shares of
Zhengzhou Gas and eventually total acceptances representing
13.69% of Zhengzhou Gas share capital were received upon the
subsequent closure of the offer in October 2010. Zhengzhou Gas is
one of the most profitable single city gas operations in China with
annual gas sales volume of some 500 million mé. Zhengzhou is the
capital of Henan Province which is located in the Central Region
of China and ranks 5th in China in term of provincial GDP. It is an
excellent platform for the Group to tap into the vast potential of the
Central Region and offers a lot of room for further growth in the
near future.
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Entered into a joint venture agreement with Nanjing City
Jiangning District Gas (Group) Company* (BRI ERMKR (&=
E) A7) with 49% equity interest in Nanjing Jiangning China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd* (AR IEEHRABR R F) for a
cash consideration of RMB600 million. The joint venture allows
the Company to tap into the rapidly growing industrial area of
Nanjing city.

* Name translated for reference purpose only

Third batch of 9 city gas projects with annual gas sales volume of
some 483 million m® was acquired from CRH. The consideration of
HK$2 billion was satisfied by issuing some 186 million new shares
at HK$10.715 per share (same price as the September 2010 share
placement net of related expenses). The closing price of the shares
has increased on completion date and the consideration became
HK$2.2 billion based on fair value for accounting purpose.

Increased the equity interest in Zhenjiang China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd (SETEBMEIBRAA]) from 45% to 51%. Similarly that
for Hengsui China Resources Gas Co., Ltd (B/KkEBMRER A
7)) was increased from 95% to 100%. The Group will continue
the strategy of raising equity stakes in existing city gas projects to
further enhance earning contribution.
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RZZE—ZF=F  EHRRBEAANBELR In March 2010 CR Gas was included as a constituent stock of Hang
BIREMKMNIR - ZIERABBRMHESR Seng Composite Index which provides a broad standard indicator of
RMEZIEEREZ - the performance of the Hong Kong stock market.

FRN - NAKEERTIES S B L BEMH361H During the year a total of 36 research analyst reports on the Company
BRARRARMNDMENAERS - HE=ZT— were issued by 9 major capital market financial institutions. As at the end
TEFR ARARRNZZTTNGFELTR of 2010, the valuation of the Company share in term of 2009 Historical
B Ram AL E G ESD B A361E R156E - & Price To Earning and Price To Book ratios were 36 times and 15 times
AR TR R R 1TE266 X7 - A respectively, higher than average comparable city gas “peers” of 26
KB EIREK A IRE FH1 7/ &3.515 - times and 7 times as well as Hang Seng Index Constituent Stocks’

average of 17 times and 3.5 times.

RABRZE—TFNAKEEE10.75%8 A share placement of 230 million shares was launched in September
TLHETT2.3ERMRMOEE - ZEEED A 2010 at HK$10.75, representing discounts of 5.2% and 4.22% to the
RESANKRMERITAMERZS B HFHIK closing price before placement and the average closing price for the
MBI E5.2%%4.22% - B/ EITER previous five trading days respectively. The tight discounts reflected
BT IR EEEAREERRERROED - B’ investors’ confidence in the Group’s future performance. A total of some
Al LEEFIEBEB T BARALRE HK$2.5 billion was raised to provide further funding for the Group’s rapid
ERFERIEHE—TES - RZE—ZF expansion. The market capitalisation value of the Company increased
F - RARITHELIN T 33% ° by 33% during 2010.

RARR B —ZFERFBIN=HEIBRIT Additional 3 bilateral bank facilities agreements were entered into
EE W - £53UE33.8EHE T - UAKEE during 2010 raising HK$3.38 billion to fund the acquisition of new
MMTRRERRMES - ZEEFHBERA city gas projects. The loans were of 3 to 5 years tenure with very cost
3E5F  MEXBENARE &R BB effective all-in interest rates of up to HIBOR plus 1.05%. During 2010 a
RITEITIREN1.05% - RZFT—FF + K total of HK$5.88 billion was raised from the capital market and banking
DNRIHNEARTIGRIRITREEE X $58.8 sources.

e -
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Report from the Managing Director

FEMRBRBEBEEESE NEW PRODUCTS AND SERVICE COVERAGE

BRAZUDAREEEL  AEEAB Leveraging on its core gas sales business, the Group launched its

EHRREARZENAEREEE RS own brand PERCEN (“A&”) household gas equipment throughout its

[PERCENI([BE]) MKXAMRAEZME - B nationwide footprint. In addition to increase revenue stream contribution,

EIBARERVSN - ERBEEALE this will ensure quality products are used by our residential customers

FH@EEEE CEmE— P REAERNZS and thereby further improves the safety records of the Group’s
EERER - operation.

ER  AEAERZOBIEETHORREE Gas pipeline design and construction services in core regional cities in
MEt RESREEEFRRELP o HEE the Eastern, South-western and Central China are being upgraded and
ReZSPORENE S Eiﬁkﬂ’j&ﬁﬁf&@ﬁﬁ rationalised. This will enhance the technical and construction capabilities

MR ET RS T B REER of these centres to service their respective regions thereby create
F& 7 E A&7 E N E I IR = AN g o synergy and improve cost efficiencies in the design and construction

of gas pipelines and related services.

" m
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Report from the Managing Director

The Group began systematic review of the organisational and human
resources structures as well as business and management processes
of its various city gas projects. This ongoing process is expected to
continuously enhance the operational efficiency of various city gas
projects.

On the operational level, concrete measures have been taken in supply
chain, customer service and safety management processes. Supply chain
management was streamlined with rigorous tender system covering 80%
of construction projects and 78% of purchases. The number of suppliers
has also been reduced from 350 to 56 to reduce procurement costs.
Professional third party customer services survey by Gallup Consulting
continues to show improvement with overall satisfactory rate of 83%.
Safety related audits were carried out on 621 projects.
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On the financial and tax management areas, the Group has implemented
centralisation of cash management to improve treasury operation and
reduce costs of working capital. Various taxation rationalisation and
reduction measures were taken to reduce tax exposure and speed of
tax setoffs and refunds.

Financial and operational audits were carried out systematically covering
all city gas projects by phases. Significant improvement and corrective
actions were made by business units on such audit findings.

With the objective of efficiency enhanced in view of the significant
increase in operation size of the Group in recent years, information
technology systems covering centralised cash management, financial
reporting, centralised procurement and customer service are being
rolled out across various levels of the Group’s operation.
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ASPIRES TO BECOME CHINA’S LEADING CITY
GAS DISTRIBUTION COMPANY

Subsequent to the acquisition of initial 7 city gas projects in 2008, the
Company continues with its expansion plan and acquired 41 city gas
projects in 2009 and 2010, including those in provincial capitals such as
Wuhan, Kunming, Jinan, Chongqging and Zhengzhou. These provincial
capital projects hold great potential for the rapid development of city gas
business with their continuing urbanisation and industrialisation.

The ongoing organic expansion of existing city gas distribution business
and the external acquisition of new city gas businesses will continue to
deliver stable cash flow as well as excellent growth opportunity for the
enhancement of the Company’s shareholders’ value in the foreseeable
future.

The Group intends to continue to expand rapidly through organic and
external growths and aspires to become the PRC leading gas distribution
company in the foreseeable future.
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Vision

Mission

EmMmEXK#HSE Product and service portfolio

Strategic objectives

ZU#F 1 Core competitiveness

To become China’s leading gas distribution
company

To supply safe and clean gas with
professional, efficient, and cordial services.
Committed to improve the environment
quality and enhance the quality of living.
To maximize the value of customers,
shareholders and employees in pursuing
excellence.

While focusing on the sales of piped
gas, the construction and connection of
city pipelines, also proactively develop
the sales, design and installation of gas
equipment and other value-added services
at the same time. Obtaining gas resource
by developing upstream and midstream
businesses. Explore the feasibility of
production of gas equipment, gas meters
and gas pipes to enhance the value chains
in city gas distribution business.

Strive to be the top player in terms of
comprehensive operation strength among
the listed gas companies in Hong Kong,
reaching a goal of 20 million residential
users and total sales volume of 20 billion m?®
by the end of 2015.

Cohesion: an energetic and talent-oriented
organisation with vibrant atmosphere
Driving force: an uniform and efficient
management model

Resource access strength:
various resources to
alliances

integrating
forge strategic

Value-added service capability: perceptive
to customer demands in exploiting market
potential
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APPRECIATION

| would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management team
and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication. We
would continue to work hand in hand to increase the efficiency and
scale of the business to enhance the values of the shareholders and
employees.

WANG CHUANDONG
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 16th March, 2011
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

In 2010 the Group acquired 9 city gas projects from its controlling
shareholders in addition to its acquisition of other 12 new PRC city
gas distribution projects. The results of these 9 city gas projects are
accounted for in the Group’s consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting under
Common Control Combination” adopted by the Group. Accordingly,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows of the Group for the two years ended 31st December, 2009 and
2010 include the results of operations, changes in equity and cash
flows of the companies now comprising the Group as if the current
group structure had been in existence throughout the two years ended
31st December, 2009 and 2010, or since their respective dates of
incorporation or establishment where this is a shorter period except for
the subsidiaries acquired from independent third parties and the jointly
controlled entities acquired, which are included in the consolidated
financial statements since their respective dates of acquisitions. To
enable the management and discussion analysis be more meaningful
in presenting the changes from 2009 to 2010, only the financial and
operational numbers before restatement for 2009 are discussed in the
analysis below.

The Group’s results for 2010 were driven by both acquisition and organic
growths. The Group’s turnover for the year amounted to HK$8,327 million
(2009: HK$3,747 million).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$970 million (2009: HK$518 million)
and profit attributable to shareholders of HK$734 million (2009: HK$422
million).
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The net cash inflow from operations during the year amounted to
HK$1,502 million (2009: HK$942 million).

The Group spent HK$4.3 billion in capital expenditure during the year
(2009: HK$4.6 billion) to fund its acquisition expansion and HK$1.38
billion in upgrading of its continuing city gas distribution business
(2009: HK$684 million). The above required funding was financed by the
operating cash flow, bank borrowings and cash on hand of the Group.
As at year end the Group’s free cash on hand was HK$6.5 billion (2009:
HK$2.2 billion). Among the cash balance 27% was denominated in Hong
Kong dollar and the remaining in Renminbi and US dollar.

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to
finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of the year, the
Group has total borrowings of HK$5,626 million. 9% of the borrowings
are considered as current liabilities and repayable within one year,
the remaining are repayable in five years. Renminbi and HK dollar
denominated borrowings accounted for 11% and 89% of the total
borrowings respectively. Over 90% of the borrowings are interest bearing
bank loans on floating rate terms.

The cash balance of the Group was HK$6,521 million as at the year
end. The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the year, calculated as
total borrowings over total assets, was 29% (2009: 32%). The EBITDA to
interest cover ratio was at the healthy level of 21.7 times. On the whole,
the financial position and liquidity of the Group is healthy and stable.

The Group has been granted a total of HK$5.1 billion term loan facilities
with maturities from 2011 to 2015. The facilities are unsecured and with
floating interest rates. As at the end of the year, 97% of the facilities
has been drawn down. The facilities together with healthy operating
cash flow will provide sufficient funding for foreseeable expansion and
working capital requirement.

Other than the above mentioned committed facilities, the Group has no
other committed borrowing facilities. For day-to-day liquidity management
and maintaining flexibility in funding, the Group has managed to obtain
sufficient uncommitted short-term facilities from banks.
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As at 31st December, 2010, a bank deposit of HK$14.9 million was
pledged as securities for trade payable to a supplier of natural gas.
No property, plant and equipment were pledged to secure bank
borrowing.

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$143 million on machinery and equipment
and HK$1,154 million on construction in progress.

As at 31st December, 2010, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group's treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong
dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in US dollar and Euro.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.

The revenue of city gas distribution operation are derived from
recurring gas sales and one-time gas connection fee which respectively
accounts for 76% and 24% of the 2010 revenue (2009: 75% and 25%
respectively).

The turnover of the city gas distribution operation for the year ended
31st December, 2010 amounted to HK$8,327 million, an increase of
122% over that of 2009. The significant increase was mainly due to the
increase in gas sales volume by 152% from 2,214 million m® to 5,577
million m® and the increase in connection fee income by 112% from
HK$924 million to HK$1,959 million. The increase in gas sales and
connection fee income were in turn driven by the following factors:
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross Margin

The city gas distribution operation registered an overall gross profit
margin of 29.7% for 2010 compared with 31.0% for 2009. The decrease
in gross margin was mainly due to the lower gross margin contribution
from newly acquired high gas sales volume city of Chongging, this
is mitigated to a certain extent by the increase in gross margin of
connection fee to 60.5% (2009:50.6%).

The gross profit margin for connection fee income increased from
50.6% for 2009 to 60.5% for 2010 mainly because of higher proportion
of connection fee income from cities with relative higher connection
fee such as Wuxi, Suzhou, Wuhan and Kunming. The higher gas sales
margins of industrial cities such as Wuxi, Wuhan, Zhenjiang, Zibo
and Xianfang were negated to a certain extent by the lower gas sales
margins of Chongqing, Chengdu and Luzhou where gas sales price
are traditionally lower due to abundance of gas sources in Sichuan
Province.
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The increase in absolute amounts of selling and distribution and general
and administration expenses in 2010 were the result of the numerous
projects acquired in 2010. However as a percentage of revenue, these
expenses are quite stable and comparable to those of 2009. The
decrease in gross profit margin of 1.3%, mainly accounts for decrease
in Earning Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) of 1.5%. Net income after tax
of 8.8% is less than the 11.3% of 2009, this is mainly due to the increase
in interest expenses due to more bank borrowings and increase in
effective tax rate as a result of most city gas projects graduating from
tax incentive period to non-tax incentive period and the standard tax
rate of 25% starts to apply.
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As a % of revenues

The city gas distribution operation continued to generate healthy cash
flow with an operating cash flow of HK$1,502 million and free cash
flow (after operating capital expenditure) of HK$117 million in 2010.
The Group recorded a cash balance of HK$6,521 million at the end of
2010, an increase of HK$4,294 million or 193% over the amount at the
end of 2009. The Group has started to leverage on its strong balance
sheet to raise low cost finance during 2010 and has a total bank loan of
HK$5,626 million outstanding as at 31st December, 2010, with a gross
debt to total asset ratio of 29%. The Group maintains a very healthy
gross debt to EBITDA to interest cover ratio at 31st December, 2010 of
21.7 times and net cash balance of HK$895 million.

Note:

(1)  Free Cash Flow = EBITDA - Operating Capital Expenditures — Increase in
Working Capital
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Strong Operating & Free Cash Flow Generation
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Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still expanding rapidly by acquisition,

the city gas distribution operation registered reasonable return on equity
and return on assets of 13.0% and 7.0% respectively in 2010. The Group
acquired 21 new projects in 2010 including 4 green field projects. The
rates of returns are expected to improve once all these projects start to

generate more returns in 2011 and thereafter.
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Note (1): The higher return on weighted average equity in 2009 was mainly due to the lower shareholders’ equity as a result of the
deduction therefrom merger reserves incurred in each of the asset injection from the parent. The impact was less significant
after the Company did a share placement in September 2010.
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Diversification of Earning Base

Major contributors

Previously, the earlier Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou projects used to
account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume, connection fee and
net profit contribution. As the Group has acquired more new projects
in 2009 and 2010 their contribution percentages have decreased and
taken up by others such as Chongqging, Zhengzhou, Xiamen, Wuhan,
Kunming, Zhenjiang, Zibo and Luzhou. As there will be more acquisitions
over the next few years, the percentage contribution from all projects
are expected to gradually become more evenly distributed in the future.
The broadening of the Group’s earning base will insure the Group from
relying heavily on any single city gas project.
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Mr. Ma Guoan, aged 59, was appointed as Chairman and Executive Director
of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He is also the Chairman of the
Company’s Nomination and Investment Committees. Mr. Ma joined CRH, the
substantial and controlling shareholder of the Company in March 2008 and is
currently a Director of CRH and concurrently Chairman of China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of CRH. Before joining
CRH, he was in charge of General Office of China State Economic and
Trade Commission and once served as the Vice Secretary General of the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the
State Council (SASAC). Mr. Ma holds a Post-graduate Degree majoring in
Economic Management.
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Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 47, was appointed as Executive Director
and Managing Director of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He was
appointed as a Director and the General Manager of China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of CRH with effect from

February 2007. Mr. Wang joined China Resources Petrochems (Group)
Company Limited in 1985 and was previously its Deputy Managing Director.
He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Group. He has over 25
years of corporate management experience in the area of petroleum and
related products trading and distribution and holds a Bachelor’s Degree
in Science majoring in Petroleum Refining from the East China Petroleum
Institute (presently known as the University of Petroleum (East China)).
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Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Ken, aged 53, was appointed as an Executive Director
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 28th May, 2001 with overall
responsibilities for the financial and legal operations. He is a member of
the Company’s Remuneration Committee and also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Group. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and members of the national
accounting bodies of Singapore and Malaysia. He obtained a Master of
Business Administration Degree from the University of Southern Queensland,
Australia. He has more than 20 years of diverse range of experience in
professional accounting practice as well as financial positions in various
industries straddling countries in Southeast Asia, the PRC and Hong
Kong.
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Mr. Du Wenmin, aged 47, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company on 21st March, 2008 and is currently the Chief Human
Resources Officer of CRH. He was the Chief Audit Executive and the General
Manager of the Internal Audit and Supervision Department of CRH. Mr. Du
is also a Non-executive Director of China Resources Enterprise, Limited,
China Resources Land Limited, China Resources Microelectronics Limited,
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and China Resource
Cement Holdings Limited. Shares of the above five immediately mentioned
companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Du
received a Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of
San Francisco, USA and joined CRH in 1985.
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Mr. Wei Bin, aged 41, is the General Manager of Finance Department of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Wei holds a bachelor’s
degree in auditing from Zhongnan University of Economics in PRC and a
master’s degree in finance from Jinan University in PRC, and is a Senior

Accountant and a Senior Auditor in the PRC. He is also a non-practising
member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wei
joined CRH in 2001 and is a Non-Executive Director of China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited, China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited, China Resources Microelectronics Limited and China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, which are main board listed companies in Hong
Kong.
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Mr. Wong Tak Shing, aged 60, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman of the
Company’s Remuneration Committee and member of the Investment
Committee. He was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong
Kong in 1984 and has been in private practice in Hong Kong for over 20
years. From 1984 to 1987, he worked as an assistant solicitor with two
local law firms in Hong Kong before setting up his own practice in 1987.
He was appointed as a China-Appointed Attesting Officer with effect from
18th January, 2003. Mr. Wong holds a Master’'s Degree in Laws from the
Peking University.
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Mr. Luk Chi Cheong, aged 55, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 31st January, 2002. He is the
Chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee. He is a practicing Certified
Public Accountant in Hong Kong and a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, United Kingdom. He has been in accounting practice
since 1995 and prior to that he has over 10 years of diversified experience
in audit, construction and airline industry.
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Ms. YU Jian, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company on 17th March, 2010. She is currently the Chairman
of Shenzhen Water (Group) Co., Ltd and actively involves in various bodies
and associations, including Standing Committee of the 5th Shenzhen
CPPCC; Vice-President of the China Association of Women Entrepreneurs;
Vice-President of the Association of Women Entrepreneurs of Guangdong
Province; Honorary President of the Shenzhen Association of Women
Entrepreneurs; Vice-President of the China Urban Water Association;
President of the Shenzhen Urban Water Association, Vice-President of the
Child Welfare Institute of Shenzhen, and Executive Vice-President of the
Shenzhen General Chamber of Commerce. Prior to joining Shenzhen Water
(Group) Co., Ltd., Ms. YU was the General Manager of Shenzhen Gas
Corporation Limited. Ms. YU graduated from the Harbin University of Civil
Engineering and Architecture and is a Senior Engineer with professorship.
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Mr. Zheng Xifeng, aged 53, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007,
responsible for the internal affairs. Mr. Zheng holds a Bachelor’s Degree
in Law from the School of Law of Xiamen University, a Master of Business
Administration Degree from the University of San Francisco in the United
States, and the qualification as Senior International Business Engineer.
He joined China Resources Holdings Group in August 1985 and has
been with China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since September
2007. He was appointed as a director of China Resources Gas Limited
in September 2008.

Mr. Wang Yan, aged 39, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007,
responsible for the internal auditing operations. Mr. Wang holds a
Bachelor’'s Degree in Economics from the Finance and Accounting
Department, Capital University of Economics and Business, a Master of
Business Administration Degree from the University of South Australia
and is a qualified PRC Certified Accountant. He joined China Resources
Holdings Group in July 1994 and has been working for China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2007. He was appointed as a
director of China Resources Gas Limited in November 2005.

Mr. Huang Weizhong, aged 45, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007,
responsible for the investment and PRC legal affairs as well as Beijing
Representative Office. Mr. Huang holds a Master’'s Degree majoring in
International Finance from the Fudan University and licenses to practice
as a lawyer and an engineer. He joined China Resources Holdings
Group in March 2000 and has been working for China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited since March 2007. He was appointed as a director
of China Resources Gas Limited in November 2005.

Mr. Ge Bin, aged 47, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in January 2010, responsible
for customer relations and Greater Shanghai Area, and concurrently
holds the positions as a director and General Manager of Wuxi China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. Mr. Ge graduated from the Shanghai Institute
of Finance and Commerce Management (currently known as Shanghai
Business School), presently pursuing a Master's Degree majoring in
Gas Engineering and Control System, Nanjing University of Technology,
and holds a senior economist qualification. He joined China Resources
Holdings Group in September 1996 and has been working for China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2007. He was
appointed as a director of China Resources Gas Limited in September
2008.
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Mr. Yan Guogqi, aged 56, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in November 2010, responsible
for Greater Zhengzhou Area and concurrently holds the position as
the Chairman and General Manager of Zhengzhou China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. Mr. Yan is a representative of the 11th Session of the
National People’s Congress of Henan Province, Head of the Urban Gas
Association of Henan Province and a Senior Engineer. He was Deputy
Head of Water Plant, Head of Water Supply Management and Deputy
General Manager of Zhengzhou Municipal Water Company from 1987
to 1997, Deputy General Manager of Zhengzhou Municipal Natural Gas
Corporation from 1997 to 1998, Deputy Chairman and Deputy General
Manager of Zhengzhou Municipal Gas Company Limited from 1998 to
2000, and Deputy Chairman and General Manager of Zhengzhou Gas
Group since 2000. Mr. Yan was appointed as the Chairman of Zhengzhou
Gas Company Limited in 2001. In October 2007, he was appointed as
the Chairman and General Manager of Zhengzhou Gas Group.

Mr. Shi Baofeng, aged 39, was appointed as an Assistant General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in January
2010, responsible for the human resources management and Greater
Guangdong Area. Mr. Shi holds a Master of Business Administration
Degree from the Southwest Jiaotong University and a Senior Engineer
qualification. He joined China Resources Holdings Group in 2006
and China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2007. He was
appointed as a director of China Resources Gas Limited in September
2008.

Mr. Zhu Likun, aged 44, was appointed as an Assistant General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in January 2010,
responsible for the operation, safety and information management. Mr.
Zhu holds a Bachelor’'s Degree majoring in Automation in Petro-chemical
Industry from the Nanjing University of Chemical Technology (currently
known as Nanjing University of Technology), a Master’'s Degree majoring
in International Economics from the Soochow University, and a Senior
Engineer qualification. He joined China Resources Holdings Group in
August 20083.

Annual Report 2010 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

47’)



Corporate Governance
Report

AEFE-BERIAF—AERAUSENEEE
AR RERREH—ELERE - AF
TAEBRRE -

AAFEHRME _TERF - ARERN
BN ETRAM 14N EERTERTAI
(T3 ST RV R ZBITH) ST RHE - BT
BT AR HREIRE  ARBENR-F
EHFT A T=ZHRMACEELRTFM
(TFMmD TEZRIHNNR-_FTZNEF . =
ZRNER_F-TFETUEH - FHAR
B (HPER) E2RE BFETIES
RHMBRETR - BRREETESRR SN
BRAETR - B FH - REMRREZES
BIhEE AR EE - BRHRE R AR ERER
FAR - ARERAN T - EB2% T
BRMBERBIRTE - FA  ARA—HETZ
STRIE T S8 AR E

RAFREY  EFGREBE=2NTE
= MEFANTEER=BBIUIIFNTE
= HPESEAEHEANA LTRBRE
VREERG KR NMNE -  SEFNHES
N BEHNAFHREI2E45H -

RZZE-ZF=A+tH  HBEMBELEE
BYFRTEER TRILTREERBIIE
HITES - FRERENR-_Z—ZTFN\ARX
BEHEIFMITES -

BEUIFPTERERR EMARRNEI 13K
HFEMES  BRREBILNARR - A
REANTRREEBRELAL - BIFRTES
(BREBUIFFNTES) WEHA=F M
REARBNORRMAR - =02 —WEEA
RERBRBERG LWREE EEFENK
SRR (BEME %75 REHM
BEE/HEBNRER (16 ERAFREK
B ITRESSFHLOENE FRBEIE

EHRRERERAT — T THEFH

The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules after it came into effect in January 2005. In line with
the mandatory provisions of the Code, the Company has adopted a
Corporate Governance Handbook (the “Handbook”) on 23rd December,
2005 and subsequently updated in 2008, 2009 and 2010 respectively.
The contents of the Handbook include, among others, directors’ duties,
model code for directors’ transaction in securities, model code for
securities transaction by relevant employees, the functions and terms
of reference of the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination and Investment
Committees, disclosure of information and communication with
shareholders. All the mandatory provisions under the Code have been
adopted and reflected in the Handbook. The Company has throughout
the year complied with the mandatory provisions of the Code.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of three Executive
Directors, two Non-executive Directors and three Independent Non-
executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. Luk Chi Cheong has
the appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. The names and biographical details
of each Director are disclosed on pages 42 to 45 of this annual report.

On 17th March, 2010, Dr. Yang Chonghe, Howard resigned as
Independent Non-executive Director and Ms Yu Jian was appointed
as Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Li Fuzuo resigned as Non-
executive Director on 6th August, 2010.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he
is independent of the Company and the Company also considers that
they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive Director,
including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three
years subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant
to the Bye-laws of the Company. The relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship), if any, among
members of the Board are disclosed in this annual report. There is no
such relationship between the Chairman and the Managing Director.
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The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and retirement of
Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other major
operational and financial matters. Day-to-day operations of the Group
are the responsibility of the Company’s management.

The Board has held regular meetings during 2010. Details of individual
attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

“g-%F -¥-%F -¥-¥F -T-¥F -%-%F

=R =Bt+~H HA+=HA NA=t=H +AtH t+A=tAhAH
16th March, 13th May, 23rd August, 7th October, 29th October,
Date 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010
£ BERAE TEREE BEZEE ERREE IRREE
Mr. Wang Mr. Ong Mr. Ong
Chairman Mr. Ma Guoan  Chuandong Mr. Ma Guoan Thiam Kin Thiam Kin
HiTES Executive Directors
HEZEE Mr. Ma Guoan V J - -
FEREE Mr. Wang Chuandong V J J - _
ERREE Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Ken N v J J J
FHITES Non-executive Directors
ZRELE (RZZ—FF M Li Fuzuo (resigned on 6th Aug 2010) N N = - -
NRNBEHE)
HXREE Mr. Du Wenmin J - - - _
b3 Mr. Wei Bin N - - J -
BUFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
BEETE Mr. Wong Tak Shing J d J J J
BEEEEE Mr. Luk Chi Cheong V J J J J
TRzt (R-F—2F  Ms YuJian - d J J J
=A+tBEZF) (appointed on 17th March, 2010)
BEMEL (R=2—Z% Dr. Yang Chonghe, Howard J - - _ _
=R+tAEfE) (resigned on 17th March, 2010)

st (RERANTXER)

o=
- = BR

Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below):

Y = attended

- = didn't attend
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As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is Mr.
Ma Guoan while Mr. Wang Chuandong is the Managing Director. The
Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate, together
with the Board, the business strategies and long-term objectives of the
Company whilst the Managing Director carries out the decisions made by
the Board and is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day management.

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise,
there are four Committees namely, the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination
and Investment Committees under the Board, with each performing
different functions.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises
of two Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Luk Chi
Cheong (Chairman) and Mr. Wong Tak Shing and one Non-executive
Director namely Mr. Du Wenmin. The Committee’s role is to provide an
independent and objective review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management as well as internal
audit function of the Group. Its functions broadly fall into the following
three main areas:

. responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditor, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of external
auditor and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of
external auditor;

o review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and half-
year reports and accounts; and

° review the Company’s financial controls, internal controls and risk
management systems.

During the year 2010 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements and results
announcement for 2009, and those for the half-yearly results and yearly
results for 2010. These include the review of the Group’s financial and
accounting policies and practices; the review of the ongoing connected
transactions of the Company conducted in 2009 and 2010; and the
review of the internal audit reports prepared by the Company’s Internal
Audit Division.
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The Audit Committee has held two meetings during 2010. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

ES 54-
Chairman Members
EEELE BEEBEE HXREE
Mr. Luk Mr. Wong Mr. Du
Chi Cheong Tak Shing Wenmin
v Vv =
Vv v )

The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Executive
Directors and senior management, including but not limited to bonus
plan, Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan,
as well as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Executive
Director and senior management. As at the date of this annual report, the
Remuneration Committee comprises of two Independent Non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing (Chairman) and Mr. Luk Chi
Cheong and one Executive Director namely Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Ken.

During 2010, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the existing
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee and the Incentive
Award Scheme adopted by the Company on 1st December, 2008 and
amended on 16th March, 2010. It has also reviewed and approved
cash awards under the Company’s Incentive Award Scheme as well
as reviewed and recommended to the Board the increase in directors’
fee.

The Remuneration Committee has held two meetings during 2010.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out in the table

below:
EB/BXAL BEEE KL ERBEE
Mr. Wong Mr. Luk Mr. Ong
B Date Tak Shing Chi Cheong Thiam Kin, Ken
—E2-TF=A+-H 12th March, 2010 v J] y
—T—ZTF+A=+HHB 25th October, 2010 Vv J J
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The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure and composition of the Board, and to make recommendation to
the Board on the selection of individual nominated for directorships. As
at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises
of one Executive Director and two Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Ma Guoan (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Luk
Chi Cheong.

The selection criteria for Directors are the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. Any committee
member may propose suitable candidates for directorship for discussion
and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which the Board
will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination. Directors thus
selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company in the
next general meeting or next annual general meeting, as appropriate,
according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

During 2010, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the existing terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee as well as the composition of
the Board and its committees.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting and made one written
resolution by all its members during 2010 to recommend to the Board
the resignation of 2 directors and appointment of one Independent Non-
executive Director. Details of individual attendance of the meeting of its
members are set out in the table below:

ES: RE&
Chairman Members
BRAEL
(R=2—ZF
=R+t HEE) BEEBEE EEELE
Dr. Yang
Chonghe,
Howard
(Resigned on
17th March, Mr. Wong Mr. Luk
2010) Tak Shing Chi Cheong
Vv v V
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The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$3 million
to US$ 8 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from time
to time. As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee
comprises of one Executive Director and one Independent Non-executive
Director namely Mr. Ma Guoan (alternate Mr. Ong Thiam Kin) and Mr.
Wong Tak Shing (alternate Mr. Luk Chi Cheong).

During 2010, the Investment Committee has held 7 meetings to review
and approve 11 investment proposals. Details of individual attendance
of its members are set out in the table below:

EJ:3 ME
Chairman Members

BEZEE BEEBEE EEERE
(&E (& (R=Z2—ZF
ERREE) BEEERE) NANBEE)

Mr. Wong

Mr. Ma Guoan Tak Shing
(alternate (alternate Mr. Li Fuzuo
Mr. Ong Mr. Luk (Resigned on
Thiam Kin) Chi Cheong) 6th August, 2010)
Vv v =
v (&) Vv =
V(B E) ) =
v (B1E) V =
v &) Vv -
v (B&E) Vv -
v (B&1E) Vv -

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective

internal control system.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts annual review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control covering
all material controls, including financial control, operational control,
compliance control and risk management system.

Annual Report 2010 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit Committee to review the
effectiveness of such internal control system in operation. The Division
regularly carries out internal audit and other related audit reviews and
reports its findings and suggestions for improvement on better internal
controls to the Audit Committee for their consideration. During the
year, the Internal Audit Division has also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit Committee for consideration and would form the basis for further
improvement in the future.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code.

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 77 to 78.

The Group re-appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as independent
auditor during the year. The remuneration paid during the year to the
Company’s Auditor includes:

—E-2F

2010

FBT

Fri i AR % Services rendered HK$’000

B RS  —TTN\F Audit services for 2008 3,079
B R - BERKRESD - B Non-audit services for: ORSO, taxation and

M-ETNFHRHEEER 2009 interim results review 400

 CEENETEEH : Accountants’ Report 2009
RRE asset injection 2,240
CEl Total 5,719

EHRRERERAT — T THEFH
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present the annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31st December,
2010.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities are set out in Note
45 and Note 47 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2010 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
pages 79 to 80.

A total of 416,654,223 new shares were issued during the year as a
source of fund for acquisition of more downstream city gas distribution
business and as consideration for the purchase of 9 city gas projects
from CRH. Details of the movements in share capital and share options
of the Company during the year are set out in Note 33 and Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 83 to 86 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at
31st December, 2010, amounted to HK$28,493,000.

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 8 HK cents per share. Together with the interim dividend of
2 HK cents per share paid in October 2010, total distribution for 2010
would thus be 10 HK cents per share (2009: 6.5 HK cents per share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on 13th June, 2011
to shareholders on the register of members of the Company on 30th
May, 2011.

Annual Report 2010 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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The register of members of the Company will be closed from 24th May,
2011 to 30th May, 2011, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for the
proposed final dividend, completed transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited,
at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 23rd May, 2011.

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 dividend into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 1,831,094,933 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the shareholders’ equity of the Group was 5,684,595,000.

On 23rd December, 2009 and 24th December, 2009, China Resources
Gas (China) Investment Limited (“CR Gas Investment”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into master agreements
and a supplemental agreement respectively, with Chongging
Energy Investment Group* (EEMALREZE £ B A A (“Chongging
Energy”) whereby CR Gas Investment agreed to contribute cash of
approximately RMB1,162.8 million to Chongqging Gas Group Corp
Ltd.* (BEBERR (£F) GREEAF
registered capital in return for a 25% equity interest in Chongqging Gas.
The cash consideration of approximately RMB1,162.8 million for the

) (“Chongqging Gas”) to increase its

25% equity interest in the enlarged registered capital of Chongging
Gas was determined after arm’s length negotiation with reference to
(i) the track record and potential development of Chongging Gas in
the city gas distribution business in Chongging; and (ii) the appraised
net asset value of Chongqging Gas of RMB2,877.1 million as at 30th
September, 2009, based on the independent valuation performed
by an independent valuer in the PRC. Chongqging Gas is a limited
company incorporated in the PRC wholly-owned by Chongging
Energy and is principally engaged in city gas distribution business in
Chongging, the PRC.

The aforesaid transaction was completed in 2010 upon obtaining all the
necessary approvals from the relevant PRC authorities and Chongging
Gas was converted into a sino-foreign equity joint venture owned
by Chongging Energy and CR Gas Investment as to 75% and 25%
respectively.
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Directors’ Report

On 25th November, 2009, China Resources Gas (China) Investment
Limited (“CR Gas Investment”’), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of Zhengzhou Municipality (“Zhengzhou SASAC”) entered
into various agreements which relate to the formation of a joint venture
(the “Joint Venture”) between CR Gas Investment and Zhengzhou
SASAC, increase in its registered capital, and the acquisitions by the
Joint Venture of 54,041,510 domestic shares (the “Sales Shares”) of
Zhengzhou Gas Company Limited* (B3N ¥ARAZH AR A (“Zhengzhou
Gas”) which represent 43.18% of the total issued share capital of
Zhengzhou Gas and certain assets from Zhengzhou SASAC (the
“Acquisition”) (collectively, the “Cooperation Arrangement”). Zhengzhou
Gas is a joint stock limited company incorporated in the PRC whose H
shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

On 11th January, 2010, Zhengzhou SASAC, CR Gas Investment, the
Joint Venture and Zhengzhou Gas Group Co., Ltd. (ENMREES
[RA7]) (“Zhengzhou GGCL") entered into a supplemental agreement
in which the Joint Venture has confirmed its obligations in respect of
the Acquisition under the various agreements entered into between
Zhengzhou SASAC and CR Gas Investment on 25th November, 2009.
When the initial registered capital of the Joint Venture is fully paid up
and following the increase in its registered capital, the Joint Venture will
be held as to 80% by CR Gas Investment and as to 20% by Zhengzhou
SASAC.

CR Gas Investment would make the offer in compliance with The Hong
Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers (“Takeovers Code”) upon
completion of the acquisition by the Joint Venture of the Sale Shares from
Zhengzhou SASAC. The price of the offer made by CR Gas Investment
to the shareholders of Zhengzhou Gas pursuant to the announcement
dated 25th November, 2009 was RMB8.45 per domestic share of
Zhengzhou Gas and Hong Kong dollar equivalent of HK$9.60 per H
share of Zhengzhou Gas, determined after arm’s length negotiation with
reference to, among others, the net assets value of Zhengzhou Gas, its
future prospects and the staff compensation if Zhengzhou Gas were
changed from a State-owned enterprise to a foreign-owned enterprise
upon completion of the acquisition of the Sale Shares. As disclosed in
the joint announcement of the Company and Zhengzhou Gas dated 11th
December, 2009, in order to extend the same favourable conditions
which would be extended to Zhengzhou SASAC under the potential
cooperation to all other shareholders of Zhengzhou Gas, the Board
of the Company resolved to increase the offer price under the offer
to RMB12.96 per domestic share, of Zhengzhou Gas or equivalent to
HK$14.73 per H share of Zhengzhou Gas based on the exchange rate
quoted on 11th December, 2009.

Annual Report 2010 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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On 27th August, 2010 the conditions to which the formation of the Joint
Venture and the completion of the acquisition of Sale Shares have
been fulfilled, the Joint Venture has completed the acquisition of the
Sale Shares from Zhengzhou SASAC. This led to a change in control
of Zhengzhou Gas under Takeovers Code and, therefore, a mandatory
general offer (“offer”) was made to the shareholders of Zhengzhou
Gas.

On 24th September, 2010, CR Gas Investment and Zhengzhou Gas
jointly announced that the Offer has become unconditional as valid
acceptances have been received in respect of 11,302,490 Domestic
Shares and 4,923,000 H Shares totalling 16,225,490 Zhengzhou Shares,
representing approximately 12.97% of the total issued share capital
and voting rights of Zhengzhou Gas. The Offer would remain open for
acceptance for not less than 14 days after the Unconditional Date.

On 8th October, 2010, upon the close of the Offer, CR Gas Investment
and Zhengzhou Gas jointly announced that valid acceptances have
been received in respect of 12,202,490 Domestic Shares and 4,926,000
H Shares totalling 17,128,490 Zhengzhou Shares, representing
approximately 13.69% of the issue capital and voting rights of Zhengzhou
Gas, This together with the 54,041,510 Sale Shares (representing
approximately 43.18% of the total issued share capital and voting rights
of Zhengzhou Gas) held by the Joint Venture, CR Gas and parties
acting in concert with it are interested in an aggregate of 71,170,000
Zhengzhou Shares representing approximately 56.87% of the total
issued share capital and voting rights of Zhengzhou Gas.

The approvals from relevant authorities in the PRC in respect of
transferring such 12,202,490 Domestic Shares, representing
approximately 9.75% of the issued share capital and voting rights of
Zhengzhou Gas, tendered by the Domestic Shareholders to CR Gas
Investment, being a non-PRC incorporated entity, are still pending as
at 31st December, 2010. Subsequent to the year end date, in order
to expedite the acquisition of Domestic Shares from such accepting
Domestic Shareholders, Shenzhen CR Gas Co., Limited (“Shenzhen
CR Gas”), a PRC incorporated fellow subsidiary and a party acting in
concert with CR Gas Investment, will acquire these Domestic Shares at
the same offer price of RMB12.96 per Domestic Share.
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Directors’ Report

On 13th September, 2010, for a consideration of HK$2 billion the
Company announced the acquisition of a batch of city gas distribution
projects from Powerfaith Enterprises Limited (“Powerfaith”) a wholly-
owned subsidiary of its controlling shareholder, China Resources
(Holdings) Limited (“CRH”). This was the third batch of city gas projects
acquired from CRH since the last two batches in 2008 and 2009
respectively. This batch of projects, with an annual gas sales volume of
483 million m3, included projects in 9 PRC cities namely Xiamen, Ningbo,
Qidong, Gucheng, Tengzhou, Shifang, Kunshan, Jining and Suining. The
attributable combined profit after taxation of these 9 projects from 1st
January to 31st December, 2010 was HK$141 million, which exceeded
the amount of HK$100 million guaranteed by Powerfaith.

The consideration was satisfied by the issue of 186,654,223 shares at
HK$10.715 per share which represents a discount of approximately
5.51% from HK$11.34, being the closing price of the Company’s
shares on 13th September, 2010, the last day on while the Company’s
shares are traded on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and a discount
of approximately 4.53% from HK$11.224, being the average closing
price of the Company’s shares for the last 5 trading days price to and
including 13th September, 2010.The acquisition from CRH constituted a
connected transaction and was approved by independent shareholders
on 25th October, 2010. The closing price of the shares has increased
on completion date and the consideration became HK$2.2 billion based
on fair value for accounting purpose.

On 9th April, 2010, the Company, through China Resources Gas
Limited, its wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a sino-foreign equity
joint venture arrangement with FRT/IEEER (£B) A Fl(translated
as Nanjing City Jiangning District Gas (Group) Company Limited)
pursuant to the joint venture contract and the articles of association
in relation to the establishment of the joint venture company namely
Nanjing Jiangning China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (A 5T ZEBRRE
R~ 7] (“Jiangning CR Gas”), which became a jointly controlled entity
of the Company upon establishment. Jiangning CR Gas is principally
engaged in, among other things, the investment, construction and
operation of the city piped gas facilities as well as the supply and sale
of gas in Jiangning District, Nanjing City of the PRC.

The aggregate cash contribution of RMB600 million was contributed by
China Resources Gas Limited to Jiangning CR Gas for a 49% stake in

Jiangning CR Gas.

* Name translated for reference purposes.
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On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, the
Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis continues to
be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2010 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is set
out on page 220 of this annual report.

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in Note
16 and Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

Details of the movements in the goodwill of the Group during the year
are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31st December, 2010, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for were less than
10% of the Group’s total turnover.

For the year ended 31st December, 2010, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the five largest suppliers accounted for were less than
70% of the Group’s total purchases, out of which 35% was attributable
to the largest supplier.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers
or suppliers.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Mr. Ma Guoan
Mr. Wang Chuandong
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Ken

Mr. Du Wenmin
Mr. Wei Bin

Mr. Li Fuzuo (resigned on 6th August, 2010)

Mr. Wong Tak Shing

Mr. Luk Chi Cheong

Ms. Yu Jian

Dr. Yang Chonghe, Howard

(appointed on 17th March, 2010)
(resigned on 17th March, 2010)

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each Independent
Non-executive Director with each confirming his independence pursuant
to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company still considers such
Directors are independent of the Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 110(A) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Ma Guoan,
Mr. Wang Chuandong and Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Ken shall retire from
office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and shall
be eligible for re-election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including Independent
Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years subject to
requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the Bye-laws of
the Company.

Annual Report 2010 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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There was no contract of significance (to which the Company or its
subsidiary or its holding company or its fellow subsidiary was a party)
subsisting during or at the end of the financial year in which a Director
of the Company is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly.

The emolument payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Company. The current market situation will also
be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be granted to
individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to the Group. All
the aforesaid form the emolument policy and long term incentive for
Directors of the Company.

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2010, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are deemed or taken to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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(a) REQATFACBRTZERNERS (a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company
FritfEs
BEAEOL
HRRKRE RHO#E Aggregate
EEHE 514 Long or short Number of percentage
Name of Directors Capacity position shares of interest’
FEREE E=BEAA e 100,000 0.0055%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Beneficial owner Long position
EARREE E=#AA e 100,000 0.0055%
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin Beneficial owner Long position
HXREE EREEA HE 54,000 0.0029%
Mr. Du Wenmin Beneficial owner Long position
=5EBEE EnBAA HE 80,000 0.0044%
Mr. Wong Tak Shing Beneficial owner Long position
B 3E Note:
‘ 63
1. BARRZZE-—ZTF+=-_RA=+—H0F 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
BARAREBRFEBEELRRAS shares to the total issued share capital of the Company as at 31st
HEEITRANBEDL © December, 2010.
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(b) REQBHEBEEEBAEFRAT (b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
(TZ#EAl)) ERTEBRREBRRGH China Resources Enterprise, Limited (“CRE”), an associated
s corporation of the Company
K
TfEE
B  Exercise Frih s
e price HEEE DL
HRHRE RHEE Number  per share R AH  Aggregate
EEgE Long or short Number of share (%) Date of percentage
Name of Directors position of shares options’ (HK$) grant of interest?
EEREE Ha 300,000 300,000° 10.35 04/10/2004 0.0250%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Long position
HXREE HE 100,000 - - - 0.0042%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position
B3 - Notes:
1. UIEERIREIRERT 8PP ke iERE AR 1. This refers to the number of underlying shares of CRE covered by its
MHEER - share option schemes.
2. WARZZE-—ZF+-_A=+—HMF 2. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
FREE R M AR A AR 10 4F B A EEAS shares and underlying shares of CRE to the total issued share capital
HH 2B HITRANE D o of CRE as at 31st December, 2010.
3. ERETTR-ZZNF+ANAEZ= 3.  The exercisable period during which the share options may be
T—pE+ A= BHIE FUATTRE © exercised is from 4th October, 2004 to 3rd October, 2014.
4. ENFIRBEOMERREASESN 4. All interests disclosed above are being held by each Director in his
BEmAARGOEE © capacity as beneficial owner.
5. EEREBRAT  REAETHRRE 5. In each case, HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the share
FFZE 2 41.008 7T ° options granted.

ERRRERERLE - TFFRH
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=34
TEEE
B AE (BT) FrittEs
A Exercise BEEDH?
HFREKE B R Number price RHEAY  Aggregate
EEpE Long or short Number of share per share Date of percentage
Name of Directors position of shares options’ (HK$) grant of interest?
BERLEE [35) 22,000 - - - 0.0005%
Mr. Ma Guoan Long position
FEREE e - 101,800° 2.75 06/10//2003 0.0022%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Long position
ERREE HE 50,000 - - - 0.0011%
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin Long position
HXREE TR 297,000 183,240" 2.75  12/11/2003 0.0102%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position
B E Notes:
1. ULIEEHEE NBRE EATS R AR 1. This refers to the number of underlying shares of CRP covered by its
BRmEE - share option scheme.

BRR—E-—TF+—A=+—HFA
HREBRENEBREAERNEFRLE
BEERENZHCEITRANED
5 ©

WRET S AREY SRE-TEN
£ . -FTEF —FEAE T
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==+ ARRA LT UGE -

BRER D AR SRIE 2Tt
#+ANEBRE-T—=4+AAA
R-FB/\F+ANALE-F—=
F+ AR A EEE T ATTHE -

BEZAERRREBERBESN
HELRREAER

BRI A A REES - EXRER
PHEGEHEESTNEREAAY
BFA °

ESBBERT @ RERE FRERE
BB 41.008 T ©

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares and underlying shares of CRP to the total issued share capital
of CRP as at 31st December, 2010.

The share options are exercisable in 5 tranches, from 6th October,
2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 to 5th October, 2013.

The share options are exercisable in 2 tranches, from 6th October,
2007 to 5th October, 2013 and from 6th October 2008 to 5th October
2013.

Mr. Ma Guoan was deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares
through the interest of his spouse.
Save as otherwise disclosed under note 5, interests disclosed above

are being held by each Director in his capacity as beneficial owner.

In each case, HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the share
options granted.
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(d) REQAFEELIEZEFEEMERAR (d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

(TEPEH]) ERTEERKBER of China Resources Land Limited (“CRL”), an associated

13 B RE 2 corporation of the Company

K

TfEE
B (&) FribfEs
#H' Exercise BMEEDLL?
HRRKRE RHHE Number price ®HAM  Aggregate
EEpE Long or short Number of share  per share Date of percentage
Name of Directors position of shares options’ (HK$) grant of interest?
HXREE HE 790,000  250,000° 1.23  01/06/2005 0.0193%

Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

B E Notes:

1. WIEEBEMERET SIS K8 1. This refers to the number of underlying shares of CRL covered by its
BARIDEE share option scheme.

2. WARZZT-—TF+-_A=+—AHFH 2. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
REBEM T BERIERRO TR shares and underlying shares of CRL to the total issued share capital
BHEREMEBEBTRANE S of CRL as at 31st December, 2010.
tr e

3. BREASAME 2REZZTEN 3. The share options are exercisable in 2 tranches, from 1st June, 2008
FRA—HERE-_Z—RAFRA=1 to 31st May, 2015, and 1st June, 2009 to 31st May, 2015.

—BR-_ZETZAFAA-ARE_Z
—hFRAA=+—BIEH8ETNRT

& o

4. ENFRBHNFMAESBHASESNU 4. All interests disclosed above are being held by each Director in his
EnBBEATNEE - capacity as beneficial owner.

5. ESEBRT  REMETHOERE 5. In each case, HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the share
KB 41.00% 7T - options granted.

ERRRERERDE - TFFRH
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FEBMETERRFAAREEHE
MEFE2HEBHITRANEDLL

2. LXHRBENMARRBASTESN
EDBRAEANFNRE °

RZBZE—F+—H -+ RBHRHAD
BREAIEERESEENT IR
SE2EEZOINREER - UK
EEEHER - 2REREEG 2R
REMARE B EMKE QAR NERE
= (HENRAZERESRE) ME
8 AEBEAKERARNEMES
FEERIN2REENEAZERE
FEHR  AEBEMAKE R FNERA
EHER - XBBH  EEMEME
B (REMZEZEE) EMTHRA
BRER  AEBEMKERRMNE
MEERR : AAREEFLTEMR
EERBEAL  URARREER
ROEMEERZEETERRAME
AR E AR ERES -

=10
TEE
HB IR HE () Frib s
A Exercise wEES
HFREKE BREE Number price EHEAY  Aggregate
EEpE Long or short Number of share per share Date of percentage
Name of Directors position of shares options (HKS) grant of interest’
HXREE Ha 1,458,000 - = = 0.0166%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position
PEEEEAE S5 1,165,912 - - - 0.0133%
Mr. Luk Chi Cheong Long position
BisE - Notes:
1. WARZZE-—TF+-_A=+—HMF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

shares and underlying shares of CRM to the total issued share capital
of CRM as at 31st December, 2010.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by a Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme adopted on 26th
November, 2001 is to promote dedication by its participants and
to encourage its participants to perform their best in achieving
the goals of the Group. The participants are any Director (or any
persons proposed to be appointed as such) and employee of each
member of the Group; any discretionary object of a discretionary
trust established by any employee or Director of each member of
the Group; any executive or employee of any business consultant,
business partner, professional and other advisers to each member
of the Group (or any persons proposed to be appointed as such);
any substantial shareholder of each member of the Group; any
associates of Director or substantial shareholder of the Company;
and any employee of the Company’s substantial shareholder or
any employee of such substantial shareholder’s subsidiaries or
associated companies, as absolutely determined by the Board.
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The scheme mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme was
refreshed and renewed by ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 25th April,
2005 which enabled the grant of further share options to subscribe
up to 265,591,407 shares representing 10% of the shares in issue
as at the said date.

As at the date of the annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue pursuant to the Share Option Scheme was
188,000, representing about 0.01% of the issued share capital of
the Company. The maximum entitlement for any one participant
is that the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including both
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in
issue.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option shall not be later than 10 years from the date the option is
granted. There is no minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised. HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance
of the option within 28 days from its date of grant. The subscription
price is the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant,
(i) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant and
(iii) the nominal value of a share. As the Share Option Scheme has
been terminated in 2008, no more option can be issued pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme but in all other respects the provisions
of the Share Option Scheme share remain in force.

(a) Directors’ right to acquire shares

None of the Directors has any interests in the share options
of the Company as at 31st December, 2010.
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(b) Employees and other participants’ right to acquire shares

A summary of the movements of the share options in relation to
the employees of substantial shareholder and its subsidiaries
and associated companies (other than employees of the
Group and Directors of the Company) under the New Share
Option Scheme during the year is as follows:

BREYE
Number of share options

R-B-ZF
+=A
=t+-H
FRRE FRTR FREH FR%H Outstanding
Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed as at 31st
during during during during  December,
the year the year the year the year 2010
= 24,000 = = 186,000
= = = = 2,000
- 24,000 - - 188,000

Notes:
1. The share options are either vested immediately and exercisable

from 9th April, 2002 to 8th April, 2012 or vested in 4 tranches
and exercisable on 9th April, 2002, 1st January, 2003, 2004 and
2005 to 8th April, 2012. The weighted average closing price
of the shares immediately before the date on which the share
options were exercised was HK$11.10.

2. The share options are vested in 3 tranches and exercisable on
13th January, 2005, 2006 and 2007 to 12th January, 2014.
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On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a restricted
Incentive Award Scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”) in which
selected employees of the Group or investee companies (being any
company in which the Company directly or indirectly owns 5% or
more attributable equity interests and in calculating the percentage
interest so attributed (the “Investee Company”), the percentage
interest held in the Investee Company shall be multiplied by the
percentage interest in each level of entity through which such
interest is held by the Group), are entitled to participate in the
Incentive Award Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide
incentives and to enable the Group and the Investee Companies
in retaining its existing employees and recruiting additional
employees and to provide them with a direct economic interest in
attaining the long-term business objectives of the Company. Unless
early termination by the Board, the Incentive Award Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the
adoption date. The maximum aggregate numbers of restricted
shares which can be awarded under the Incentive Award Scheme
and to a selected employee throughout its duration are limited
to 5% and 0.5% respectively of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company
has appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the
“Trustee”), pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased by
the Trustee from the market out of cash contributed by the Group
and be held in trust for the relevant selected employees until
such shares are vested with the relevant selected employees in
accordance with the provisions of the Incewntive Award Scheme.
A total of 70,000,000 shares were purchased at an aggregate cost
of approximately HK$253,999,000 (including transaction costs) on
7th April, 2009, representing approximately 4.95% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at date of acquisition and held by
the Trustee. The Company does not intend to purchase any further
share under the Incentive Award Scheme.
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On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares will be awarded
under the Incentive Award Scheme. The Company will utilize the
proceeds generated from disposal of the restricted shares held by
the Trustee for the awards made under the scheme. The awards
will be subject to the approval of the Company’s Remuneration
Committee and the cash under the award will only be given upon
fulfillment of relevant vesting conditions imposed on the date of
grant of the award.

During the year, after the approval by the Company’s Remunerative
Committee on 25th October, 2010, the Company, through the
Trustee, disposed of 1,818,000 restricted shares which generated
a net proceeds of HK$21,290,000 and distributed these to relevant
employees including three executive directors.

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with
connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

On 13th September, 2010, the Company entered into a share
purchase agreement with, amongst others, Powerfaith, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CRH, the substantial and controlling
shareholder of the Company, to acquire the entire issued share
capital of Mega Fair Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of CRH with 9 city gas projects, for a consideration of HK$2 billion.
The consideration was satisfied by the issue of 186,654,223 shares
of the Company at HK$10.715 per share. The acquisition was a
discloseable and connected transaction of the Company under
the Listing Rules and completed on 25th October, 2010 upon
obtaining necessary shareholders’ approval and the fulfillment
of all necessary conditions. The closing price of the shares has
increased on completion date and the consideration became
HK$2.2 billion based on fair value for accounting purpose.
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During the year, members of the Group have entered into ongoing
connected transactions with connected persons, details of which
are subject to the reporting requirements under rule 14A.46 of the
Listing Rules and are summarised herein below. The Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued an unqualified letter containing findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by
the Group on page 73 of the Annual Report in accordance with
Main Board Listing Rule 14A.38. The Independent Non-executive
Directors have reviewed the ongoing connected transactions and
confirmed that the ongoing connected transactions have been
entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties and on arm’s length basis;

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them;

(iv) on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of
the shareholders as a whole; and

(v) without exceeding the relevant cap disclosed in previous

relevant announcements.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
for the year ended 31st December, 2010.
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Directors’ Report

Details of the above-mentioned ongoing connected transactions are
summarized as follows:

(i)  Goods and services provided by connected persons to members
of the Group

(1)

Sale and Purchase Agreement
Purchase of natural gas by a number
of subsidiaries of the Company from
Shanxi Natural Gas Limited* (I 78 X
NRE M AR R E), a limited liability
company established in the PRC and
is the substantial shareholder of these
subsidiaries of the Company namely,
Yangquan China Resources Gas Limited,
Datong China Resources Gas Co., Ltd,
Hongdong China Resources Hengfu Gas
Co., Ltd. and Huozhou China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd.* respectively,

FTHET
HK$’000

345,027

(i) Goods and services provided by member of the Group to connected

person

(1)

Sale and Purchase Agreement

Sale and supply of nature gas to
Gucheng China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd., a limited liability company
established in the PRC and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CRH. (Note 2)

Notes:

FTHET
HK$°000

8,722

All the ongoing connected transactions which have been
carried out in 2010 and disclosed above constitute related
party transactions set out in Note 43 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Gucheng China Resources Co., Ltd was a fellow subsidiary of
the Company and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company after completion of acquisition of Mega Fair Limited

by the Company on 25th October 2010.

Name translated for reference purpose only
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Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2010
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section

wmEKE 336 of the SFO:
it st
BEALIM
g S Aggregate
BRREEB 51 BEHE Long or Number of  percentage
Name of shareholder Capacity Nature of interest short position shares  of interest'
Splendid Time Investments Inc. EREEA ERERA a5} 1,246,654,206 68.08%
(“Splendid Time")? Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Long position
28 (88) BRLF ([EREE])2 XEHRFNER NGl 18 1,246,656,206 68.08%
China Resources (Holdings) Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
Company Limited (“CRH")?
CRC Bluesky Limited B UNG[:p -4 G 3 HA 1,246,656,206 68.08%
(“CRC Bluesky”")? Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
ZBRNBRAR ([EERR]) 2 ZEHI A AR G 3 e 1,246,656,206 68.08%
China Resources Co., Limited Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRCL"
REEBERR ([FEEE])? ZHEHI A AR G 3 e 1,246,656,206 68.08%
China Resources National Corp. Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRNC")?
B EE Notes:
1. AR -_ZE—ZTF+-_A=+—HFF# 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in shares to the

BOFRBEEART 2D EITEA
MBS °

2. Splendid TimeX&Commotra Company
Limited? 5l 5 7 A 711,246,654,206 %
&5 %2,0000% ik 17 + ZRR QR RE
BEENZENBAR - Bl - EHEE
5] % 1R {E P 2N 2 B §91,246,656,206/1% A%
DA S - 2 H % E ACRC Bluesky
MNEEMBAR - EMHEERNHEZEHRE
B EERMDDATHEERNZENEA
Al Bt - FHEE - CRC Bluesky »
EERMN R EEBEERIERETR AN
1,246,656,206[% I {5 R #E A #Ews ©

EHRRERERAT — T TEHEFH

total issued share capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2010.

2. Splendid Time and Commotra Company Limited directly holds 1,246,654,206
shares and 2,000 shares in the Company respectively and both companies
are wholly-owned subsidiaries of CRH. CRH is therefore deemed to have
interest in 1,246,656,206 shares of the Company. CRH is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRCL. CRCL
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. So, CRH, CRC Bluesky, CRCL and
CRNC are therefore deemed to have interest in 1,246,656,206 shares of the
Company.
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Directors’ Report

On 31st March, 2010, the Company as borrower and a bank entered
into revolving loan facility agreement of up to an aggregate amount of
HK$380 million. The facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amount to be repaid in full on the date falling three years
from the date of the facility agreement.

On 15th June, 2010, the Company as borrower and a bank entered into
a 5-year term loan facility agreement of up to an aggregate amount of
HK$2 billion. The facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amount to be repaid in full on the date falling 5 years from
the date of the facility agreement.

On 12th August, 2010, the Company as borrower entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a HK$1 billion term loan facility with a bank.
The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any outstanding
amount to be repaid in full on the date falling five years from the date
of the facility agreement.

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreements, the controlling shareholder
of the Company, China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited is
required, at all times, to hold an aggregate beneficial ownership (directly
or indirectly) of not less than 50 per cent. in the issued share capital
of the Company (the “Specific Performance Obligation”). It will be an
event of default if the Specific Performance Obligation is breached;
and in such case, the relevant banks shall declare the commitments
to be cancelled and/or declare all outstanding amounts together with
interests accrued thereon and all other sums payable by the Company
to be immediately due and payable.

Annual Report 2010 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
shares during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will be submitted to the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

MA GUOAN

Hong Kong, 16th March, 2011
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Independent Auditor's
Report

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 79 to 219,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st December, 2010, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

Annual Report 2010 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31st December, 2010,
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
16th March, 2011
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

Turnover
Continuing operations
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Finance costs
Share of results of associates

Profit before taxation
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Taxation
Continuing operations

Profit for the year
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Other comprehensive income
for the year
Exchange differences arising

on translation of foreign operations
Fair value (loss) gain on available-

for-sale investments

Share of other comprehensive income

of associates

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Non-controlling interests

Consolidated Statement of (A
Comprehensive Income

= 2
2010
THET
HK$’000
BiE

NOTES

8,326,747
(5,851,881)

2,474,866
209,909

(544,574)

(800,613)

1,339,588
9 (79,733)
15,524

1,275,379
11 -

1,275,379

10
(304,980)

12
970,399
11 -

970,399

229,099

(2,160)

3,663
230,602

1,201,001

733,685
11 -

733,685
236,714

970,399

BE-—T-TE+-A=t+—HILEE

2009
FET
HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)

4,110,151
(2,858,343)

1,251,808
164,853

(278,877)

(460,659)

677,125
(40,358)
7,187

621,980

21,974
79

643,954

(85,375)

536,605
21,974

558,579

916

432

5
1,353

559,932

437,600
21,974

459,574
99,005

558,579
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

—E-ZF —EThEF
2010 2009
FExT FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000
i (&%)
NOTE (Restated)
TN ATEEER Total comprehensive income for the year
ZEWALLHE attributable to:
ARAFHEAA Owners of the Company
HIEREER Continuing operations 953,547 436,859
BRI TS Discontinued operations - 21,974
953,547 458,833
FEPE AR Non-controlling interests 247,454 101,099
1,201,001 559,932
BT BIT
HK$ HK$
(&%)
(Restated)
HIREF Earnings per share 5
REFER From continuing and discontinued
EESIF S operations
HAR Basic 0.51 0.34
e Diluted 0.51 0.34
REFEEEETS From continuing operations
HAR Basic 0.51 0.33
5 Diluted 0.51 0.33

ERRIRERERDE —F - TFFRH



Consolidated Statement (A
of Financial Position

At 31st December, 2010 RZ-ZT—ZF+_A=+—H

—E-2F —ETNF —ZTTNF
+=—A=+—-H +t=ZA=+—H —A—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
FET FAT FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
L (E%)) (&%)
NOTES (Restated) (Restated)
EMENEE Non-current assets
ME - BB RERE Property, plant and equipment 16 7,810,391 4,079,964 1,805,173
AL RIE Prepaid lease payments 17 759,063 265,301 145,335
REYE Investment properties 18 11,647 11,358 7,909
REEE QRS Interest in associates 19 85,249 21,733 10,272
AT EIRE Available-for-sale investments 20 41,721 22,651 9,894
EES Goodwill 21 890,511 192,667 47,797
IR Operating rights 22 674,121 636,167 639,563
FERETRIEE = Deferred tax assets 32 122,015 51,579 1,312
FENBEAORIBER S Deposit for prepaid lease
payments 7,820 44,273 -
KREES Deposits for investments = 1,321,423 84,940
10,402,538 6,647,116 2,752,195
MENVE E Current assets
FE Inventories 23 236,968 160,489 55,950
FEUE 5 BRI Trade and other receivables
H A fE U R 24 1,545,626 668,394 352,616
FEWEFA4TIZRIE  Amounts due from customers
for contract work 25 378,633 253,897 203,671
AR LA Prepaid lease payments 17 26,094 13,165 4,638
GBI NGRS Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 26 32,813 282,557 37,535
EIRIRITER Pledged bank deposits 27 14,875 19,262 740
IRITHEBRIA S Bank balances and cash 27 6,521,335 2,671,838 1,420,268
8,756,344 4,069,602 2,075,418
MEAE Current liabilities
ERHE SRR K Trade and other payables
H A ER 28 3,346,080 2,003,545 1,189,089
ERNEFPEHIENRIR Amounts due to customers
for contract work 25 1,531,631 747,670 459,387
JENRRXMEBEARZIE  Amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries 26 399,301 22,646 261
e B R A IR Amount due to an intermediate
holding company 26 - - 17,039
BAT BN & Government grants 29 6,645 1,022 =
BITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 30 493,068 1,339,653 111,198
FERIR Taxation payable 154,272 61,620 17,850
5,930,997 4,176,156 1,794,824
nRBEE (BR) FE Net current assets (liabilities) 2,825,347 (106,554) 280,594
13,227,885 6,540,562 3,032,789
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A Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31st December, 2010 RZ-Z—ZTF+-A=+—H

L
NOTES
B R Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 33
(G Reserves
iN/NEIE ¥ SN X)) N Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
IR Non-controlling interests
FERBEE Non-current liabilities
NEgER Nk Government grants 29
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 30
HthRIEE Other long-term liabilities 31
82 ENRIRMEBARZFIE  Amount due to a fellow
subsidiary 26
BELEHIBAGE Deferred tax liabilities 32

BEEgERN T ——F=A T+ BHEK
BT ZEHNE7IE2198 B4R & B 15
= HRATIALTRREFTERE

MA GUOAN 5B %
Director &

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

—E-%F
+=A=+-8
31.12.2010

FHET
HK$’000

183,109
5,501,486

5,684,595
1,894,764

7,579,359

57,895
5,132,770
124,287

333,574

5,648,526

13,227,885

—ETNF
+=A=+—H
31.12.2009
FHET
HK$’000
(E31)
(Restated)

141,442
2,283,471

2,424,913
732,605

3,157,618

13,349
1,391,800
115,092

1,600,000
262,803

3,383,044

6,540,562

—ETNF
—H—H
1.1.2009
FHET
HK$’000
(E31)

(Restated)

141,442
2,231,887

2,373,329
375,930

2,749,259

39,494
100,935

143,101
283,530

3,032,789

The consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 219 were

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 16th
March, 2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

WANG CHUANDONG E &K

Director %
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Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 BE_ZT—ZTF+_A=+—HLFE

AARERARE
Attributable to owners of the Company
B
Kakf
Shares  REEf FiEa
BRERE held i 3
BA  RMSE EAHE EXHE  Share forshare Investment EMEE AHEE REEH Non-  BA#fE
Share Share  Capital Translation  option award revaluation Other ~ Merger Retained &3t controlling Total

capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  scheme  reserve reserves  reserve profits Total interests  equity
Tér  FEr TR TER  TEn  TEx TR TEr  TEr A T TR TER
HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK§000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK§000  HK$'000
(Biita)  (Mike)
(Notea) ~ (Notec)

RZZTAF-F—RB (RFl) At 1stJanuary, 2009, as previously stated 141442 3,750,691 - 157,780 13,436 - - 79097 (2554519) 640,920 2228847 310,543 2,539,390
AL ERNZHAHTE  Effectof business combination of entities
(GE) under common control (Note 2) - - - (2,351) - - 1,728 5161 139,164 780 144,482 65,387 209,869
RZZENE-A-A(E5])  AtlstJanuary, 2009, as restated 141442 3750691 - 155429 13436 - 1728 84258 (2415355) 641700 2373329 375930 2,749,259
ERg Proft for the year - - - - - - - - - U9EA 405TE 99005 SB8ETY
FREMZARA Other comprehensive income for the year - - - (111 - - 432 - - - (74) 2004 1383
ERZEKALE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (1,173) - - 432 - - 450574 458833 101,099 569,932
RERD R EMER S Purchase of shares under share award
(Hzt34(i) scheme (Note 34(i)) - - - - - (253999) - - - - (253.999) - (2539%9)
WL REHNBAT Consideration paid for acquiring
BRIt (i) subsidiaries under common
control (Note b) - - - - - - - ~ (1,959,297) ~ (1,959.297) ~ (1,959.297)
AREHHRADETRG Share issued by a subsidiary under
(GEZG) common control (Note 40(c)) - - - - - - - - 475073 - 475073 - 475073
Rt E-HNBAR Deemed disposal of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - (880) (880)
FELARH RS AN Acquisition of subsidiaries held by jointly
WEAR (Har) controlled entities (Note 37) - - - - - = B - B - - 734 734
WENEAT (is) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) - - - - - - - - = = - 180640 180,640
RERNBARNE bR Acquisition of additional interest
in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - (12682) (12682
Wi AEHER (Wika7) Acquisition of jointly controlled
entities (Note 37) - - - - - - - - - - - 7,635 7,635
ligs £ (H3E37)  Discount on acquisition of jointly
controlled entities (Note 37) - - 35,361 - - - - - - - 35,361 - 356,361
SHEAEE Arising from group reorganisation - - - - - - - - 1078477 - 1078477 - 1078477
HEAFARER E Contribution from non-controlling
interest of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - 115576 115576
NEmEE Transfers between categories - - - - - - - 51,206 - (57,206) - - -
BHRE Dividends paid - - - - - - - - - (84,865  (84,865) - (84,869
B -FHRZHEAT Dividends paid to a fellow subsidiary
(HRARFRR) RE which s a former shareholder
of subsidiares - - - - - - - - - (18999 (18999)  (4041)  (23.040)
ENHBARSEEREZNRE  Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - (31,406)  (31,406)
R-ZEAE+-B=1+-H At 31st December, 2009, as restated
(E5) 141442 3750691 356,361 154,256 13436 (253,999) 2,160 141,464 (2,821,102) 940,204 2424913 732,605 3,157,518
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FERTEREER
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

AARERARE
Attributable to owners of the Company
B
KEZRf
BRE  Shares REEf FEa
L1 held L1 i
& BORE A4EE EXEE  Share forshare Investment EiEE Ak REEN Non-  HA£E
Share Share  Capital Translation  option award revaluation Other ~ Merger Retained &3t controlling Total

capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  scheme  reserve reserves  reserve profits Total interests  equity
fén TEn FEx FEx TEx TEx TEr TEn TEr  TEm  TEm  TEm  T#n
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
(ita)  (Wio)
(Notea) ~ (Notec)

FRiaf Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 733685 733685 236714 970399
EREHEERA Other comprehensive income for the year - = - 202 B - (2160) - = - 219862 10740 230,602
ERZENALE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 202 - - (2160) - - 733685 953547 247454 1201,001
RERH Placing of shares 23,000 2,449,500 - - B - - - = - 2472500 - 2472500
RARARESRER Issue of shares upon combination of
k(3 (M533(0)) entities under common control (Note 33(b) 18,665 2,202,490 = - - = - - (2.221,155) - = - -

ERHRL Share issue expenses - (14215) - - - - - - - - (14215) - (14215)
TEEREENAEEIREG  Shares issued upon exercise

of share options 2 194 - - - - - - - - 196 - 196
WEMBAR (36) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) - - - - - - - - - - - 616636 616,63
WERNHBARNE MBS Acquisition of additional interest in

subsidiares - ) - . - - . - S (40%)  (1640) (75672)
g A HIEE (M337)  Acquisition of jointly controlled

entities (Note 37) - - - - - - - - - - - 62463 62463
Ugs LA HIE 48 (HE37)  Discount on acquisition of jointly

controlled entities (Note 37) - - 19490 - - - - - - - 19490 - 19490
HERRAREHEEE 2R  Disposal of shares held for share

award scheme - - - - - 6,600 - - - 14690 21290 - A2
HEARSHERERLR Contribution from non-controlling

interest of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - 25452 254525
DEmEER Transfers between categories - - - - - - - 8620 - (86202) - B -
EitRE Dividends paid - - - - - - - - - (91,9%)  (91,990) - (91,990
B -FRZNEAT Dividends paid to a fellow subsidiary

(HRARFRR) e which s a former sharefolder of

subsidiries - - - - - - - - S oM (1,04 ST
BAMBAFEARERNRS  Dividends paid to non-controling

interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - (172190 (17.219)
R=3-351-A=1-R At 31st December, 2010 183,109 8388600 301819 376,278 13436 (247,399) - 207,666 (5042257) 1483343 50684595 1,894,764 7,579,359

FMRRERARLT ~T-TEEH




Bt

(@)

(b)

HEEeERNPEARAME (THED)
BXSZEOPH B R BB — MR R TE B EREE
i PRBERES ZAELRERNER
EREER o

—REETIBE THE QR B RS R EF
5% E10%MEENI  THHESAN
EXeREBEEMNBARMAKEEMAETT
EE-mREBERBHEER BRXBEAR
BREENMEBZA -

REZZENFANA=1+H ZHERAA
([5=8]) REMBAR ([ZHEE]) L
K {8310,969,000,000/8 7T B E B AR (5%
E) ARAR ((EERIEERR] A2
AIMRARMEAR) WEETHELAR KL
FEHEE - RZTETAF+A+TAE
AN £ B LABR € R 81,600,000,00078 JT 14 1
FUBE =L AI100% A8 ANAE RS ©

RZBZAENA=1H BEERAA
([B%]) REMBAR ((BEEE]) KA
48 (X (248,328,000 T B E B (£E) &
RAR ([EHEE]) WE—FEHEBAR -
NZZE—TF+A-F+HB  AEEUR
82,221,155,000% L B 5% BRAF
([hE] ARAN—RAZRMBEAR) K
BEEM100%R A Ea - ZIERE TR
%% [ %£17186,654,223% fR (R fE 1 »

HERERRASRAREHEEZED
AU (FRAWE2) - 2EXRH (TREAR
MRS E D B U R E RS
EBRKRARDA  EXEBERIERA
A BILEBETHRRBRAD A &)
HEBRRBRNERAANUNREERE
BHRELARENERBEIZEEIRAREAER
RAIREMEBRRBRRAA  ZEXS
ERABEEAR) ERBEESSAA
e ([BEBgMAg]) BHEHEsHES
5% [HEERIEHzEMHETEI (g
185155 ]) T RAIAK - BE=-TT
NE+=ZA=+—BLFE  HRXFF
iz EEREEERRARERSEED
I $1,600,000,0007% JT - 310,969,000
70 148,328,000 T R B E T —F
F+_A=Z+—BLEFERANGEETH
2,221,155,0008 THI AR 1D © BEFIA S P&
1%0

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

GARSEREHE
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Other reserves comprise general reserve, statutory surplus reserve,
enterprise expansion fund, statutory public welfare fund and discretionary
surplus reserve of subsidiaries established in People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC").

General reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to 10% of the
profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by their board of
directors in accordance with the Articles of Association of the subsidiaries.
This reserve should only be used for making up losses, capitalisation into
capital and expansion of production and operation.

On 30th June, 2009, Top Steed Limited (“Top Steed”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Top Steed Group”) acquired certain subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities, from China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited (“CR Gas
Holdings”), a fellow subsidiary of the Company, for a total consideration
of HK$310,969,000. On 19th October, 2009, the Group acquired 100%
equity interest in Top Steed from Powerfaith for a cash consideration of
HK$1,600,000,000.

On 30th June, 2009, Mega Fair Limited (“Mega Fair”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Mega Fair Group”) acquired a subsidiary from China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited (“CRH”) for a total consideration of HK$48,328,000. On
25th October, 2010, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in Mega Fair
from Powerfaith Enterprises Limited (“Powerfaith”), a fellow subsidiary of
the Company, for a consideration of HK$2,221,155,000 which was settled
by allotment and issue of 186,654,223 shares.

These are business combinations that involve entities under common control
as explained in Note 2. These transactions, excluding the acquisition of
WHERMREERAG, BEZEFBMEEARAR, BLUEBRTRAFRAG
and PU)l|FEEEBMRERGN BRAH], jointly controlled entities, from CR Gas
Holdings and the acquisition of #E)THEHMAER AF and EFEEMARE
fR /AR, jointly controlled entities, from CRH which are accounted for using
acquisition method of accounting, are accounted for in accordance with
the Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting under Common Control
Combination” (“AG 5”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). The cash paid to Powerfaith, CR Gas Holdings
and, CRH of HK$1,600,000,000, HK$310,969,000 and HK$48,328,000,
respectively, during the year ended 31st December, 2009 and the shares
issued to Powerfaith of HK$2,221,155,000 during the year ended 31st
December, 2010 were included in merger reserve.
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GARAEREDE
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

(c)

R-ZTNE— A BNAHREENASE
& 2 {137 £ 1 (83,814,800,000/% T £2 5
MR (RBEXES) HEBITRARHE
4 %61,050,000,000/% 70 2 FIE Z= 28 5 (i)
BEREEEARRKBEARZEERTBR
rEl kG REBRRAERAD R EARES
83,504,000/ 7T ¢ (i) ER AR RE
HEREERADNRASEARERRR
SERQRRKEB IEBRIERAR
EHERRAERAFNIREREEREE
IR A R EF A8 189 126,777,000 7T ¢ &
(VEERREBQIRKBRREBRI
BRAR - HBERRRERAAE - BEM
EHMAERAFARAREERIBR R
AIEF Y8 1E 5 K 139,164,000/ T °

BE_ZTTZNE+_A=+—ALEE"
AH475,073,0008 TR £ FEIEREHREIT—
A& ARE 1 2T R BEIMNRD

R-ZB—ZTFE+-_A=+—BNAHHEE
E()VANEEE 3R £ K (53,814,800,0007%
THERRR (RBELHES) HEETR
AN K % {21,050,000,000/8 7T 2 BRI =58
(i) 4~ & B & 1 9 3R @ 1K {81,600,000,000
BTHERERTRARGEENSHE
475,073,00078 7T 2 & K9 2= 58 (iii) 2 B
REE A REL 1R 1EH K 100,688,000/
T BRERREEYANRSRERER
BB B 2 BE B T A S RO BT B A I Y AR A 4B
BENEENE  ((VARRERITRG
2,221,155,0007% 7T £ & # B 217 AR Kot
BHI £ %81,217,641,000/8 7T 2 B =58
RVEBRIEBE QB ELNEED IR
48,328,000/ T - IRIESEEB R
& X (8 B HL 1E 25 B R A0 BE 5 A S /O Y
BARMRAERE , MHNERETE -

EMRRERBRAE —FT-TFFH

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

Merger reserve as at 1st January, 2009 represented (i) the difference
between the cash consideration paid by the Group of HK$3,814,800,000
and the amount of the issued capital and premium of CR Gas (BVI) of
HK$1,050,000,000; (ii) the deemed contribution from CR Gas Holdings
upon the acquisition of KEZEBEMRRAER AR and HREBRREGR AR of
HK$83,504,000; and (iii) the amount of share capital of Profit Dash Limited
and Favor Sea Investments Limited and deemed contribution from CR Gas
Holdings upon the acquisition of EIZEHMAER AR, BHEBFRIER
A7) and EWMEBRRER AR of HK$126,777,000; and (iv) the deemed
contribution from CR Gas Holdings upon acquisition of RUERZEEM BB R A
A, TRERRRERAR, BMNEBRRERAR and AWEBRAERAF]
of HK$139,164,000.

During the year ended 31st December, 2009, the amount of HK$475,073,000
represented one additional share of US$1 each issued by Top Steed.

Merger reserve as at 31st December, 2010 represented (i) the difference
between the cash consideration paid by the Group of HK$3,814,800,000
and the amount of the issued capital and premium of CR Gas (BVI) of
HK$1,050,000,000; (ii) the difference between the cash consideration paid
by the Group of HK$1,600,000,000 and the amount of the issued capital
and premium of Top Steed of HK$475,073,000; (iii) deemed distribution to
CR Gas Holdings of HK$100,688,000, calculated based on the difference
between the cash consideration paid by Top Steed Group and the total
amount of share capital of its subsidiaries incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands; (iv) the difference between the shares issued by the Company of
HK$2,221,155,000 and the amount of the issued capital and premium of
Mega Fair of HK$1,217,641,000; and (v) deemed distribution to CR Gas
Holdings of HK$48,328,000, calculated based on the difference between
the cash consideration paid by the Mega Fair Group and the total amount of
share capital of its subsidiaries incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:

Interest expense

Interest income

Government grants recognised

Share of results of associates

Dividend income from available-for-sale
investments

Loss (gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payments

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
investments

Impairment loss recognised on receivables

Release from prepaid lease payments

Amortisation of operating rights

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Depreciation of investment properties

Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Decrease (increase) in inventories

Increase in trade and other receivables

(Increase) decrease in amounts due from
customers for contract work

(Decrease) increase in trade and
other payables

Increase in amounts due to customers
for contract work

Cash generated from operations
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Consolidated Statement (A
of Cash Flows

BE-—T-TE+-A=t+—HILEE

—E-ZF ZETNF
2010 2009
FHET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
(&%)

(Restated)

1,275,379 643,954
79,733 40,358
(51,715) (23,661)
(39,529) (96)
(15,524) (7,187)
(440) (2,416)
362 (49,040)
- (6,239)
(280) (12,068)
9,961 -
14,845 9,723
28,665 23,817
345,237 167,917
624 436
- (880)
1,647,318 784,618
41,916 (73,018)
(209,451) (118,930)
(90,594) 21,243
(281,434) 393,270
614,355 99,774
1,722,110 1,106,957
(220,349) (100,296)
1,501,761 1,006,661
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FeBeRER
A Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HEZZT—ZTF+-A=+—HILFE

—E-TF —ZERNF
2010 2009
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 (&%)
NOTES (Restated)
REFH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
.‘jj%%% BB R Proceeds from disposal of property,
RABFTSRUE plant and equipment 93,793 65,704
U B[R 420 1) B Acquisition of jointly controlled entities 37 144,072 299,116
B XM B ARER Repayment from fellow subsidiaries 97,925 55,432
B AT B & Government grants received 77,979 14,467
B HFE Interest received 51,715 23,661
BHIRRITFK Decrease (increase) in pledged
A (45n) bank deposits 5,056 (15,967)
B UkEsE & N RIAR B Dividend received from associates 2,902 3,880
ﬁ’iﬁﬁfﬁﬁ’]m Proceeds from disposal of
FR& kT prepaid lease payments = 11,742
o 5 AT it fﬁ%&’é Proceeds from disposal of
FTiS 3 available-for-sale investments 453 10,453
EH&ZEH,\%’%&EW%\ Dividends received from
available-for-sale investments 440 2,416
BEWE - J“ﬁTzJE& Payments and deposits for acquisition
B0 NE05 of property, plant and equipment (1,706,280) (675,465)
S'ZH?EH%E%’%A i) Prepaid lease payments made (166,947) (63,408)
U B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 36 (54,425) (266,925)
BRICERERNRK Payments for operating rights (17,335) (18,319)
WEETE N AR ERIZE  Deposits for acquisition of
prepaid lease payments (7,820) (44,273)
REEE R EZRE Investment in associates (2,812) =
Ug B AT HEEEIRE M Payments for acquisition of
available-for-sale investments (2,428) (611)
U BE I B W ¥ BN 3R Payments for acquisition of
investment properties (521) -
BEZRS Deposits for investments - (1,321,423)
HEREYFSHRIE Proceeds from disposal of
investment properties - 231
REXKFTARSFE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES (1,484,233) (1,919,289)

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows A

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE-ZT—ZTF+-A=+—HILFE

—E-EF —ETNF
2010 2009
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 (&%)
NOTES (Restated)
mE K FINANCING ACTIVITIES
FIERITRHEMES New bank and other borrowings raised 3,683,911 2,475,677
=) Placing of shares 2,472,500 -
BB A BIEAR MRSt 5k Contribution from non-controlling
interest of subsidiaries 254,525 115,576
e NG E=EN Advances from fellow subsidiaries 249,625 82,683
& ARD EEEE Proceeds from disposal of shares
BEZRIDFTBEIE held for share award scheme 21,290 =
AT E BRI HE Share issued upon exercise
MEITHR G of share options 196 =
EE—FHRER Repayment to a fellow subsidiary
B 2 71 3kIE (1,600,000) -
1;%%&17&&1&15%\ Repayments of bank and
other borrowings (1,023,000) (32,913)
gy ENGILED) Acquisition of additional interests
Hib in subsidiaries (75,672) (26,424)
BRI E Dividends paid (91,990) (84,865)
BRIRITRAMEER S  Interest paid on bank and other
borrowings (77,097) (37,604)
B —MER R B AR Dividends paid to a fellow subsidiary
(B A RAIATARER ) which is a former shareholder of
i 2 subsidiaries (27,044) (23,040)
SR IIEPNGIE 22 Dividends paid to non-controlling
RS interest of subsidiaries (17,279) (31,406)
BITRMHAX Share issue expenses (14,275) -
EEHEEERARRK Repayment of advances from
immediate holding company - (21,178)
IRIRAR ) B2 T & Purchase of shares under share
B RH award scheme 34(ii) - (253,999)
MEXKMERESFE NET CASH FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES 3,755,690 2,162,507
HENEBELSEEEMFEEE NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,773,218 1,249,879
FUNEeRESEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 2,671,838 1,420,268
IEERBENTE EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES 76,279 1,691
ERESRASEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF THE YEAR,
BMRITHESB R & representing bank balances
and cash 6,521,335 2,671,838
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é Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 #HE-Z—ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

ARRBR—HKNBREEMALHOE
HREARAF - EBROHNBEBHER
SRARAR ([Bpr]) £ - Hef
BMEARANEEEMAIANERE
B MEKKZERARSTEERBE
DR ([HEFEE])  Z2RA KR
PEIRIZEY A A o AR R R A AR
REZLEMBH MU R AFRAR
AIE M —EIHEE

RARINIEEEE RARE - XAH
FABTIEAREZINER  FHEAAR
RNElR/—HKRORBER AT Ee) Ei
NI

ARBERB— %&ﬁ%““? HEHxz
MEBLGE - BERR RARZEGEE
HEHED %‘J%UJ"Q\W?HS ° 46&47 o

RERN ARAR=_ZT—ZF+ A
“t+tHEBREEENZ HRAE
%= X 182,221,155,000/8 7T )b i @
B 8 & # 17 7N A 7] #9186,654,223
B FAER - RAARIBH A
T ZEF+A-+tHANBEES
# % B R {8 A2,000,000,0007% 7T
(BN186,654,2230% 7&K 2 & & i% M &
10.715B T AR H) - Z B HEKLK
R {82,221,155,000/8 7T (J} 18 & B
U =1 52K B BRI AR (5 (B 1511.978
TLERK) 2EMEETARAR AR
HEBRBRBAHERESETHKB
HAEARM L IR B AT - I B B
B ARRAR-_ZEZTAE+AT+AIE
LAIR 4 1X/E1,600,000,000/% 7T W iE 5=
%W%Bk$%\(¢\ﬁ%$“*
HRAZZTTNFTAZHBEX) -

E@\?%%l&%%%@E¢Hm
BRERHEERRREEERER -

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Company’s intermediate parent company is CRH,
a company incorporated in Hong Kong and its ultimate holding
company is China Resources National Corp. (“CRNC”), a company
established in the PRC. The addresses of registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
Corporate Information in the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi. The Company
uses Hong Kong dollars as its presentation currency because the
Company is a public company with its shares listed on the Stock
Exchange.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities
are set out in notes 45, 46 and 47, respectively.

During the year, the Company acquired 100% equity interests
in Mega Fair on 25th October, 2010 for a consideration of
HK$2,221,155,000 which was settled by allotment and issue
of 186,654,223 shares of the Company. The consideration
disclosed in the Company’s circular dated 25th October, 2010
was HK$2,000,000,000, represented by 186,654,223 shares in
the Company at HK$10.715 per share. The difference from the
final consideration of HK$2,221,155,000 which is arrived at using
the share price of HK$11.9 on completion date of the acquisition,
was due to the fluctuation in share price of the Company during
the period from date of circular and the date of completion of
acquisition. In the previous financial year, the Company acquired
100% equity interests in Top Steed on 19th October, 2009 for a
cash consideration of HK$1,600,000,000 (details are set out in
the Company’s circular dated 2nd October, 2009). The Group,
Top Steed Group and Mega Fair Group are engaged in sales of
liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 BHE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HLFE

The Group, Top Steed Group and Mega Fair Group are ultimately
controlled by CRNC before and after the group reorganisation,
and that control is not transitory. The Group, Top Steed Group and
Mega Fair Group are regarded as continuing entities as at the dates
of business combinations and hence the acquisitions have been
accounted for as combinations of entities under common control
by applying the principles of merger accounting in accordance
with AG 5 “Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations”
issued by the HKICPA. Accordingly, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group
for the two years ended 31st December, 2009 and 2010 include
the results of operations, changes in equity and cash flows of
the companies now comprising the Group as if the current group
structure upon the completion of the Group Reorganisation had
been in existence throughout the two years ended 31st December,
2009 and 2010, or since their respective dates of incorporation or
establishment where this is a shorter period, except for the jointly
controlled entities acquired by Mega Fair Group during the two
years ended 31st December, 2009 and 2010 as disclosed in Note
37, which are included in the consolidated financial statements
since their respective dates of acquisitions. The consolidated
statements of financial position of the Group as at 1st January,
2009, 31st December, 2009 and 31st December, 2010 have been
prepared to present the assets and liabilities of the companies
now comprising the Group as if current group structure had been
in existence as at the respective dates, except for the jointly
controlled entities acquired by Mega Fair Group during the two
years ended 31st December, 2009 and 2010 as disclosed in
Note 37, which are combined since their respective dates of
acquisition.

Apart from the aforesaid business combination of entities under
common control, the Group has reclassified a bank loan of
HK$300,000,000 at 31st December, 2009, to conform with the
requirement of HK INT 5 “Presentation of financing statements
— Classification by the borrower of a term loan that contains a
repayment on demand clause” as set out in Note 3. The Group
has also retrospectively adjusted the provisional fair values of the
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary and jointly controlled entities
acquired during the year ended 31st December, 2009 to reflect
the fair value adjustments made upon completion of the purchase
accounting during the current year. Adjustments have been made
retrospectively to property, plant and equipment, deferred tax
liabilities, non-controlling interests, goodwill and discount on
acquisition as set out in Notes 36 and 37.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

2. REEE (&) 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(a) EFiZEEINHEBEE—_ZTTNSF (a) The effects of those restatements described above on the
+—A=+—HLFELZEEAE
IWAREAZEHT T

consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the
year ended 31st December, 2009 are as follow:

THRUBHEAR
REREHERR
EHRENTE HEBHERER
Effect of the Afnze
finalisation of Effect of
accounting for business
acquisition of combination
a subsidiary of entities
and jointly under
ZEEAE controlled common ik ZEENE
2009 entities control Elimination 2009
T T FiEn T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(R%E23) (Fi336137) (&5)
(Originally stated) ~ (Notes 36 and 37) (Restated)
BEE Turnover
RERERE Continuing operations 3,746,779 - 372,686 (9314) 4,110,151
HENA Cost of sales (2,586,070) (16,332) (265,255) 9,314 (2858,343)
E Gross profit 1,160,709 (16,332) 107,431 - 1,251,808
EfA Other income 140,694 - 24,159 - 164,853
BERDERR Selling and distribution expenses (231,969) - (46,908) - (278,877)
iR Administrative expenses (409,501) (2,068) (49,090) - (460,659)
659,933 (18,400) 35,592 - 677,125
SRR Finance costs (39,878) = (480) = (40,358)
EEBELAZE Share of results of associates 7,187 - - - 7,187
B AaH Profit before taxation
HEEEE Continuing operations 605,268 (18,400) 35,112 - 621,980
BIR|HEEEHK Discontinued operations 21974 - - - 21974
627,242 (18,400) 35,112 - 643,954
fia Taxation
FELEEE Continuing operations (86,896) 4,600 (3,079) - (85,375)
BIRHEEEK Discontinued operations - - - - -
(86,896) 4,600 (3,09) - (85,375)
FERGEH Profit for the year
FELEEE Continuing operations 518,372 (13,800) 32,033 - 536,605
BIRHEEEK Discontinued operations 21974 - - - 21974
540,346 (13,800) 32,033 - 558,579

ERRRERERDE —Z - TEFRH
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 #HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

2. WMREE (&)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

THREREAT
REREHERR
ERENEE APENERER
Effect of the Aty E
finalisation of Effect of
accounting for business
acquisition of combination
a subsidiary of entities
and jointly under
“EEAE controlled common bit “EEfE
2009 entities control Elimination 2009
T ThL THL THL TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(R5%E25) (MHz36%37) (&5)
(Originally stated) ~ (Notes 36 and 37) (Restated)
EREMZERA Other comprehensive income for the year
HEBNEHH Exchange differences arising on
EXER franslation of foreign operations (4,184) - 5,100 - 916
AREERE Fair value gain on available-for-sale 93
HATENR investments 326 - 106 - 43
EiERERR Share of other comprehensive
Efr2EHA income of associates 5 - - - 5
(3,853) - 5,206 - 1,353
ERZEMAEE Total comprehensive income for the year 536,493 (13,800) 37,39 - 559,932
WFATEHERER - Profit for the year attributable to:
FRTEBA Owners of the Company
b Continuing operations 421,599 (7,997) 23,998 - 437,600
BRIHBE LK Discontinued operations 21974 - - - 21974
443573 (7,997) 23,99 - 459,574
FERiER Non-controlling interests 96,773 (5,803) 8,035 - 99,005
540,346 (13,800) 32,033 - 568,579
W ATEEER Total comprehensive income
2EHNGE - for the year attributable to:
ARREEA Owners of the Company
HELERE Continuing operations 419,683 (7,997) 25,173 - 436,859
BRI Discontinued operations 21974 - - - 21974
441657 (7.997) %173 - 458,833
R Non-controlling interests 94,836 (5,80) 12,066 - 101,099
536,493 (13,800) 37,239 - 559,932
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

2. RHEEE (& 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b)y LitptEp BN E AR KL (b) The effect of the finalisation of accounting for a subsidiary
EHEENEREHHE_T and jointly controlled entities described above on results
—EFE+-—A=+—HIEFEDH by line items presented in the consolidated statement of
REEABARRIPZXIEZYH comprehensive income during the year ended 31st December,
FENZEHIIMT 2010 is as follows:

—E2-=F
2010
FTET
HK$°000

SHE BN EE 0 Increase in costs of sales 16,332

G Increase in administrative expenses 2,068

BEm L Decrease in taxation (4,600)

F )35 ARk A Decrease in profit for the year 13,800

ERRIRERERDE —F - TFFRH
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 #HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

2. REEE (&) 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(c) EZEEINHEN_ZZTNE— (c) The effect of those restatements described above on the
R—BHEEMBHRRARNTE consolidated statement of financial position as at 1st January,
E N 2009 is as follows:
HEZHEEEYR
XidicE2
Effect of business
“EENF combination “EEZNF
—HA—H  of entities under —F—H
1.1.2009 common control 1.1.2009
FTAET FAT FTAET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(REZ75) (271)
(Originally
stated) (Restated)
FRBEE Non-current assets
MmE - BEREE Property, plant and equipment 1,641,992 163,181 1,805,173
BERBLFHE Prepaid lease payments 129,942 15,393 145,335
REME Investment properties 7,909 - 7,909 95
REFE R B Interest in associates 10,272 - 10,272
AHHERE Available-for-sale investments 9,440 454 9,894
G Goodwill 41,925 5,872 47,797
e Operating rights 637,030 2,533 639,563
ELEHIBEE Deferred tax assets 1,312 = 1,312
REESE Deposits for investments 84,940 - 84,940
2,564,762 187,433 2,752,195
MEEE Current assets
=8 Inventories 51,498 4,452 55,950
FEWE 5 5R 3% E At R Trade and other receivables 328,312 24,304 352,616
BhREFEHTIRIE Amounts due from customers for
contract work 193,920 9,751 203,671
BABRLHZE Prepaid lease payments 3,828 810 4,638
L EE =N R Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 37,335 200 37,535
BHEARITER Pledged bank deposits 740 = 740
RITEBRRRE Bank balances and cash 1,346,770 73,498 1,420,268
1,962,403 113,015 2,075,418
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

2. WMWEE (&)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

BHE_ZT-TE+_A=+—HILEE

HEZRGEBREY
b2
Effect of business
“EThE combination “EEhE
—H—H  of entities under —F—H
1.1.2009 common control 1.1.2009
FAL FAT FAEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(R%EZ51) (271)
(Originally
stated) (Restated)
mEAE Current liabilities
ENEHRA N EMERAR Trade and other payables 1,175,172 13,917 1,189,089
BREFPAHIRENE Amounts due to customers for
contract work 413,823 45,564 459,387
FANGESENGEeE Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 239 22 261
FERT BRI R R FUA Amount due to an intermediate
holding company 17,039 - 17,039
BIIREMEES Bank and other borrowings 107,790 3,408 111,198
e IR Taxation payable 17,808 42 17,850
1,731,871 62,953 1,794,824
MEEEFE Net current assets 230,532 50,062 280,594
2,795,294 237,495 3,032,789
EAXRGEE Capital and reserves
B Share capital 141,442 = 141,442
it Reserves 2,087,405 144,482 2,231,887
RPN REA AEIERA Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 2,228,847 144,482 2,373,329
MRS Non-controlling interests 310,543 65,387 375,930
2,539,390 209,869 2,749,259
FRBBE Non-current liabilities
BITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 39,494 - 39,494
HEtpREAE Other long-term liabilities 73,309 27,626 100,935
EERIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 143,101 = 143,101
255,904 27,626 283,530
2,795,294 237,495 3,032,789

ERRRERERDE —Z - TEFRH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 #HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(d)

The effect of those restatements described above on the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st

VR BESIMT December, 2009 is as follows:
TR bR
HEAAR
REEHERN
SHRENTE  ARENER ENAEMER
Effect of the EBEHNTE ERRESHAR
finalisation Effect of HETER
of accounting business Reclassification
for acquisition ~ combination of a bank
of a subsidiary of entities loan with
ZEERF andjointly under repayment ZEENE
tZA=1-H controlled common #%#  ondemand t=A=1-H
31.12.2009 entities control Elimination clause 31.12.2009
T ThL ThL T T Thr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
(RE230)  (H:3ekar) (&=5))
(Originally (Notes 36 (Restated)
stated) and 37)
e Non-current assets
% BERRE Property, plant and equipment 2,749,53 475,022 855,407 - - 4,079,964
BHfSNzE Prepaid lease payments 171,588 18,768 74,945 - - 265,301
RENE Investment properties 11,358 - - - - 11,358
REERTER Interest in associates 17,732 - 4,001 = - 21,733
miEEns Available-for-sale investments 18,545 - 4,106 - - 22,651
HE Goodwill 352,088 (179,036) 19,615 - - 192,667
e Operating rights 632,061 - 4,106 - - 636,167
ERHEEE Deferred tax assets 49614 = 1,965 = = 51,579
BRROFEERS Deposit for prepaid lease payments 4213 - - - - 44273
RERS Deposits for investments 1,321,423 - - - - 1,321,423
5,368,217 314,754 964,145 - - 6,647,116
THEE Current assets
7E Inventories 132,644 - 27,845 - - 160,489
ERESEZ R R Trade and other receivables 565,521 - 102,873 - - 668,394
EYEPANTRNE Amounts due from customers for
contract work 243,075 - 10,822 - - 253,897
IR Prepaid lease payments 11,389 846 930 - - 13,16
ERRZHBAAZE Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 5011 - 279,087 (1,541) - 282,557
BERRIER Pledged bank deposits 19,262 - - - - 19,262
RERRES Bank balances and cash 2,006,689 - 445,149 - - 2,671,838
3,203,591 846 866,706 (1,541) - 4,069,602
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

BHE_ZT-TE+_A=+—HILEE

2. REEE () 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
TR
WEARR
RERHERN
SHRENTE  AFEHER ENAENER
Effect of the EBAHHNTE ERBERHRA
finalisation Effect of HEAEH
of accounting business Reclassification
for acquisition ~ combination of a bank
of a subsidiary of entities loan with
ZEENF and jointly under repayment ZEENE
tZA=1-H controlled common ##  ondemand TZA=1-H
31.12.2009 entities control Elimination clause 31.12.2009
Thn TEn TEn Thn T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(RE230)  (H33eRa7) (&5)
(Originally (Notes 36 (Restated)
stated) and 37)
FHaR Current liabilities
ENESERREMENZ Trade and other payables 1,641,329 - 362,216 - - 2,003,545
ENEPANTRGE Amounts due to customers for
contract work 711,091 = 36,579 = = 747,670
ERRZHBARNE Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 22,646 - 1541 (1,541) - 22,646
BifEE Government grants 1022 = = = - 1022
ROREMES Bank and other borrowings 1,039,653 - - - 300,000 1,339,653
e Taxation payable 58,689 - 2,931 - - 61,620
3474430 - 403,267 (1,541) 300,000 4,176,156
RHARTE Net current liabilities (270,839) 846 463,439 - (300,000) (106,554)
5,097,378 315,600 1,427,584 - (300,000) 6,540,562
EXRGE Capital and reserves
Rk Share capital 141,442 = = - - 141,442
B Reserves 889,943 58,461 1,335,067 - - 2,283 471
ADAEA NEGRE Equity atiributable o owners
of the Company 1,031,385 58,461 1,335,067 - - 2,424913
SErRiER Non-controlling interests 536,189 133,480 62,936 - - 732,605
1,567,674 191,941 1,398,003 - - 3,157,518
FEHEE Non-current liabilities
BiEss Government grants 13349 - - - - 13349
BREMES Bank and other borrowings 1,691,800 - - - (300,000) 1,391,800
AtREAE Other long-term liabilties 86,122 - 28,970 - - 115,002
ERRZHEARZE Amount due o a fellow subsidiary 1,600,000 - - - - 1,600,000
ELHEAR Deferred tax liabilities 138,033 123,659 611 - - 262,803
3,629,804 123,659 29,581 - (300,000) 3,383,044
5,097,378 315,600 1,427,584 - (300,000) 6,540,562

ERRRERERDE —Z - TEFRH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements A

HE-_Z-—TF+-A=1t—RHLFE

The effect of those restatements described above on the

Group’s basic and diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31st December, 2009 and 2010 is as follows:

—E-2F
2010
HEREXR HESREE
BRANEE EBEINTE
Impact on Impact on
basic diluted
earnings earnings
per share per share
BT BT
HK$ HK$
REFFERCTKRIELZLEIE From continuing and
discontinued operations
FEREE Figures before adjustments 0.42 0.42
AR U BB A A & Adjustments arising from
HEZEEIEENEEER  finalisation of accounting for
i & AE Y 5 2 acquisition of a subsidiary
and jointly controlled entities (0.01) (0.01)
ARG B ER Adjustments arising from
AR MEER AR business combination of
entities under common control 0.10 0.10
HAEREYF Figures after adjustments 0.51 0.51
REFESEEY From continuing operations
HEREF Figures before adjustments 0.42 0.42
B 55 Bk W BT /B A 7] 2 Adjustments arising from
HEZEGIEBO SR finalisation of accounting for
i EE A A FE B acquisition of a subsidiary
and jointly controlled entities (0.01) (0.01)
A R ) B R 575 Adjustments arising from
& 0F M E R F business combination of
entities under common control 0.10 0.10
FERH T Figures after adjustments 0.51 0.51

—EThE
2009

HERER WIS
BANZE BINTE
Impact on  Impact on
basic diluted
earnings  earnings
per share  per share
BT B IT
HK$ HK$

0.33 0.33 29
(0.01) (0.01)
0.02 0.02
0.34 0.34
0.32 0.32
(0.01) (0.01)
0.02 0.02
0.33 0.33
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In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and

revised standards and interpretations issued by the HKICPA.

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

HKFRS 3
(as revised in 2008)

HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 27
(as revised in 2008)

HKAS 39 (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) - INT 17

HK = INT 5

Group cash-settled share-based
payment transactions
Business combinations

Related party disclosures in
relation to the partial exemption
in paragraphs 25 to 27 for
government-related entities

Consolidated and separate

financial statements

Eligible hedged items

Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2009

Amendments to HKFRS 5 as part
of Improvements to
HKFRSs issued in 2008

Distributions of non-cash assets to

owners

Presentation of financial statements
— Classification by the borrower
of a term loan that contains
a repayment on demand clause

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and revised

standards and interpretations in the current year had no material

effect on the amounts reported in these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HILFE

The application of HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) has resulted
in changes in the Group’s accounting policies for changes in
ownership interests in subsidiaries of the Group.

Specifically, the revised standard has affected the Group’s
accounting policies regarding changes in the Group’s ownership
interests in its subsidiaries that do not result in loss of control. In
prior years, in the absence of specific requirements in HKFRSs,
increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated in the
same manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or
a bargain purchase gain being recognised, when appropriate; for
decreases in interests in existing subsidiaries that did not involve a
loss of control, the difference between the consideration received
and the adjustment to the non-controlling interests was recognised
in profit or loss. Under HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008), all such
increases or decreases are dealt with in equity, with no impact on
goodwill or profit or loss.

When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction,
event or other circumstance, the revised standard requires the
Group to derecognise all assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests at their carrying amounts and to recognise the fair value
of the consideration received. Any retained interest in the former
subsidiary is recognised at its fair value at the date control is lost.
The resulting difference is recognised as a gain or loss in profit
or loss.

These changes have been applied prospectively from 1st January,
2010 in accordance with the relevant transitional provisions.

The application of the revised standard has affected the accounting
for the Group’s acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries.
The difference of HK$74,032,000 between the consideration paid
amounting to HK$75,672,000 and the non-controlling interests
adjusted amounting to HK$1,640,000 was recognised directly in
equity, instead of goodwill. In addition, the cash consideration paid
in the current year of HK$75,672,000 has been included in cash
flows from financing activities.
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HK INT 5 clarifies that term loans that include a clause that gives
the lender the unconditional right to call the loans at any time
(“repayment on demand clause”) should be classified by the
borrower as current liabilities. The Group has applied HK INT 5 for
the first time in the current year. HK INT 5 requires retrospective
application.

In order to comply with the requirements set out in HK INT 5,
the Group has changed its accounting policy on classification of
term loans with a repayment on demand clause. In the past, the
classification of such term loans was determined based on the
agreed scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
Under HK INT 5, term loans with a repayment on demand clause
are classified as current liabilities.

As a result, a bank loan that contains a repayment on demand
clause with carrying amount of HK$300,000,000 has been
reclassified from non-current liabilities to current liabilities as
at 31st December, 2009. As at 31st December, 2010, this bank
loan (that is repayable more than one year after the end of the
reporting period but contains a repayment on demand clause) with
carrying amount of HK$300,000,000 has been classified as current
liabilities. The application of HK INT 5 has had no impact on the
reported profit or loss for the current and prior years.

Such term loan has been presented in the earliest time band in the
maturity analysis for financial liabilities (see Note 7 for details).
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HKAS 24 (Revised) “Related party disclosures” modifies the
definition of a related party and simplifies related party disclosures
for government-related entities. HKAS 24 (Revised) provides a
partial exemption from the disclosure requirements for government-
related entities. The Group has early partially adopted the
paragraphs 25 to 27 of HKAS 24 (Revised) relating to partial
exemption from the disclosure requirements for government-related
entities in the current year in advance of its effective date.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards and interpretations that have been issued but are not
yet effective, except for the partial exemption from disclosure
requirement for government-related entities in accordance with

HKAS 24 (Revised). 103)
HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs :
issued in 2010'

HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures — Transfers of
financial assets®
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments*

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred tax: Recovery of
underlying assets®

HKAS 24 Related party disclosures®
(as revised in 2009)
HKAS 32 (Amendments) Classification of rights issues’
HK(IFRIC) — INT 14 Prepayments of a minimum
(Amendments) funding requirement®
HK(IFRIC) = INT 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities

with equity instruments?
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! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2010 or
1st January, 2011, as appropriate.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2010.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2011.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2013.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2012.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2011.

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st February, 2010.

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (as issued in November 2009)
introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial assets and will be effective from 1st January, 2013, with
earlier application permitted. The standard requires all recognised
financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial
instruments: Recognition and measurement” to be measured at
either amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that (i) are held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows and (ii) have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost.
All other debt investments and equity investments are measured
at fair value. In addition, under HKFRS 9, changes in fair value of
equity investments may be recognised in other comprehensive
income, with only dividend income recognised in profit or loss.
The application of HKFRS 9 might affect the classification and
measurement of the Group’s financial assets.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
other new and revised standards, amendments or interpretations
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which
are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by The Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those
used by the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-controlling
interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. Prior to 1st January, 2010, losses applicable to the
non-controlling interests in excess of the non-controlling interests in
the subsidiary’s equity were allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the non-controlling interests had a
binding obligation and were able to make an additional investment
to cover the losses.
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Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries on or after 1st January, 2010

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests. Where certain assets of the
subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts or fair values and
the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred directly to retained profits, as appropriate). The
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 “Financial
instruments: Recognition and measurement” (“HKAS 39”) or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a jointly controlled entity.
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Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries prior to 1st January, 2010

Increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated in the
same manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or
a bargain purchase gain being recognised where appropriate.
For decreases in interests in subsidiaries, regardless of whether
the disposals would result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries, the difference between the consideration received
and the adjustment to the non-controlling interests was recognised
in profit or loss.

Business combinations that took place on or after 1st January,
2010

Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits” respectively;

Annual Report 2010 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

107)



@%

AR B AR MY A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

TE-FF-_F-HARZEETZF

BEv (F)

o EBHUWEET ARG RER 2K
X H R 5B B IARE B AR
RERON R ZERRLET
ARG RERZ MRIHERFZE
HMzaERESTA  DREE
B HIR B 5 B 75 35 2 Rl SR 255
(AR 2R EBE BT 3R 5T 8
K

o RIEFE Y W E AR FE5R
[SEHEZIFRBDEERER
IFEEEB ] DBRARIEREZ
BE (B EMER) REZER

HE -

BEEAME R ZKE  FERER
WIREET P PriE 28 - RAKE N
ERA 2B BE 2 A FE (10
B) 2B BB A HEREE
kAAEza@RNEERRZFE
% IEBHZEZREAE - WEEM
1& » PTUREE 2 AT R BIDH B E B P AR AR
BENKERRZFESRNEREZAK
B FFEBRERNERB T P AhE
BUARAEBAERA 2R EE T K
B2 RNE (F) 247 - BIZFE
RMER AR AAE KBk -

BRBHREEEERENERRERE
ABREZLPIDHERFEE 2 IFE
Pt ss - Al Z IR A A FF A
wmEGREBL IR EEREND
BARACRELOFE ABEERTE
AR MRS o Hfb BRI
WiEs DR E N FES S —HERR
LA BAEEENE -

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

Business combinations that took place on or after 1st January,
2010 (Continued)

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement of
an acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with share-
based payment transactions of the Group are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment” at the
acquisition date; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for sale
and discontinued operations” are measured in accordance
with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are
measured at their fair value or another measurement basis required
by another standard.
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Business combinations that took place on or after 1st January,
2010 (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

Acquisition of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control was accounted for using the purchase
method. The cost of the acquisition was measured at the aggregate
of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given,
liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs
directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that met the
relevant conditions for recognition were generally recognised at
their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost
of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the
recognised amounts of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s
interest in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeded the cost of
the business combination, the excess was recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The non-controlling interest in the acquiree was initially measured
at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of recognised
amounts of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquiree.

Annual Report 2010 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

109)



(no

AR A B AR MY R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

AR AR ERLRIEGE G
E’\JAHE"EEE)Z%i‘&E’UQM&#E%IEB ~
iﬁﬁuuxﬁﬁﬁfiiﬁﬁ&ﬁé t B2
REBEAZEHFRFHEREE A
H—tk o

EHERAXBNEEFENRER
2T RABMBEEREELEA AR -
N6 B S A P Bl ph MR X B R
WEARAHMAIEE  AEREIAA
BB AT FE P A R B H A R E
%\JT/—\@?H—?El’\Jﬁ}Z$EI’\JﬁB1§}ﬁE§%E1EJ$
MEAE R R AR AR o

FEEZERARRETEARTENA
Eﬁﬁﬁié%ﬁ%’:ﬂﬂ:ﬁ BAEBERX
HREEHE B (APRBEERE)

E%ﬁﬁ EHH (RERBAME) B&
HERENEBNESE -

e M IMARN AT LS R YR
ZEEHBERIEBE L —EREH
Mk B R HERESE R (AHRR
RERE) BEEHERH (RERBR
mE) e At XES

W S ok R RZE I E 58 (R HI4R
BIIR) ELEE  DERARE
M 2FHREBBARK  XRERE 7%
AR D27

EHRRERERAT — T THEFR

BE—

—EE+_A=F+—HLLFE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in which
the common control combination occurs as if they had been
combined from the date when the combining entities or businesses
first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the ultimate
controlling parties’ perspective. No amount is recognised in respect
of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over cost at the time of common control combination, to the extent
of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes
the results of each of the combining entities or businesses from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the common control,
where this is a shorter period and up to the date of disposal, as
appropriate.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements
are restated as if the entities or businesses had been combined
at the previous reporting period or when they first came under
common control, whichever is shorter and up to the date of
disposal, as appropriate.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business or a jointly
controlled entity (which is accounted for using proportionate
consolidation) is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses and is presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently whenever there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to the other assets of
the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. An impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit
or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or a jointly
controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associates
are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost as adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associates.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of that associate.
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Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets”
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a
separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled
entities.

The Group recognises its interests in jointly controlled entities
using proportionate consolidation. The Group’s share of each of
the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly controlled
entities are combined with the Group’s similar line items, line by
line, in the consolidated financial statements.
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Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in
a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of a business or a jointly controlled entity (see above).

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly
controlled entity are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly controlled
entity that are not related to the Group.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold
and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised when the outcome of a construction contract for gas
connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of completion
at the end of reporting period can be measured reliably. Revenue
from and expenses on construction contracts for gas connection
are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the cost incurred during the year relative
to the estimated total costs of the contract. When the outcome of
a construction contract for gas connection cannot be estimated
reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract cost
incurred that is probable to be recoverable.

Connection fee income is recognised upon the connection of
pipelines of customers to the Group’s existing gas pipelines

Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used by
customers.
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Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income from
a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably).

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress) are stated at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in
the course of construction for production or for own use purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component classified as an operating lease is
classified as a prepaid lease payment and amortised over a
straight-line basis over the lease term. During the construction
period, the amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any identified
impairment losses and are classified as property, plant and
equipment. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition
necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management).

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account their estimated residual values, using
the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period
in which the item is derecognised.
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When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
can be estimated reliably and the stage of contract completion at
the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably, contract
costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of
the contract activity at the end of the reporting period on the same
basis as contract revenue is recognised.

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred. When it is
probable that total contracts costs will exceed contract revenue,
the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown
as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts
where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
shown as amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as
advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet
paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position under trade and other receivables.

Intangible assets refer to the operating rights for city pipeline
network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset is measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.
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Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment
loss on financial assets below).
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Financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount of the asset on initial
recognition. Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instrument.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables, or held-
to-maturity investments. The Group designated listed and unlisted
equity securities as available-for-sale financial assets.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value at
the end of the reporting period, except for available-for-sale equity
investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, which
are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the
end of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in investment
revaluation reserve, until the financial asset is disposed of or is
determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or
loss previously accumulated in investment revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment
loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows
of the financial assets have been affected.
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Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments; or

° it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default
on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss
is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate.
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Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For investments in equity securities carried at cost, the amount of
the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for
a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed
in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair value subsequent to
impairment loss is recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and acummulated in investment revaluation reserve.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit and loss. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed through profit and loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, amount due
to an intermediate holding company, long-term payables and other
long-term liabilities, are measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method subsequent to initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of
a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid or payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.

As lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the relevant lease term. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.
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Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element of the lease at
the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a
finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases, in which
case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the costs of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are charged as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 BHE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HLFE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint controlled entities, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred
tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items
that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the end of reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity (translation reserve).
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Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1st
January, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in the translation reserve.

Share options and equity incentive scheme granted to employees
after 7th November, 2002 and vested on or after 1st January,
2005

For share option schemes, the fair value of services received,
determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted
at the grant date, is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
option reserve). At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
continue to be held in share option reserve.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of share options that are expected to ultimately
vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in the profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

For share award schemes, the cost of acquisition of the Company’s
shares held for the share award scheme is recorded as treasury
shares (shares held for share award scheme). The shares held for
the share award scheme will be disposed of for cash which will be
distributed to the employees.

When the shares held for share award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed
to the employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are
recognised as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between
the consideration received and the cost of the shares will be
credited to retained profits.
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Share options and equity incentive scheme granted to employees
after 7th November, 2002 and vested on or after 1st January, 2005
(Continued)

Share options and equity incentive scheme granted to
employees on or before 7th November, 2002, or granted after 7th
November, 2002 and vested before 1st January, 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded in
the consolidated financial statements until such time as the options
are exercised, and no charge is recognised in the profit or loss
in respect of the value of options granted. Upon the exercise of
the share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded as
additional share capital at the nominal value of the shares, and
the excess of the exercise price per share over the nominal value
of the shares is recorded as share premium. Options which lapse
or are cancelled prior to their exercise date are deleted from the
register of outstanding options.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any. If the recoverable amount of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.
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Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Government grants related to depreciable assets are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives of the related
assets. Other government grants are recognised as revenue over
the periods necessary to match them with the costs for which they
are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government
grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Application of principles of merger accounting

As mentioned in Note 2, combinations of entities under common
control are accounted for by applying principles of merger
accounting in accordance with AG 5 issued by the HKICPA. The
management considers merger accounting reflects the economic
substance of such combinations, not merely the legal form, in the
absence of a standard or an interpretation that specifically deals
with common control combinations, as the Group and the entities
acquired by the Group under these combinations are regarded as
combining entities as at the dates of business combinations.
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The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future in preparing accounting estimates. The resulting accounting
estimates may not be equal to the actual results. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both the current and future periods. The key estimates and
assumptions that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property, plant
and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
could change significantly as a result of technical obsolescence.
When the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment
due to the change of commercial and technological environment
are different from their estimated useful lives, such difference will
impact the depreciation charges and the amounts of assets written
down for future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at 31st
December, 2010 is HK$7,810,391,000 (31st December, 2009:
HK$4,079,964,000 and 1st January, 2009: HK$1,805,173,000).
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses annually whether property, plant and
equipment have any indication of impairment, in accordance with
the relevant accounting policies. The recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment have been determined based on
value in use calculations. These calculations and valuations require
the use of judgement and estimates on future operating cash
flows and discount rates adopted. In case where the recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment assessed are less than
expected, a material recognition of impairment of property, plant
and equipment may arise, which would be recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which such recognition takes place. No
impairment loss was recognised for property, plant and equipment
for both years.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31st December, 2010, the carrying amount of goodwill is
HK$890,511,000 (31st December, 2009: HK$192,667,000 and 1st
January, 2009: HK$47,797,000). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in Note 21.
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Impairment of operating rights

At the end of the reporting period, management reconsidered the
recoverability of its operating rights arising from acquisition of
businesses/assets, in which the carrying amount at 31st December,
2010 is HK$674,121,000 (31st December, 2009: HK$636,167,000
and 1st January, 2009: HK$639,563,000). Recoverability analysis
has been carried out by the management annually and details of
the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in Note 22. Any
change in the business environment may lead to the change of
expected future cashflows in the future. If the future recoverable
amounts falls below the carrying amounts, additional impairment
loss of operating rights is required.

Allowance for doubtful debts

The Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an
assessment of the recoverability of debtors. Allowances are made
on trade debtors whenever there is any objective evidence that
the balances may not be collectible. The Group makes judgement
in assessing the collectability based on observable data including
creditworthiness and payment history of the customers (for details
please refer to Note 24). When objective evidence for allowance
exists, the amount of allowance is the difference between the
carrying amounts of the debts and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
Where the expectation on the recoverability of the debts is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amounts of debtors and doubtful debt expenses in the periods in
which such estimate has been changed.

The carrying amount of trade debtors, net of allowance, at 31st
December, 2010 is HK$499,609,000 (31st December, 2009:
HK$136,279,000 and 1st January, 2009: HK$71,775,000).
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Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an assessment
of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances are applied to
inventories where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the net realisable value is lower than the cost of inventories. The
identification of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgement
and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories.
In cases where the net realisable value of inventories assessed
are less than expected, a material recognition of allowance for
inventories may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which such recognition takes place.

At 31st December, 2010, the carrying amount of inventories is
HK$236,968,000 (31st December, 2009: HK$160,489,000 and 1st
January, 2009: HK$55,950,000).

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of funding
are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
bank and other borrowings, bank balances and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued capital, retained
profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, management considers
the cost of capital and the associated risk, and take appropriate
actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debts
or the redemption of existing debts.
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SREE Financial assets
Bk & YR 3N Loans and receivables
(BERE Kk (including cash
ReEH) and cash equivalents)
AEHERE Available-for-sale investments
ERMEE Financial liabilities
BESHRC R At amortised cost
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—E-EF —ZETNF —ZETNF
+=ZB=+t—-HB +ZHA=+—H —A—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
FHET FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (E51)

(Restated) (Restated)

7,429,310 3,280,612 1,625,742
41,721 22,651 9,894
7,867,116 5,275,510 621,498

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-sale
investments, trade and other receivables, amounts due from/to
fellow subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, amount due to an intermediate
holding company, bank and other borrowings and other long-term
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The Group manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. currency other
than the functional currency of the respective group entities, which
are mainly amounts due from/to fellow subsidiaries, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables and
bank and other borrowings, at the end of the reporting period are

HifEE) MREmE as follows:
—E-ZF ZZETNEF
2010 2009
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
BE Assets
e United States dollars 175,531 34,529
BIT Hong Kong dollars 1,788,948 316,891
1,964,479 351,420
=L Liabilities
BT Hong Kong dollars 4,992,500 4,023,000
BT Euro 17,385 20,050
5,009,885 4,043,050

A6 B3 38 2 ) B L NI BB SOR 3 1A
R EIMNER R o AEE BRI EET
SAEISMNE RIS RSN RS -
BEEERNBEEEBEININERR

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring
the movements of foreign currency exchange rates. The Group
currently has not entered into any foreign currency forward
contracts to hedge against foreign currency risk. Management
will consider hedging foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.
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RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

SRR ()
SN HISE DT

TREINAEEFARBTAR
| SEEBEOEEY) KiRAH
HNEE EF K T BR5%H) R E © 5% 5
BEREER  BEBEHINEEEA B
LIRS BT HHELE - FEAEDN
EREEAREENAINEBEMNE
BEIEE - WRAF RIEINETE R5%H) &
LA EE N o M AR H B INE
EF5% - BIE (8) R T~FEARE
wmAE I CRd) 5 AR AN
BT 5% + BIF s A r] e X BIAESE
BREHZE -

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in Renminbi (“RMB”), the functional currency of
the group entities, against relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the
sensitivity rate which represents management’s assessment of the
possible change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the year end for 5% change
in foreign currency rates. A positive (negative) number indicates
an increase (decrease) in post-tax profit for the year when RMB
strengthens 5% against the relevant foreign currencies. For a 5%
weakening of RMB against the relevant currency, there would be
an equal but opposite impact on the profit for the year.

—E—-ZF —ETNF
2010 2009
FE&xT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&71))
(Restated)
P United States dollars
FRT &R A Post-tax profit for the year (8,777) (1,726)
BT Hong Kong dollars
F AT @A Post-tax profit for the year 160,178 185,305
& Euro
F AT @A Post-tax profit for the year 869 1,003

EREERA  AREFREENRERE
WARBEENRER - BtGRED
A BERKREIA RSMNERER -

FIE 2

AEEARZBBERNRRHBRARZF
BRBERZERTREMEENRS
REFEER (FHRZSEENFE
F2MKE26130) c BEEBHEE
R K FEH TR N E DS EE—
HERF R R o

EHRRERERAT — T THEFRH

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
floating-rate amount due to a fellow subsidiary and bank and other
borrowings (see Notes 26 and 30 for details of these borrowings).
The management continuously monitors interest rate fluctuation
and will consider further hedging interest rate risk should the
need arise.



FEmp (&)

REBIAZBRE S ﬁETT&Eﬁﬁ
ENRAFEFNERR (FHZEEE
MR HEME30) - BEHEESE
RF R B R R TEHI A E AR EE
BREEEEMEE -

met

H R ER 1T 48 R P A BV IR 17 T 35 A K
METE - NEEMRITERATIR
ERENERR (BRERNFITA
2R E27) - EEERR - ARG
BIRITHEAROBBREE - HAKED
5 HIRI TP BRI R R R E K o

FREDNERENRT RRITHER -
& A~ — 5 [B) 22 B /B8 22 R FRIRIA S 3R 7T
REMEEFXER - D IEERR
BEREMRNZEREEEHRNEBF
NI REE - TRAS0MEEE By sk
B KREEEBHFENAER B
HEEHFHE

Wi /Z BRTEMRTITA SR KB ERER
TERRFE L, TZ50@EE2 A
FiBHEMESERTE  BBE-T
—EFE+ - A=+ —HIFENRE
% F 15 38 10 4932,681,000/8 7T (=
T N, : 13,456,000 7T) © {47 &
RITREMEE (BIEEMN—BRZR
MBS A RIZRIE) KIFIR £ FIE50
EESEEEEthE S EFTRE Al
HE-"ZT-ZTF+-_A=+—HIt#E
& H B % T A5 R 4 4926,271,0007%8
7T (ZZZNEF : 21,024,000/ 7T) °
EEXERANAEEZBRITAS
FEBITREMMEE REMN—RHRZR
B B8 A RIFRIE A ) R [RLFR P BR ©

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE=

RE SRR
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Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (see Note 30 for details
of these borrowings). The management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider repay the fixed-rate borrowings when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
on bank balances (see Note 27 for details of these deposits). The
management considers the Group’s exposure of the short-term
bank deposits to interest rate risk is not significant as interest
bearing bank balances are within short maturity period.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank balances,
amount due to a fellow subsidiary and bank and other borrowings.
The analysis is prepared assuming those balances outstanding at
the end of each reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease which represents the
management’'s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates is used.

If the interest rate on bank balances and pledged bank deposits
carried at variable rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the post-tax profit for the
year ended 31st December, 2010 would increase by approximately
HK$32,681,000 (2009: HK$13,456,000). If the interest rate on
floating-rate bank and other borrowings (including amount due to
a fellow subsidiary) had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the post-tax profit for the year
ended 31st December, 2010 would decrease by approximately
HK$26,271,000 (2009: HK$21,024,000). This is mainly attributable
to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its bank balances with
variable rates, floating-rate bank and other borrowings and amount
due to a fellow subsidiary.
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR”) arising from the Group’s borrowings denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and People’s Bank of China Base Rate arising
from the Group’s borrowings denominated in RMB and Euro.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in relation to
each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount
of those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to
financial guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed in Note
41. In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in
place for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries out searches
on the creditability of the new customer and assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer.
Limits attributed to customers are reviewed once a year.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each individual
trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
Group considers that the credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit standing.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 BHE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HLFE

Credit risk

At 31st December, 2010, the Group has concentration of credit risk
in relation to the receivables from fellow subsidiaries amounting to
HK$32,813,000 (31st December, 2009: HK$282,557,000 and 1st
January, 2009: HK$37,535,000). In order to minimise the credit risk,
the management has reviewed the recoverable amount of each
receivable from its fellow subsidiaries at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management also
monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants, if any.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
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REBEZERE (&)

R-ZE-Z%& At 31st December, 2010
+=ZA=t-H

ERESEHR Trade and other payables
H MR

ERRZNE Amounts dug to
ARFE fellow subsidiaries

et BAREMEE Bank and other borrowings
HEtRHARE Other long-term liabilities

MHERAL (M)  Financial guarantee
contracts (Note)

RZBBAE+=H At 31st December, 2009
=1-R(83) (restated)

B SRHR Trade and other payables
Hit AR
I IEES Amounts due to
ARFE fellow subsidiaries
ROREMEE Bank and other borrowings
HRHAE Other long-term liabilities

BBERAH (M)  Financial guarantee
contracts (Note)

M MBERENSERAEEREF IR
HERAERT » AEEBRBEHRHE
AP B BER S AT L HE M
AERATHENRSLE - REBERS
HERNEY - AERERA/RIEZEA
ZH AR B R HEMFRIA - AT -
B EFHRBURINE F I RIBZAE
RIBIHERRMATAE N » ez Al sElER
BAREF I RERY SRR
SR ERERMAREN -

o

EHRRERERAT — T THEFRH

Liquidity risk (Continued)

BB1F

{BF

BiB5%F

MERGHE Over 1 year
Weighted RERE FENE but not
average On  Lessthan  more than
interest rate demand 1 year 5 years

TRL TR TiEn
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

= 823,028 894,662 =
= 399,301 = =
2.00% 300,000 204,210 5,256,737
3.93% = 9,598 52,338

- = 67,690 =
1,522,329 1,176,160 5,309,075

= 308,207 498,112 =

1.71% 22,646 - 1,627,337
2.01% 300,000 1,092,942 1,402,803
3.93% = 7,858 49,872

= = 65,419 =

603,863 1,664,331 3,080,012

5%LE
Over

5 years
TEL
HK$’000

84,961
115,621

200,582

16,651
106,644

123,295

RERRE
REAE
Total
undiscounted
cash flows
TER
HK$’000

1,717,690

399,301
5,845,908
177,557

67,690
8,208,146

806,319

1,649,983
2,812,396
164,374

65,419
5,498,491

REE
Carrying
amounts

TAL
HK$’000

1,717,690

399,301
5,625,838
124,287

7,867,116

806,319

1,622,646
2,731,453
115,092

5,275,510

Note: The amounts for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum
amounts the Group could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount as stated in Note 41 if that amount is

claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is
a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the

counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in
listed equity securities classified as available-for-sale investments
(see Note 20). The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks. The
Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on shares listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. In addition, the management of
the Group monitors the price risk and will consider hedging the
risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date.

If the prices of the listed equity instruments had been 5% (2009:
5%) higher/lower, the investment valuation reserve will increase by
HK$1,324,000 or the post-tax profit for the year will decrease by
HK$1,324,000 (2009: investment valuation reserve will increase/
decrease by HK$587,000).

The Group’s sensitivity to available-for-sale investments has not
changed significantly from the prior year.

Fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices for observable

current market transactions as input.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their
fair values.
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EHEE Turnover
HNEH External sales
E Result
DEFEER Segment results
B 35 AR R Finance costs
RABLUA Unallocated income
KAOMAZ Unallocated expenses
B 75 AT S5 ) Profit before taxation
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Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products — sale of
liquefied petroleum gas and natural gas for residential, commercial
and industrial use

Gas connection — connection fee income and construction contracts
for gas connection to the Group’s pipelines

Segments results represent the profit before taxation earned by
each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, finance
costs, central administration costs, release from prepaid lease
payments, discount on acquisitions of subsidiaries and directors’
salaries. This is the measure reported to the executive directors
for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment
assets and segment liabilities are as follows:

Segment revenue and results

HERDHRE
MBI RAEBRE R
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel RRER
and related Gas a5t
products connection Total
FHET FTHERT FTHERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
6,367,889 1,958,858 8,326,747
692,996 807,110 1,500,106
(79,733)
198,741
(343,735)
1,275,379



For the year ended 31st December, 2010

AR A BRI R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_ZT-TE+_A=+—HILEE

8. ExXBRISEEHN (& 8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z-ZF+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2010 (Continued)
(#&)
DWW RFEAE (E) Segment revenue and results (Continued)
PHEBEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDHRE
MAREBER
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel MRER
and related Gas mE
products connection Total
FExT FET FET
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BE Assets
DEBEE Segment assets 7,541,453 2,058,269 9,599,722
FRERIBEEE Deferred tax assets 122,015
AABAREE (H5Ea) Unallocated corporate
assets (Note a) 9,437,145
19,158,882
afE Liabilities
DEEBE Segment liabilities 962,520 2,907,974 3,870,494
e ERIE Taxation payable 154,272
EEFIERE Deferred tax liabilities 333,574
RABARAE (M5Eb) Unallocated corporate
liabilities (Note b) 7,221,183
11,579,523
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Segment revenue and results (Continued)

H & Other information
HER D
KRERBR
HEER
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel MEER
and related Gas Ko B
products connection Unallocated
FHET TET FERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
REFERBEE Additions to non-current assets 1,628,107 - 96,029
e R Depreciation and amortisation 326,791 - 47,735
R TEN & IE Release of prepaid lease payments - = 14,845
B S EWEEFUREEE Impairment loss on trade receivables 9,961 - -
HEME  BE R Loss on disposal of property, plant
REEE and equipment 362 = =
DI RFEE () Segment revenue and results (restated)
HE R HRAS
AR R AR A 2
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel AR
and related Gas
products connection
FHET FHT
HK$'000 HK$’000
EER Turnover
SNEH External sales 3,095,802 1,014,349
¥E Result
SRR Segment results 316,318 371,370
B RS PR N Finance costs
R ERBA Unallocated income
RAOMAZ Unallocated expenses
FR 5 A& Profit before taxation

EHRRERERAT — T THEFR

att
Total
FTHERT
HK$’000
1,724,136
374,526
14,845
9,961

362

At
Total
FHET
HK$’000

4,110,151

687,688

(40,358)
90,055
(115,405)

621,980
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8. ExXBENRISEEH (&) 8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-_ZZAF+=-A=1+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2009 (Continued)
(#&)
THEHEEREE (ES) Segment assets and liabilities (restated)
AR AR E
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel IR R B
and related Gas o)
products connection Consolidated
FHT FAET FAExT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
DEEAE Segment assets 4,295,792 971,004 5,266,796
EIERIIAE B Deferred tax assets 51,579
AABAREE (HiFa) Unallocated corporate
assets (Note a) 5,398,343
10,716,718
=N Liabilities
HrEAE Segment liabilities 564,288 1,800,613 2,364,901
FESRLIR Taxation payable 61,620
RIEFHIBAE Deferred tax liabilities 262,803
APBARAE (M5Eb) Unallocated corporate
liabilities (Note b) 4,869,876
7,559,200
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8. EXHEKkoEEH (&) 8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

R-EZENFE—HA—H At 1st January, 2009

D BEEREE (EZ) Segment assets and liabilities (restated)
EE# (E3)) Other information (restated)
HERDH
RIBFER
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel IR R B
and related Gas RAHC A5t
products connection  Unallocated Total
FHT FHT FET FAxT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
ANBIERDEE Additions to non-current assets 731,457 - 47,281 778,738
WE R Depreciation and amortisation 170,098 - 22,072 192,170
FERRTEN T E IR Release of prepaid lease
payments - - 9,723 9,723
IR R AB A 2
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel IR R B
and related Gas o)
products connection Consolidated
FHET FHET FAT
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
BE Assets
DEREE Segment assets 2,188,865 587,267 2,776,132
R IE & B Deferred tax assets 1,312
RABAREE (M5Ea) Unallocated corporate
assets (Note a) 2,050,169
4,827,613
=N Liabilities
NEAE Segment liabilities 212,912 1,087,706 1,300,618
FESBIIE Taxation payable 17,850
RIETIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 143,101
AHBLARAMRE (H5Eb) Unallocated corporate
liabilities (Note b) 616,785
2,078,354

ERRIRERERDE —Z - TFEFRH
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s turnover and non-current assets (excluded financial
instruments and deferred tax assets) are arisen in and located in
the PRC during both years.

Information about major customers

No single external customer contributed revenue from transactions
amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the Group during
both years.

Notes:

(a) Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on acquisition
of subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities which are engaged
in sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products and gas
connection, investment properties, prepaid lease payments, interest in
associates, deposit for acquisition of prepaid lease payments, deposits
for investments, available-for-sale investments, other receivables,
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances and cash.

(b) Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, accrued
expenses, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries/an intermediate holding
company, bank and other borrowings and other long-term liabilities
(excluding payable for acquisition of operating rights). The amounts
due to fellow subsidiaries/an intermediate holding company and bank
and other borrowings are classified as unallocated corporate liabilities
because they are managed centrally by the treasury function of the
Group.

Annual Report 2010 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

145




iR A M SRR Y

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

9. B 9. FINANCE COSTS
—E-ZF —ETNF
2010 2009
FHERT FAT
HK$°000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
S Interests on:
AR AFABBEERIRT Bank and other borrowings wholly
REMEE (BIEHE repayable within five years (including
RE B TR bank loan with repayment on demand
RITERK) clause) 51,356 31,128
HENAERNDHEEMNIEIT  Bank and other borrowings not wholly
REMEE repayable within five years 1,300 1,414
e R Z KB A RIFRIE Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 24,441 5,542
HibREAAE Other long-term liabilities 2,636 2,274
79,733 40,358
10. B8 10. TAXATION
—E-ZF ZETNF
2010 2009
FHERT FAT
HK$°000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
MBS (BE) 81F - The tax charge (credit) comprises:
BNVERT 18 Current taxation
e lE ey PRC Enterprise Income Tax 296,698 131,707
BEFEEEB TR Underprovision in prior year 3,687 2,104
300,385 133,811
ERERA (FIaE32) Deferred taxation (Note 32)
FAZH () Charge (credit) for the year 4,595 (48,436)
304,980 85,375

FMRRERARLT ~T-TEEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 BHE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HLFE

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2009: 16.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits for the year. The Company and
its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong do not have assessable
profits, accordingly, no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been provided in the consolidated financial statements.

Profits tax arising in the PRC is calculated based on the applicable
tax rates on assessable profits.

Certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC are exempted from
income tax applicable in the PRC for two years starting from the
first profit making year after utilisation of the tax losses brought
forward and were granted a 50% relief for the following three
years.

Certain jointly controlled entities which are operating in the Western
China have been granted tax concessions by the local tax bureau
and are entitled to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at concessionary
rate of 15%.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2010 No. 1, only the profits
earned by foreign-investment enterprise prior to 1st January, 2008,
when distributed to foreign investors, can be grandfathered and
exempted from withholding tax. Whereas, dividend distributed
out of the profits generated thereafter, shall be subject to the
Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and withheld by the PRC
entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the New Law and Article
91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.
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B BERIEEEEBORTANENE
BEHEMHE BELRRBREMNE

#) 5% 1E11,521,0007% 7T #) & 7|

EEBEYEELENTHEEKRE
10,453,000/ JC B B Fl| o 25 B 3 7K
ERBE-_TTZNAF+=_A=+—8”H
SETNEF+

LFFERIEEE - BE—

BE_Z-ZF+_A=1+—HLFE

taxation as follows:

Profit before taxation

Tax at the applicable income tax
rate of 25% (2009: 25%) (Note)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purposes

Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purposes

Tax effect of share of results of associates
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Utilisation of tax losses previously
not recognised

Tax effect of deductible temporary differences

not recognised
Effect of tax exemptions granted to
subsidiaries operating in the PRC
Income tax at concessionary rates

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
Withholding tax for undistributed profits of

investments in the PRC
Underprovision in prior year
Others

Tax charge for the year

—s-%F
2010
FHT
HK$’000

1,275,379

318,845

25,547

(6,067)
3,881
19,463

(7,052)

257

(50,633)
(33,076)
(6,667)

30,000
3,687
6,795

304,980

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

2009
FHET
HK$'000
(E31))
(Restated)

643,954

160,989

22,883

(13,092)
1,797
1,925

(2,772)

454

(36,844)
(11,861)
(19,326)

2,104
(20,882)

85,375

Note: The applicable income tax rate represents PRC Enterprise Income Tax

27 rate of 25% for the two years ended 31st December, 2010 and 2009,

of which the Group’s operations are substantially based.

Profit before taxation from discontinued operations during the
year ended 31st December, 2009 consisted of gain on disposal
of property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments

K it of HK$11,521,000 and gain on disposal of available-for-sale

investments of HK$10,453,000 in respect of the semiconductor
operation which was discontinued during the year ended 31st
December, 2009. The net cash inflow of the semiconductor operation

for the year ended 31st December, 2009 was HK$32,195,000.

“A=T-BLLEFE  FEREBH

WEMAFER32,195,000/E 7T

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

o
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

Profit for the year from both continuing
and discontinued operations has been
arrived at after charging:

Staff costs
Directors’ emoluments (Note 13)
Other staff
— Salaries and other benefits
— Retirement benefits
schemes contributions

Total staff costs

Auditor’s remuneration
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of investment properties
Amortisation of operating rights (included in
administrative expenses)
Release of prepaid lease payments
Impairment loss on trade receivables
Operating lease rentals in respect
of rented premises
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

and after crediting:

Dividend income from
available-for-sale investments
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payments
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of
available-for-sale investments
Government grants
Interest on bank deposits
Rental income from investment properties
(net of negligible outgoings)
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—g-%%F
2010
Fi#
HK$’000

12,418

620,152

78,762
711,332
3,518
345,237
624
28,665
14,845
9,961
28,383

362

440

280
39,529
51,715

1,836

ZETNEF
2009
FET
HK$’000
(E31)
(Restated)

2,738

263,358

43,064
309,160

2,800
167,917
436

23,817
9,723

16,580

2,416
880
6,239

49,040
12,068
96

23,661

344
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 BHE_ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—HILFE

ENRENEEHMEIT

By Name of Director
fitsE
Note
EER Ma Guoan
TER Wang Chuandong
TR Ong Thiam Kin, Ken
) Wei Bin
£y Li Fuzuo
HXR Du Wenmin a
R Wong Tak Sing a
ExE Luk Chi Cheong a
BEA Yang Chonghe, Howard
T4l Yu Jian b
Bt 3

(@) DBUFATESFREZZEENK

(b) ABILIEMITES -

() RBMHFLTRBESHEERR
AR B 9 A FERR - 3%
MRS ERRA B -

RBTENRSDRIBEARENLZ
FE - AARBRAIELBRAT IS
FHEUREE o

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:

e
Fees
TAR
HK$'000

70
70
70
70
42
70
150
150
3
119

842

Notes:

HER
Eft Rl
Salaries

and other
benefits

TAR
HK$'000

1,647
1,300
1,560

4,507

ZE-2E2010

wHiTE
s
Performance
related
incentive
payments
TER
HK$'000

3,267
2,635
850

6,752

BiKER
AR
Retirement
benefit
schemes
contributions
TER
HK$'000

72
72
173

317

a3
Total
TAR
HK$'000

5,056
4,077
2,653
70

42

70
150
150
3
119

12,418

At
2009
Total

T
HK$'000
35

35
2,213
35

30

30
120
120
120

2,738

(a) Being independent non-executive directors and members of the Audit

Committee.

(b) Being independent non-executive director.

(c)  Share-based payment expense is recognised based on the estimated
fair value of the share options granted to directors at the date of grant.

No such expense was recognised for both years.

Performance related incentive payments were determined with

reference to the Group’s operating results, individual performances

and comparable market statistics.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 BHE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HLFE

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included three (2009:
one) executive directors, details of whose emoluments are set out
above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2009: four) highest
paid employees of the Group are as follows:

—E-ZF ZETNF

2010 2009

FHxT FAT

HK$°000 HK$’000

e RHEMBEA Salaries and other benefits 1,250 1,578
HMINITE R e Performance related incentive payments 4,020 2,644
RIRE AT IR Retirement benefit schemes contributions 92 720
5,362 4,942

LB FIATHE :

The emoluments of the above employees are within the following

bands:
—E-ZF ZETNF
2010 2009
ABEES ABEE
Number of Number of
employees employees
0%1,000,0007% 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 - 2
1,000,001/ 21,500,000/t HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 - =
1,500,001 22,000,000/ HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 - 2
2,000,00187C£2,500,0008 7 HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 - =
2,500,001/87C£3,000,00078c HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2 -
—E-ZF —ETNF
2010 2009
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRERBD KRS - Dividends recognised as distribution
during the year:
T -TFRAOHPEHRE Interim dividend of 2.00 HK cents per share
B%2.008l (ZZTNF : paid for 2010 (2009: paid of 2.00 HK cents
“ETERFRMNOFPEKRE per share for 2009)
&h%2.007510) 31,491 28,288
ZZETAFRNORARE Final dividend paid of 4.50 HK cents per
Fhk4.5078 Il (ZZZNF share for 2009 (2009: paid of 4.00 HK cents
—BE)N\FRMAHRBKE per share for 2008)
Fi%4.00%1l) 60,499 56,577
91,990 84,865

EXEZBEORRKNBEE T -—ZF
ToA=T—HLEFERNREBRES
R8EA (ZZEENF - F K450
i) o

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 8 HK
cents per share for the year ended 31st December, 2010 (2009:
4.50 HK cents per share).
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 BHE_ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—HILFE

GRREA #5822 T5 4R A T 8URET The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is

g based on the following data:
—E-2F —EENF
2010 2009
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
BF Earnings:
RAUAFTESRERR Earnings for the purposes of basic and
BE R A H 2R diluted earnings per share (profit for
(RRBHEE AEIL the year attributable to owners of
FARF) the Company) 733,685 459,574
—E-2F —EENF
{ 152 2010 2009
\ (&%)
(Restated)
ROEE : Number of shares:

R E SR ERZNT
B ETRMOEE
AR ) B ET 8
R AR

BESEERONTZE

P AR BB BEE 2 H /Y
B TR ER
AR 1) B DT B
FAR

Weighted average number of shares
in issue less shares held for share
award scheme for the purposes of
basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential shares
Share options

Weighted average number of shares
in issue less shares held for share
award scheme for the purposes of
diluted earnings per share

AEEBEE—ZTAF+-A=+—H
I FE T REE R F I ERERITE
RABHMARITERBERE  RERZ
EERENTEESRFERARNDH T
HTME - for the year.

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

1,445,155,924

50,718

1,445,206,642

1,340,743,441

1,340,743,441

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended
31st December, 2009 does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s outstanding share options as the exercise price of
those options is higher than the average market price for shares
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 BHE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HLFE

REFBEEEBNTRERNREH The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share from
B TIRA TSR E - continuing operations is based on the following data:
—E-FF —EENF
2010 2009
FHERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
RAAGESRERR Earnings for the purposes of basic and
BERANAF (RAF diluted earnings per share (profit for
A ANEEFERRF) the year attributable to owners of
the Company) 733,685 459,574
B NA RS AL Less: Profit for the year from discontinued
R SE 0] operations attributable to owners of
F R F the Company - (21,974)
G E R B ELCLERA  Earnings for the purposes of basic and 153 }
BREARREE AT diluted earnings per share from /
B R E continuing operations 733,685 437,600
FTASBE LM EgRERREE The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for
BFIFTAZEMER - both basic and diluted earnings per share.
BIBA F2FIHRE D RIELLER Basic and diluted earnings per share for the discontinued
WaEAMRDEFE  REBEEZTTH operations for the year ended 31st December, 2009 were HK$0.01
FH+-A=+—HILEFE BERIELK per share and HK$0.01 per share, respectively, based on the profit
EEBONBREAREERNSFA from the discontinued operations and the denominators presented
Fh%0.01/8 7T K EH&0.01/8TT ° above.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—HLFE

BE-
BERRE f
Plant, R%E
HENE  machinery MAEE  Fumiture HEZE i3 EBIR
Leasehold and Gas and Leasehold Motor  Construction fit
properties  equipment pipelines fixtures improvements vehicles in progress Total

TEL TEL TEn TEL TEn TAL TEn TEL
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000

456 THE GROUP
A COsT
RZEENE-A-H At 15t January, 2009 (restated)

(&51) 178,126 190,047 1,224,948 35,257 7483 78,413 354 477 2,068,751
ExA% Exchange adjustments mn 70 130 7 @) 2 9 402
AE Additions 58,772 69,148 126,341 13,099 220 33,962 458 877 760,419
YENBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries 11,093 3528 583,984 545 - 2,423 25,679 627,250
It i Acquisition of jointly controlled

entities 112,338 91,347 573,852 4113 - 11,167 278,524 1,071,341
it Disposals (8818)  (22830) (5575 (4789) (1,322) (3,294) - (4662)

(1 54 AHERER Transfers between categories 68,224 26,844 438,379 419 - 3 (534,207) -

RIEEAE+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2009 419,812 358,154 2,942,059 48,651 6,379 123,033 583,449 4,481,537
R A% Exchange adjustments 38,375 35,113 93,576 4,642 343 10,062 43,593 175,704
AE Additions 84,99 142,760 229,497 32,730 65 62,713 1,153,520 1,706,250
WERBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries 143,294 222,321 588,778 14,467 - 32,987 226,495 1,227,942
WELREHER Acquisition of jointly

controlled entities 250,331 99,594 539,815 9,559 2,908 37,591 156,205 1,096,003
it Disposals 9131)  (14429)  (85150)  (1510) - (10951) - (2m)
PERER Transfers between categories 205,291 50,143 430,751 2,829 - 4,749 (693,763) -
RZE-FF+-A=+—H At31st December, 2010 1,132,967 893,656 4,689,326 111,368 9,695 259,784 1,469,499 8,566,295
WERAE DEPRECIATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
RZFENE-F-H AT 1st January, 2009 (restated)

(&5) 12,521 43,852 153,539 11,976 2,546 12,307 26,831 263,578
B A% Exchange adjustments 8 19 1 5 - 9 - 42
REERE Provided for the year 15,703 31,434 99,145 7,845 894 12,896 - 167,917
HERHR Eliminated on disposals (2.883) (20,429) (606) (4,683) (306) (1,057) - (29,964)
RZEENE+-A=F—H At31st December, 2009 25,355 54,876 252,079 15,143 3,134 24,155 26,831 401,573
ExA% Exchange adjustments 5,624 6,547 18,233 2,243 128 3,335 - 36,110
REERE Provided for the year 46,320 82,390 169,416 18,665 10 28,436 - 345,237
HERHR Eliminated on disposals (4,767) (7.321) (5,858) (1,239) - (7,831) - (27,016)
WZE-FF+-A=1+—H At31st December, 2010 72,532 136,492 433,870 34,812 3272 48,095 26,831 755,904
REE CARRYING VALUES
WZE-FF+-A=1—H At31st December, 2010 1,060,435 757,164 4,255,456 76,556 6,423 211,689 1,442,668 7,810,391
RZEENFT-A=1—H At31st December, 2009 394 457 303,278 2,689,980 33,508 3,245 98,878 556,618 4,079,964
RZZENE-F-H At 1st January, 2009 165,699 146,195 1,071,409 23,281 4937 66,106 327,646 1,805,173

EMRRERBRAE —FT-TFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than

construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated

useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual

values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

Leasehold properties

Plant, machinery and
equipment

Gas pipelines

Furniture and fixtures

Leasehold
improvements

Motor vehicles

25 to 40 years or over the
relevant lease terms, if shorter
5 to 20 years

20 to 30 years

3to 12 years

3 to 5 years or over the relevant
lease terms, if shorter

3'/5to 10 years

The Group’s leasehold properties are situated on land:

BBIFINAR IR

EBRINAT HIAR A

MN-_ZE—ZF+-_F=+—8" K@\
REATEL(ZEZTALF+=ZA=
+—H : 95,978,000 L K —TZ 1L
F—HA—H: T8 WWE BE

—E-ZF —ETNF —ETNF 155’“)
+=HA=+—-8 +=A=+—H —H—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
FHET FAExT FAExT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
(E%)) (&31)
(Restated) (Restated)
Outside Hong Kong on
medium-term lease 1,060,435 394,457 160,881
In Hong Kong on
medium-term lease - - 4,718
1,060,435 394,457 165,599

At 31st December, 2010, property, plant and equipment with
an aggregate carrying value of nil (31st December, 2009:
HK$95,978,000 and 1st January, 2009: nil) are pledged to secure
the bank borrowings granted to the Group (Note 30).

RIBOLEI - UREETFAEE

MERTTIEE (MFE30) -
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

17. ALY FE 17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
AEERNBEMANELORERIE LA The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise of land situated:
o

—E-ZF ZZETNF ZETNF
+=A=+—-8 +t=A=+—H —A—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
FExT FHT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
BBTINAF BT A Outside Hong Kong on
medium-term lease 785,157 278,466 144,470
BB AR B A In Hong Kong on
medium-term lease - - 5,503
785,157 278,466 149,973
BEFRBEMANTA Analysed for reporting
purposes as
EREFEE Non-current assets 759,063 265,301 145,335
MENEE Current assets 26,094 13,165 4,638
785,157 278,466 149,973

SRRRERARLR —T-THEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements .

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 #HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

FAT
HK$’000

2% COST
RZZETNF—HA—H At 1st January, 2009 8,733
HE 54, 38 B Exchange adjustments 2
Wi RS E S Acquisition of jointly controlled entities 4,114
HeE Disposals (231)

—ETAF+ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2009 12,618
Eﬁ.ﬂg Exchange adjustments 468
NE Additions 521
R_ZE—=FF+_A=+—H At 31st December, 2010 13,607
e DEPRECIATION
RZZTThF—HA—H At 1st January, 2009 824
VN Provided for the year 436
RZZZNF+=-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2009 1,260
M 54, 3 B Exchange adjustments 76
RE SRR Provided for the year 624
R-_E—ZFF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2010 1,960
REE CARRYING VALUES
R-E—FF+-F=+—H At 31st December, 2010 11,647
R-_ZEZNEFE+=-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2009 11,358
RZZTThF—HA—H At 1st January, 2009 7,909

AEE PR A LA SR T A F5 B DARR
BAS RASIEE AL EREN YR
BEEAKABRAGE YD BEAK
EMENRR - MEDRRGHEEFH
B SRR IR E MERRA

R-E-BER-FEFAFT-AS
+—B - ARERAERENESIT
AR - B3 L -

*IHI

[e<p

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using cost model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the
cost of investment properties using straight-line method over the
remaining terms of the leases.

At 31st December, 2010 and 2009, all of the Group’s investment
properties are situated in the PRC with medium terms of leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Unlisted shares, at cost
Goodwill on acquisition of
an associate
Share of post-acquisition profits
and other comprehensive

income, net of dividend received

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

—®-¥F -"TINF  -TTHF
TEHEF=E F=H=F—F —H—AH
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
FET FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(E51) (&51)

(Restated) (Restated)

57,105 13,356 5,207

3,482 - -

24,662 8,377 5,065

85,249 21,733 10,272

REEHR - NREBOEBERRFE
AN FE46 ©

£ B85 8 ) 0 8 7 R L

- Bt

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period
are set out in Note 46.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associates is set out below:

BEE
waE

BEFE
REEREH 2 RAREEFE

WA

53
RERHT
Hits 2 EHA

REBE FEIGEEE R RN R
Hip2EEA

EHRRERERAT — T THEFRH

—E-ZF —ZTTNF ZTTNF
+=—A=+—-H +t=ZA=+—H —H—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(E31) (E51)
(Restated) (Restated)
Total assets 966,319 337,652 131,407
Total liabilities (654,571) (190,758) (65,582)
Net assets 311,748 146,894 65,825
The Group’s share of net assets
of associates 81,767 21,733 10,272
Income 309,977 390,044
Expenses 275,674 370,042
Profit for the year 34,303 20,002
Other comprehensive income 9,524 13
The Group’s share of profit and
other comprehensive income
of associates 19,187 7,192
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. —ETNEF
TEHEF=E F=H=F—F
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
FHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(E2%)
(Restated)
AR ETRR G - Listed shares in the PRC,

BRAYE at fair value 26,484 11,745

ELEMRAKRE - Unlisted equity investments:
— REE - IR - in Hong Kong, at cost = -
— PR R —in the PRC, at cost 15,237 10,906
41,721 22,651
B EEREREEE Less: Impairment loss recognised = -
41,721 22,651

ERBROBODTEE (BE-RAF
BFfE) JARBEERTSNTHERE -

FLETRAREZNREHROKA
BMEREBIEGTE  BeBEQTEM
FANEEBR  MERERREAT
ETRER SEHFHE -

BREE

R=ZTTh&F—H—A (F%))

b 5 A

U iE — R M B A R EE MRS

U — M E A Al

L i HE [R5 ) 2 22

HEFERENEEATENFE
(RT3

RZZBZENF+=_A=+—H

bE 5 A

U BB B A A)

g H R F 28

R=F—2F+=A=+—8

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

—ETNF
—H—H
1.1.2009
FHET
HK$’000
(E31)

(Restated)

9,334
9,894

19,228
(9,334)

9,894

The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair

value measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active

market.

The unlisted equity investments are measured at cost less

impairment losses at the end of the reporting period because

the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that

the management is of the opinion that their fair values cannot be

measured reliably.

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 1st January, 2009 (restated)
Exchange adjustments
Acquisition of additional interest of a subsidiary
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Acquisition of jointly controlled entities
Adjustments to fair value of assets acquired
in prior year (see below)

At 31st December, 2009

Exchange adjustments

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Acquisition of jointly controlled entities

At 31st December, 2010
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HK$'000

47,797

(620)
13,742
275,610
35,175

(197,037)

192,667
1,170
39,125
657,549

890,511

159)



(160

iR e ISR T

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

HEBEHIREHEES SRS
BB BERZEBAHIREELE
B iEEREAATNE  BERE
BEKBARRAREGEE BB
WIRSELEMN - BB AR RAR
THERBRERE [HE LD HRE
MBI RBEER] R IMRER] D
B HEBRE-—SOREEENE -
REREHE  BENREEEIRE
iy Ui B DA T Y B R R K R R ) A
FELRMREE

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to cash
generating units (“CGUs”) that are expected to benefit from that
business combination. The management considers each subsidiary
and jointly controlled entity represents a separate CGU for the
purpose of goodwill impairment testing. As the subsidiaries and
jointly controlled entities are engaged in both “sale and distribution
of gas fuel and related products” and “gas connection” segments,
the goodwill is not further allocated to each segment. At the end
of the reporting period, the carrying amount of goodwill mainly
represents goodwill arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries and
jointly controlled entities as follows:

—E-ZF —ETAEF
2010 2009
FixT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
HRENEH B S Jointly controlled entities
EEMR (KE) BRAA EEMR () BRA7A (“Chongging Gas”)

(TEEHE]) 491,537 =
R IEEERRERAR BRIEERRI AR AR

(ARIEEBRR]D) (“Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas”) 151,401 =

MEB AR Subsidiaries
RZEBHRIERAA RZZEBRRERAE (“Wuhan CR Gas”)

(TRZEEERR]) 131,348 130,642
EM AR BIRA A BN R R AR A (“Zhengzhou Gas”)

([EBMARE L) 30,202 =
ARZEBHRRER QA ARZEBRRER QA 23,089 23,089
FRBEERRBREEAA REERRRBREEATR 11,624 11,624

Efh Others 51,310 27,312
890,511 192,667

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH



ReEEBun ko T RER
BAEREEE - AEERERNE
ERJ[A/FRE  HRELEEEE
BERANTARES - BERETHERAA
RREHReELEMBAENEEE
EE R R e R 1T 5 AT (A A B AT
REFRREK - WREXBFENE R
A E - EEREEKANES AR
BEED RIS AR METE -

AEERESHEEEBEGBARK
FFENSIOMAVREE HERER
RRREREBN —RERY) RE
ReRnedAl - RiRE \FrMEHE
R & B4%-6% 8% 68 T+ F M) E 5
BERAE0% (ZTETAF: +HF
F0%) REEBE HEBHENES
e BARCELENMNESRE
BRI R AE7.8% (ZTTNF
10.3%) ° EFRA - REAWAAR - K
REBOEEVELBTAMENRE
BB - BHERR  ZEBREOHMEM
GEMEAEZHI BB EELSN
WERHAEEAZEEEESBUANT
Wel & FEAERE o

U B8 BT B8 /2 R EE A M9 7 39,125,000
BT RWEARZ EREEENEE
643,019,00078 IR & E H X E T -
NERRASPHEEAREERAE
fHEZEMK -

RBE-Z—ZTF+_A=+—H1It
FE - R-_ZENFEURBE-HHNEB
RE R — AR ES A BRI EE
FENAFERBNEEE K - B
EEBMR SOE N EEEERR AR
AR (DEMEEERRR D) 8%
BEEREBERATFESRRENMGET -
“ERNFNLERBFELES - B
W T EIES S KWERMED <
B o

REWREBS ME BEEEMHE
ARBABLHRENRQFES B
$n407,699,000% Jt 516,727,000
B RELEHEA B E N
106,107,000/ T o & 2 47 & R/ 2
179,037,000/ 7T  IF & % 4 = 1%
$1139,282,0005% st > M K F I H7
%I%ﬁfz —ZEZTNF A F IR
4>13,800,0007% st (0 Bk & % % 1B
4,600,000/ 7T) ©

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE—

RE SR MR
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—EEFT_A=F+—HLLFE

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct
costs are based on past practices and expectations of future
changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for the
next 5 years, which is the general development period for sales
of liquefied gas and gas connection business and extrapolates
cash flows for the period beyond the budget period based on
the estimated growth rate of 4%-6% for the first 8 years and 0%
for the remaining 7 years (2009: 0% for 15 years). The rate used
to discount the forecast cash flows for the CGUs is 7.8% (2009:
10.3%). In the opinion of the directors, no material impairment loss
of goodwill on gas operation is identified at the end of the reporting
period. Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the aggregate recoverable
amount of the CGU.

The determination of goodwill arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries amounting to HK$39,125,000 and the acquisition of
jointly controlled entities amounting to HK$643,019,000 is based on
a provisional basis, awaiting the completion of the identification of
separable assets and valuation of the assets and liabilities.

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the identification and
determination of fair values of the net identifiable assets acquired
of a subsidiary and a jointly controlled entity in 2009 has been
completed and the fair value of the property, plant and equipment
of Wuhan CR Gas and EMEEZEBRRER A (“Luzhou CR
Gas”) was greater than original estimate. The comparative figures
of 2009 have been restated as if the initial accounting had been
completed from the respective dates of acquisitions.

The fair value of property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments was increased by HK$407,699,000 and HK$16,727,000,
respectively, and deferred tax liability was increased by
HK$106,107,000 at the respective dates of acquisitions. There
was a corresponding reduction in goodwill of HK$179,037,000.
Non-controlling interest was increased by HK$139,282,000. The
profit for 2009 was also decreased by HK$13,800,000 as a result
of additional depreciation expenses (net of deferred taxation of
HK$4,600,000).
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—EET-_A=1T—HLHFE

2. RER’ 22. OPERATING RIGHTS
FAT
HK$’000
2% COST
RZZTZThF—A—H (8%) At 1st January, 2009 (restated) 715,870
HE 54, 3 B Exchange adjustments (357)
NE Additions 18,319
U g KR = 28 Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity 2,477
ZZETNFF+=ZRA=1+—H At 31st December, 2009 736,309
Eﬁ.ﬂg Exchange adjustments 10,479
NE Additions 17,335
U BB B A A Acquisition of a subsidiary 17,325
e g R 22 Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity 22,387
R-_E—ZFEF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2010 803,835
oy AMORTISATION
RZZTZThF—A—AH (8%) At 1st January, 2009 (restated) 76,307
HE 54, 38 B Exchange adjustments 18
F RS Provided for the year 23,817
—ETNF+=ZRA=1—H At 31st December, 2009 100,142
ERE}%%&‘ Exchange adjustments 907
FRRME Provided for the year 28,665
RZE—TF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2010 129,714
REE CARRYING AMOUNT
RZE—ZTF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2010 674,121
RZTETZNF+=ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2009 636,167
RZTThF—H—H At 1st January, 2009 639,563

P E BN KSR LB AR
fhET A B FH10E50F MY -

The operating rights for city pipeline network are amortised over
the estimated useful life of 10 to 50 years on a straight-line basis.

REBETRERMER S ERN T
21T R IHE K 0 S R AR KA )2 48
HEMRSEESMHN &) -

The Group tests for impairment of operating rights as part of the
CGU of sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products as
disclosed in Note 21.

ERRRERERDE —Z - TEFRH
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HE-_Z-—TF+-A=1t—RHLFE

—E-BF ZTTNF ZTTNF
+=A=+—-H +t=ZA=+—H —A—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
FET FHIT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(E2%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
REEM K Construction materials 226,420 132,636 42,983
2URY SR Finished goods 10,548 27,853 12,967
236,968 160,489 55,950
—g-®F —TTNF  —TTNF
+=A=+—-8 +=—A=+—H —H—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
THExT FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(E%)) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
FEUE 5 AR 3K Trade receivables 508,688 136,279 74,398
W RERR Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (9,079) - (2,623)
499,609 136,279 71,775
BRI - He &k Other receivables, deposits and
B R prepayments 1,046,017 532,115 280,841
1,545,626 668,394 352,616

AEBETEESEPNREY—K&
RABOREIOK - H AR TP BRI
HA LR E180K * BIFREHNR 5
ENMEEHRRTE - SHBEREREES
MEWE ZEX (BREEKREE) ©
HREHARERER BB RE DA
T

0— 90K 0 - 90 days
91 — 180k 91 — 180 days
180K A = Over 180 days

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to
90 days to its trade customers, which may be extended to 180
days for selected customers depending on their trade volume
and settlement terms. The aged analysis of trade receivables,
including notes receivables, net of allowance for doubtful debts,
is presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period as follows:

—E-ZF —ZETNF —ZETNF
+=ZHA=+—-H +tZ-HA=+—H —A—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
FERT FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(E351) (E51)

(Restated) (Restated)

417,451 120,177 59,337
50,446 7,455 5,966
31,712 8,647 6,472
499,609 136,279 71,775
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—HLFE

AREER-_Z—ZTF+-_A=+—H
MEWE SRR BIERESZ A MR
& 590K H 1 A 11 H 1 FE Uk T BB A 7
D&% B FX1825,455,0008 T (=&
THE+-HA=+—H : 6,680,000/
TRZZETNF—A—RB T8 -

RZZFE—ZTF+=-_A=+—HB" ' &
SENERESERBIENRRE B
HA i 8 oK 1 /9 78 U BR 5X82,158,000
BT (ZEENAF+ZA=+—8:
16,102,000 T — TN F— A —
H : 12,438,000/ L) - R EH A
WERARREERNES - F it I &
HZEREELRE - AEEWER
ZERWERRIF A RS

91 — 180K 91 - 180 days
180K A = Over 180 days

NEERKRRE S AR E R - AN&E
B EEEANERRRAREERD
EEAMERTEEAIMES - i
RASEEERERTF  BWEEAR
SHER - @it - KARAREER ALK
EEAEPERRTIEHNRRRE
Sh - BASTTIEREERAE -

REEBERIES T EB AR EESR
B (B FE W AR 5K & 3£9,079,000/% 7T
(ZBETAF+-_A=1+—8:TET
M—ZEZEAF—HF—H : 2,623,000
TL) o A EEHALEEETBEENKIER
i B R R 8 o AN B0 R BE R SRR
BRRIS AR R -

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

Included in the Group’s trade receivables as at 31st December,
2010 are amounts due from minority shareholders of subsidiaries
amounting to HK$25,455,000 (31st December, 2009: HK$6,680,000
and 1st January, 2009: nil), which are aged within 90 days based
on the invoice date and not yet past due.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables as at 31st December,
2010 are receivables of HK$82,158,000 (31st December, 2009:
HK$16,102,000 and 1st January, 2009: HK$12,438,000) which are
past due at the reporting date but are regarded as not impaired
as there has not been a significant change in the credit standing
of the debtors. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
receivables.

—E-2F —ETNF —ETNF
+=—A=+-—-H +t=ZA=+—H —H—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
FET FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&31) (&351)

(Restated) (Restated)

50,446 7,455 5,966

31,712 8,647 6,472

82,158 16,102 12,438

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
considers whether there has been adverse change in the credit
standing of the debtor from the date credit was initially granted.
The concentration of credit risk is limited as the Group’s customer
base comprises of a large number of customers. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company believe that there is no further credit
provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts
already provided for in the consolidated financial statements.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually
impaired receivables due from certain debtors with an aggregate
amount of HK$9,079,000 (31st December, 2009: nil and 1st
January, 2009: HK$2,623,000) which have either been placed
under liquidation or are in financial difficulties. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these receivables.
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24. ERE SRR EMERR 24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25.

(#&) (Continued)

RIRBEEE Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts
—E—ZF —ETNF
2010 2009
FExT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
w—A—8 At 1st January = 2,623
BERRERE Impairment loss recognised 9,961 =
R 7571 AT UL [B] & 5% TR A 85 Amounts written off as uncollectible (882) (2,623)
R+=ZA=+—8H At 31st December 9,079 —

YW ENEEFEEHNIRE 25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR

IE CONTRACT WORK
—E—ZF —ETNF —ETNF
+=—A=+—-8 +t=—A=+—H —HA—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
FHExT T FAExT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
EENA LKA Contract costs incurred plus profits - - =
B #5808 £l recognised 503,583 337,683 292,308
o TIREERR Less: Progress billings (1,656,581) (831,456) (548,024)
(1,152,998) (493,773) (255,716)
BEMMEITON Analysis for reporting purposes as:
EREFALHIRZAE Amounts due from customers
for contract work 378,633 253,897 203,671
ENEFAHITERE Amounts due to customers for
contract work (1,531,631) (747,670) (459,387)
(1,152,998) (493,773) (255,716)
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26.

27.

FE U FE A B 2 Y B X A
REEZRQFNRE

BR—_ZEENF+-_A=1+—BEHN
5] Z B} B A 513X 1E1,600,000,000/% 7T
(ZHIBEREER - REBRITRZER
BERMEF R 2% B RER—F&
BE) oh - FTAE M FIE D EIEA -
R B RAREREER -

RITHER CEBRTHE
AN
RITHEBETIHERETE25% (=
PRAE  BE2.25%) i 8 -

R-B-—ZTF+-_A=+—H R
TEREBT (ZTETAEF+-A=
+—HB:EEBETR=_ZZTTAFE—A
— H : 740,0007% 7T) B FR1T
BB R H & iR & K%14,875,0007%8
T(ZEZhF+=-_A=+—8":
19,262,000 T —TTNFE— A —
B:Z%x) BEERERAEN—EX
RREEEREMNE S RFOER -
BHEFRITERET S FEFL04%E
225% (ZZEZENF  0.7%E1.4%)

TR e

ERRIRERERDE —Z - TFEFRH

26.

27.

BHE_ZT-TE+_A=+—HILEE

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES AND AN INTERMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY

Except for an amount due to a fellow subsidiary of HK$1,600,000,000
at 31st December, 2009 which was unsecured, interest bearing at
HIBOR plus 1.2% per annum and repayable after one year, all other
amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

BANK BALANCES/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from nil
to 2.5% (2009: nil to 2.25%) per annum.

At 31st December, 2010, bank deposits of nil (31st December,
2009: nil and 1st January, 2009: HK$740,000) are pledged to
banks for utility services and HK$14,875,000 (31st December,
2009: HK$19,262,000 and 1st January, 2009: nil) are pledged as
security for trade payable to a supplier of natural gas. The pledged
bank deposits carry interest at market rates ranging from 0.4% to
2.25% (2009: 0.7% to 1.4%) per annum.
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The aged analysis of trade payables is presented based on invoice
date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

—EB-ZF —ETNF —ETNF

+= HE+ B +=A=+-8 ~A—H

31.1 010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009

=F5§7_c FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

(E31) (&%)

(Restated) (Restated)

0— 90K 0 - 90 days 534,495 370,110 119,468
91 — 180K 91 - 180 days 97,338 27,919 16,694
180K A Over 180 days 264,249 100,083 14,170
896,082 498,112 150,332

BENTHEEHA7TAE180K - K
SECHITEHBERERERRE - AR
RREBEERRIIE R -

R-ZT—ZTFE+-_A=1+—HWHEM
FE 5 5% B 35 ' = %4 301,371,323,000
BT (ZEEAF+=_A=+—8":
1,038,572,000/8 ;L k. — T T 1, F —
B — B : 628,319,000/ jT) » H &
&*w&wﬁam% IVEﬁER)EFfﬂ

HBIEREK B AR DB
17,423,000;’57@(_--"7L¢+ A
=+—H:186,0008 T —ZEZT h
F—H—H: &8

The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 7
to 180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.

Included in other payables as at 31st December, 2010 are receipts
in advance from customers of HK$1,371,323,000 (31st December,
2009: HK$1,038,572,000 and 1st January, 2009: HK$628,319,000)
of which the construction work on gas connection projects has not
yet commenced. The receipts in advance include advances from
minority shareholders of subsidiaries amounting to HK$17,423,000
(31st December, 2009: HK$186,000 and 1st January, 2009: nil).
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RZZE—ZFTF+=-_A=+—80 BN
1# 81 $64,540,000/8 70 (Z T T NF
+=—A=+—8 : 14,371,000 T &
—ZTTAFE—A—HB:ZTHL) £
EHERNERAERRENER - A

ERBEBEYE  BE MREASER

MREBRHTEES -

AEEMBITREMEERER

AT EREE -
—FR

ZR—FENBBHRF

ZRMEENERAF

ZRAF

BmEHREZR—FE
TERBRFENAEE,
E# AR B RIEE R
(RBEEMT) HRT
EXMEEE

B OREBBEMTIN—FA
B iR IR

FERBEEMTN—F&
BIEM IR

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

Bank loans
Other loans

Secured
Unsecured

The Group’s bank and
other borrowings
are repayable as follows:

Within one year
More than one year,

but not exceeding two years
More than two years,

but not exceeding five years
More than five years

Carrying amount of bank loans that
are repayable within more than

one year but not exceeding
two years from the end of
reporting period but contain

a repayment on demand clause
(shown under current liabilities)

Less: Amount due within one year
shown under current liabilities

Amount due after one year shown

as non-current liabilities

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

—E-%F
+=-A=+—H
31.12.2010
FHET
HK$’000

5,442,998
182,840

5,625,838

5,625,838
5,625,838

193,068

22,866

5,045,725
64,179

5,325,838

300,000
5,625,838

(493,068)

5,132,770

plant and equipment and construction of gas pipelines.

“TTNEF
+-RB=+—H
31.12.2009
FHET
HK$'000
(&=51)
(Restated)

2,691,034
40,419

2,731,453

57,923
2,673,530

2,731,453

1,039,653

1,321,277

56,445
14,078

2,431,453

300,000
2,731,453

(1,339,653)

1,391,800

At 31st December, 2010, government grants of HK$64,540,000
(81st December, 2009: HK$14,371,000 and 1st January, 2009:
nil) mainly represent subsidies granted by PRC governmental
authorities for the purpose of financing the acquisition of property,

—EThF
—HA—H
1.1.2009
THET
HK$'000
(&731)

(Restated)

76,105
74,587

150,692

150,692
150,692
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(Continued)
REEBIRITREMEE NGRS Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are
I set out below:
BERFEH
Effective
interest rate —E-ZF —ZETNF
per annum 2010 2009
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(E=%1)
(Restated)
ELEE Fixed rate borrowings:
HIEMAREIRITER Secured RMB bank loans 6.12% - 57,923
I A REIBITER Unsecured RMB bank loans 4.62% - 5.4% 206,196 48,269
IR A REEMERR Unsecured RMB other loans 0.75% — 5% 165,456 20,369
EEEEEE Total fixed rate borrowings 371,652 126,561
FEEE Floating rate borrowings:
IR ARBIRITER Unsecured RMB bank loans
LR B A RRITER at the People’s Bank of
R o) China Base Rate 4.62% — 4.78% 244,301 161,842
ERBTIRITER Unsecured HKD bank loans
BEEMEBRT at margin plus HIBOR
REFBETE 1.64% 4,992,500 2,423,000
ERREUTEMER Unsecured Euro other loans
EREARBITER at 0.3% over the People’s
F=900.3%E0 F =5 2 Bank of China Base Rate 1.8% 17,385 20,050
FREEBE Total floating rate borrowings 5,254,186 2,604,892
BB Total borrowings 5,625,838 2,731,453
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—HLFE

RZE—ZFTF+-_A=+—HFi A Included in other long-term liabilities at 31st December, 2010 is an
E #bh & By & & &9 ;X 18 /57,691,000 amount of HK$57,691,000 (31st December, 2009: HK$61,621,000
BT (ZEEAF+ZA=+—8: and 1st January, 2009: HK$59,172,000), representing non-current
61,621,000 TR —TTNF—A— portion of payables for acquisition of operating rights for city
H : 59,172,000 7T) + /4 WS W T pipeline network.
EBREEEERNRIERHIERD
B D o
W B ot T B SE AR AR A S R FE N KR Y The payables for acquisition of operating rights for city pipeline
FEEERSNAT ¢ network are repayable as follows:
—E-ZF —ZTNF —ZETNF
+=B=+—-8B +=—A=+—H —H—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
FER THET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (E31)
(Restated) (Restated)
( 170 —ER Within one year 8,747 4,555 3,408
" LR —FETBBMF More than one year,
but not exceeding two years 4,913 4,555 3,408
EANGERERN i Es More than two years,
but not exceeding five years 37,876 33,163 10,224
ZREF More than five years 14,902 23,903 45,540
66,438 66,176 62,580
B B ABATRETA Less: Amount due within one year
ERE SRR K included in trade and other
HitvE R —F A payables shown
BB FRIE under current liabilities (8,747) (4,555) (3,408)
ERBEBEMRN—FER Amount due after one year shown
FH R I8 as non-current liabilities 57,691 61,621 59,172
ZERBEDNETRREREAE - T The present values were based on cash flows discounted using
FERMITEETERNEFRRRI0FER effective interest rate of 5.9% (2009: 5.9%) per annum for a term
BERFHNE5IE (ZTTNF 5.9 of 30 years.
E) -

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE—
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EEFT_A=F+—HLLFE

The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

&t
Total
FET
HK$'000

(141,789)
42
48,436
(94,553)

(23,360)

(211,224)

(896)
(4,595)
2,057

2,899

(211,559)

—ZETNF
—H—H
1.1.2009
FAExT
HK$'000
(E51)

(Restated)

1,312
(143,101)

years:
AAE
BAHFEMH Hity
MERBHTE Withholding ERER
Accelerated ReE tax on Other
tax Operating undistributed temporary
depreciation rights profits differences
TAET T TET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
WZZETHEFE—H—H At 1st January, 2009
(271) (restated) 1,426 (143,215) = =
[ i % Exchange adjustments 2 40 - -
FREE Credit for the year 6,433 6,099 = 35,904
YE—EHBAR  Acquisition of a subsidiary (94,750) = - 197
WA FIEHIEEE  Acquisition of jointly
controlled entities (32,115) - - 8,755
RZTTNF At 31st December, 2009
+-—A=+—H (119,004) (137,076) = 44,856
0 i R Exchange adjustments (2,597) (121) - 1,822
FERER /(X Credit (charge) for the year 20,430 6,192 (30,000) (1,217)
Wi — F'EJMTJ;A Acquisition of a subsidiary - - - 2,257
W REHIER Acquisition of
jointly controlled entities 3,989 - - (1,090)
R-B-—TF At 31st December, 2010
+=-A=+-H (97,182) (131,005) (30,000) 46,628
M R_E-—TF+_A=+—H  Hfs Note: Other temporary differences at 31st December, 2010 are mainly arisen
ERNEETZEHARMREREEDN from receipts in advance from customers on gas connection projects
BEER (RRSEERD) EL - which are taxable on a cash basis.
PERREMDTAT Analysed for reporting purpose as:
—E-ZF —ZETNF
+=A=+—-H +=—A=+—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
FE T FHTT
HK$’000 HK$'000
=7y
(Restated)
IEIET BB B Deferred tax assets 122,015 51,579
FIERIAE 5 Deferred tax liabilities (333,574) (262,803)
(211,559) (211,224)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HEz—

R-ZTE—ZTHF+-_A=+—H" &
&= B & oK ) A $¢ 18 £518130,735,000
BLT(ZEENF+ZA=+—8:
53,291,0007% 7T ) 7] K 4 K A8 F)
B A 2R 2R ) SRR B DA RE SE - dRIE A
HEREBERRECERBEE - N =
T—LETFER_FTNFF+_A=1+—
AMBEBEEERRFERERFNA
EIH o

R=ZZ— T¢+ A=+—8 &
MAERECEH EAGOHRE A
GIE Y2 ;JK%%IJ%E%E@%%E%E%
504,548,000 T (= T T L F:
649,031,000/ 7T) ° AR AR B g2 1%
FEREENRRGRAZEEEE
Al B A5 SR AT BN & B 48 - MR BL X
LEEERAAME -

—EEF+_A=1+—HALLFE

At 31st December, 2010, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$130,735,000 (31st December, 2009: HK$53,291,000) available
to offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The tax losses at 31st December, 2010 and
2009 will expire within 5 years from the year of origination.

At 31st December, 2010, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$504,548,000 (2009: HK$649,031,000). No liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is
in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

[k G RHEE
Number of shares Nominal value
ZE-Bf “TTNE —B-BF “TTNE
+=R=t-B +ZA=+—-HA +=A=+-B +ZA=1—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 31.12.2010 31.12.2009
TET THT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FA%0. 108 TR Shares of HK$0.10 each
oy Authorised:
m—A—BEk+=-A=+—H At 1stJanuary and
31st December 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
BEETRER Issued and fully paid:
R—A—H At 1st January 1,414,416,710 1,414,416,710 141,442 141,442
AT RERERTRR Shares issued upon exercise of
share options 24,000 - 2 -
FRERD (Fisa) Placing of shares (Note a) 230,000,000 - 23,000 -
RAFEREHERE Issue of shares upon combination
BIIRG (Wafb) of entities under common
control (Note b) 186,654,223 - 18,665 -
Wt=A=t-A At 31st December 1,831,004,033  1414,416,710 183,109 141,442

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH



BHE—

T—FFE+_A=+—HLF

EE%%%“hjxﬁEﬁ g
BEETROEERS#A -

GEE

(@)

(b)

RZZE—ZEFALA+EEBE AR
A By B # 42 % A ")Splendid Time
Investments Inc. ([Splendid
TimeJ) RARARERERER R

kR BURERERES
1% [%10.75/% 7t fi2 &230,000,000
RIRB D & TBILARA © RBIF
fid & N RBE 7% - Splendid Timei?
f%230,000,0007% 2 fid & % 7 2 B 48
& #9357 AR 1n - B & AR 1D B9 T 13 5K 18
(MBBEXEBERRBARIAHER) &
FERARBEEE Z B TR e R
R HET -

BRER-ZT-—ZFFNLAT=BF
YUWEEHZ AEEURE
2,221,155,0007% 7t B 77 {5 Wi & 2%
HI100% M Az - Z A BB BRHE
K Z 172N 2 51186,654,2230 X (B A%
MEE - REROR=-F—ZF+A
—+HBARERI1.98 T T AT -

fra BB R M e
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements A

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 #HE-ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—HILFE

The new shares issued during the year ended 31st December,
2010 rank pari passu in all respects with the existing shares in
issue.

Notes:

(a)  On 14th September, 2010, Splendid Time Investments Inc. (“Splendid
Time”), the Company’s immediate holding company, and the Company
entered into a placing and subscription agreement with the placing
agent pursuant to which the placing agent placed 230,000,000 existing
shares at a price of HK$10.75 per share owned by Splendid Time to
certain independent placees. Pursuant to the placing and subscription
agreement, Splendid Time subscribed for 230,000,000 new shares
equivalent to the number of the placing shares. The proceeds from the
placing of shares, net of professional fees and out-of-pocket expenses,
will be used principally for acquisition of more downstream city gas
distribution businesses in the PRC.

(b) Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement entered into on 13th
September, 2010, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in Mega
Fair from Powerfaith for a consideration of HK$2,221,155,000. The
consideration was satisfied in full by the allotment and issue of
186,654,223 consideration shares in the Company. The consideration
shares were issued on 25th October, 2010 at HK$11.9 per share.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—HLFE

RZEE—F+—A=+H" On 26th November, 2001, the Company terminated the share
AARRIER—NAmE+A+ option scheme adopted on 15th October, 1994 and adopted a
T B ERAR ) B AR AR 51 B 0 BR AR F new share option scheme (the “Scheme”). On 21st February,
PR R El (TazarEll) - K= 2002, upon approval of the Company’s shareholders, the
TE-F-_A=+—H  ARH Company amended the Scheme to widen the scope of
SRR B RIS 4T 8l - #5 participants that are eligible to participate in the Scheme. On
LR B2 EZ G AR 2 H 5th March, 2008, the Company terminated the Scheme.

ENHE - N_TTN\F=AHR
B ARRIERIEZAE -

ZETE|E B2 EE N A RME The purpose of the Scheme was to promote dedication by its
LERMYEEB2EER DB NN participants and to encourage its participants to perform their
NaEl L ASEEEREZ - 2 best in achieving the goals of the Group. The participants
HELARESS2ERATNAE are any directors (or any persons proposed to be appointed
B E KB A RMEMES (sk as such) and employees of each member of the Group; any
ERERWEERESE) T discretionary object of a discretionary trust established by
EE: BAKEEMEMKER any employees or directors of each member of the Group;

AMEBRESTK LM EEET any executives or employees of any business consultants,

( 174 NEMEEETEHR  AEE(T business partners, professionals and other advisers to each

" AKX B AR EFER - %% member of the Group (or any persons proposed to be
- FRERHE (B R A (R (] AT appointed as such); any substantial shareholders of the
AEBSEE (HEMEREEE member of the Group; any associates of the director or
RITBABEREEE)  A&E substantial shareholders of the Company; and any employees
KERBNEMEZRE : AR of the Company’s substantial shareholders or any employees
RIEZNEERFAEMEBEA of such substantial shareholders’ subsidiaries or associated
I ARARE EZBREAEM companies, as absolutely determined by the Board.

BEXZELIZRRNNBAR
KSR BOERES ©

RIBZET 8 T8 ARAE IR e W4 7A The period within which the shares must be taken up under
BENIRO R TEERRK L E an option of the Scheme shall not be later than 10 years from
AR ARBRT 14 - WERTER the date the option is granted. There is no minimum period
AR ERITE AT LB R A M58 2 for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.
R EREAETELE=_TN\R An amount of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the option
WEENIL 1B T - BREER within 28 days from its date of grant. The subscription price
T =FFHEmE  (I)BER is the highest of (i) the closing price of the share as stated in
HEBROHERZMEARESR the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
FiT R B9 U i M8 (i) 228 A AR A grant, (ii) a price being the average of the closing prices of
B 2 BATR E % % B R G5 E 8 the share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
R e B MERAHBHFHRE sheet on the five business days immediately preceding the
B K& Hm EE o ¥R E date of grant and (iii) the nominal value of a share. The
Rl =2 —F+—A=+~ Scheme is valid for 10 years from 26th November, 2001. No
HEAES  BHt+F - —_F—— further options may be granted pursuant to the Scheme after
F+—AZ+HARTEBERE 25th November, 2011.

AT &R IR
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 #HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

4. LR XIS (& 34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(i) ADAURKEHENBRESTS (i) The Company’s equity-settled share option schemes
(%) (Continued)
ERE—RARELERETE Share options generally either become fully vested and
AEHEEB NRTE AR ENE exercisable within a period of 10 years immediately after the
HEERZ=FNERE - date of grant or become vested over a period of time up to a

maximum of three years after the acceptance of a grant.

AR ARERKRESRBRITHS Options granted to a grantee become lapsed if the grantee
HERREE - A FEZAN ceased to be an eligible participant before the options
FE AR A SRR © become vested.
BEZTEF B ES e T Details of the movements of share options granted under the
BT Scheme are as follows:
R-Z—-ZF R-ZEB-2F
—B—H +=B=+-H
THEE B RATE RERTHE i RATHE
Outstanding Exercised Outstanding 175
Exercise at during at
price 1.1.2010 the year 31.12.2010
BT
HK$
BEBEH BREZE
Date of grant Number of share options
ZZTFWANHA 9.4.2002 8.20 210,000 (24,000) 186,000
—ZTTMFE-A+=H 13.1.2004 9.06 2,000 - 2,000
212,000 (24,000) 188,000
AIRELRITE Exercisable at the end
of the year 188,000

EFHITEE (BT)  Weighted average
exercise price (HKS$) 8.21 8.20 8.21
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—HLFE

R=ZBEIF

—BA—BR

—BEIEF

+=H=+-—8H

e RATBEHY

BREHE

Number of

share options

{7fEE outstanding at
Exercise 1.1.2009 and

B BEH Date of grant price 31.12.2009
BT
HK$
—TT-FMAIA 9.4.2002 8.20 210,000
(“'176 —EENE-A+=H 13.1.2004 9.06 2,000
212,000
Al R FAR1T{E Exercisable at the end of the year 212,000
hn#EFEH1TEE (BT) Weighted average exercise price (HK$) 8.21
HE—_Z—ZF+_-_A=+—H In respect of the share options exercised during the year
IHFE - ITEBRERITERR ended 31st December, 2010, the weighted average share
EFEHRER11.188 T ° F price at the date of exercise was HK$11.18. The options
BB ARITE BN T A LF outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average
HmMEFHHERIIFE (ZZEE remaining contractual life of 1.3 years (2009: 2.3 years).
NE : 2.3F) -
BE-_Z-ZTEN_TTHF+ During the two years ended 31st December, 2010 and 2009,
—A=1t—HItMEFE r K& the Group has not recognised any expense relating to equity-
B READ T AR S E B E settled share-based payment transactions in respect of the
RRFEIW AR D TR S share options granted by the Company.
RN -
R-ZZEENFE+=_A—H" K On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted the restricted
N BB AR PR I AR 1 22 B =T 2 share award scheme (“Restricted Share Award Scheme”) as
([PR&ERR D 2EBI=TEl]) @ VEA an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
BAWSENE TR - LER continual operation and development of the Group.

REEFBEELRER -

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH



IRIEIR B MR A BE AT &) - AR
ABRARMDEHEEATBARSE
EFEIANBRERTHEEE - X
UWERTARBERERE &H
ERNEBEBREERERL
S 817G R R A B R R 1 B £
BBGRAA R R T 8154 A 5
BETRAZE% @ A ™5 BE
R B R o AR R IR A
BREDAT 81 P X T 5 E 1R & AR I
RO ERAE MEBBALR
AR B #HITARA20.5% °

RZZ—ZF=A+H ' AR
BE IR I A £ R B R B (R
71 SRR B R R 6D 1F
AR o AR AR RIRR I 1EA
0 BB AT &I (F 1 @K - KA
HE B EFAREORHIMERD
FIPTIS SRR ©

AR R IR 151 1 B A 2R B =T &1 )
BEBRESRLRHIERD

REBE-ZTAF+=A=+
—BLEFE ERARTHEN
F B4 & IR3.638 LB A
70,000,0008% & 17 + & 58 A
253,999,000/ L (= T — =
F T o

REBEE-_Z—ZF+=-_A=1+
—BHIEFE  EXEANTHE
HNEBRNMN7TIVBE TR TS L E
1,818,000f% & 7 (= &= = N
FoE)  HERSERMOIAE
I8 521,290,00058 TT © FT 15
FEEPEFETAEENE TR
B MERERGE B ARE
ERAEAX (ERFANEER
F) o P& P A B2 BT 15 SR8 2 [
H)7%814,690,000/8 T 5F AR E
A o

AR IR R 1) 14 B A 2R R =1 &1 )
SERESRHRBEBIERD

RE SR MR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HILFE

Pursuant to the Restricted Share Award Scheme, existing
shares of the Company will be purchased by the trustee
from the market out of cash contributed by the Group and
be held in trust for the selected employees until such shares
are vested with the selected employees. No restricted shares
will be granted if the aggregate number of restricted shares
awarded throughout the duration of the scheme to be in
excess of the 5% of the issued share capital of the Company
at the adoption date of the scheme. The maximum number
of restricted shares which may be awarded to a selected
employee under the Restricted Share Award Scheme shall
not exceed 0.5% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Restricted
Share Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted
shares will be awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds
generated from disposal of the restricted shares held by
the trustee for the awards made under the Restricted Share
Award Scheme.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employee
pursuant to the Restricted Share Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31st December, 2009, 70,000,000
shares were purchased by the trustee from the market at an
average price of approximately HK$3.63 per share, with an
aggregate amount of HK$253,999,000 (2010: nil).

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, 1,818,000
shares (2009: nil) were disposed of by the trustee to the
market at an average price of approximately HK$11.71
per share. The proceeds from disposal of these shares
amounted to HK$21,290,000. The whole amount of the
proceeds was distributed to certain employees of the Group,
with an equivalent expense recognised in the consolidated
income statement as employee benefits during the year. The
difference of HK$14,690,000 between the cost of the shares
and the proceeds was credited to retained profits.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees
pursuant to the Restricted Share Award Scheme.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R E | A B 2 h0AR SR BB R RRIZ 5
SEPI B R ERHEFE S ([RERE
RRBERT &) - A RIBER IR TE
SERGIRZHEBIEAESES ([58
BeFE)) ZEFEMEERR
SENEENHIGE  YHXTAE
B WEENRBESAEKIZATELL
PR R INRBET B E - BIFT
BEBRREERARERNRES%E
M2meEetE MR _ETTF
TZA-BRZEMEREENHAE
HiESIR2 BB E -

BERAREFEREHEERANE
EZREEAFENHEEN L (R
FHBREENAEE RS FHIME)
A ELHER - fHfE S £ 7 EE 4R
AR R SOR KRB 5T 8 - B3R U
B4 TR & A R 0 OR AN £R [ A RO g
Ao FR - BRI B A ORI
TR (ZFThF  E|) -

ERBEEFEKNETH  AEEE
hA BA1E 8 Hr A9 5% [ 5% &1 8 4 it
R A RS TTE R EHs%M

e
A °©

RZBE—ZFR_ZFENF+=_A=
+—H  WEEEEAXLKERTA
EFR AR PR EFE HFE(T E3K -

AE B BREE ST BT B E
BBEREERARENFEHKE -
AEBAZRGFENANEEBD LR
RRERMEBELHR - KEMEHE
RAEH - REBHNZERAKEHG
B — B EREHIREAMHRK o

EHRRERERAT — T THEFRH

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Ordinance. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior
to the establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of
staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme,
whereas all new employees joining the Group on or after 1st
December, 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner in respect of the year
(2009: nil).

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which contribution is matched
by the employees.

At 31st December, 2010 and 2009, the amount of forfeited
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
future years is insignificant.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified
contributions.



RZZEZNF—ANE » AEEMNUR
&R EAR#265,000,0007T (HHER
#7298,440,000/8 7T ) [ — 3B 5 =
WERZEBRIAR AT (EEH
EREREEBEBREE) AR
H51% - AR S EAREEALR -
RUREE B - RIBEEE BRI
HANEEFERYEEEENGENE
£ 5275,610,0008 T > REZE -
—ZEE+-_A=+—HLEE B
BrIHAEEFENAFERR LT
BB o NHIFART 3 B BFT
HEROERSHEMEZBPAZE -

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

RE SR MR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

On 9th January, 2009, the Group acquired 51% equity interest
in the registered capital of Wuhan CR Gas, which is engaged in
sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines, from an
independent third party for a cash consideration of RMB265,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$298,440,000). The transaction
has been accounted for using the acquisition method. At the date
of the acquisition, goodwill of HK$275,610,000 was determined
provisionally based on the net identifiable assets of Wuhan CR Gas.
During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the identification and
determination of fair values of the net identifiable assets acquired
has been completed. The following adjustments have been made
to retrospectively adjust the provisional amounts recognised at the
date of acquisition.

FAUEE B 5
ERZALHE
(HEEE)
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition AFEBE
(provisional Fair value AFE
basis) adjustments Fair values
FHT FHIT FHIT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&E31)) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
B U BB BB A B Al 3% 7 Net identifiable assets of
BEFME : the subsidiaries acquired:
L E YN L] Property, plant and equipment 230,647 379,000 609,647
TR A RIE Prepaid lease payments 1,770 = 1,770
FEIERIBE B Deferred tax assets 197 - 197
FE Inventories 5,072 - 5,072
EWE SER R EMEYWTT  Trade and other receivables 64,224 = 64,224
WRITHEBRIRS Bank balances and cash 29,698 = 29,698
BN E FEFRLREMERMNTI  Trade and other payables (131,560) = (131,560)
EREFPEHIIERIR Amounts due to customers
for contract work (48,875) - (48,875)
FEfTFRIE Taxation payable (1,822) = (1,822)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (103,367) - (103,367)
HttREAE Other long-term liabilities (1,218) = (1,218)
BIETIRAE Deferred tax liabilities = (94,750) (94,750)
44,766 284,250 329,016
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 BHE_ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—HILFE

FAT

HK$'000

NBeZ OB EERE Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 298,440

hn o FEERRRERS (AREM T M49%E%s)  Plus: Non-controlling interests (49% in Wuhan Gas) 161,218

B BEREREE Less: Net assets acquired (329,016)

AWEmEENHE Goodwill arising on acquisition 130,642
WENBARMNE e KRS E Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents

R FEST in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries:

BENBEeRE Cash consideration paid (298,440)

FriSiRITA SRR & Bank balances and cash acquired 29,698

(268,742)

WERAME—ZTTAF+=_A=1+—
HEARM - WRE S EHASEEEBER
st F B B Bt 9 51 £191,134,00078 7T
11,385,000/ 7T °

The acquiree contributed HK$191,134,000 and HK$11,385,000 to
the Group’s turnover and profit for the period between the date of
acquisition and 31st December, 2009.

R-EZTHALE=ZA=AK_ZZTh
FtA—HB ZEENURSBR
B A K #64,900,0007C (18 & 7 4
73,684,0007% L) [ME L5 =7 5 5l
WEEBENRRARAR ([BE@E
MR ) (AifE RN EERRERA

On 3rd March, 2009 and 1st July, 2009, the Group acquired
70% and 95% equity interests in the registered capital of
BEBERRAR AR (“formerly know as BMNEBMERBRAA")
(“Nantong CR Gas”) and #/KZEEMRBER2AF (“Hengshui CR
Gas”), respectively, which are engaged in sales of liquefied gas
and connection of gas pipelines, from independent third parties for

A REREBRRBERAR ([EK
FERR] REHERCREERS
REE) W E A #70%K95%M

total consideration of RMB64,900,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$73,684,000). The transactions have been accounted for using
the acquisition method.
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Amounts

recognised

at the date of

acquisition

FET

HK$'000

UM E A R Al R & EFE
M - BB RRE

RITHERRIAS

Net identifiable assets of the subsidiaries acquired:
17,605
75,501

Property, plant and equipment
Bank balances and cash

93,106
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010
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TET
HK$'000
Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 73,684
Plus: Non-controlling interests (30% in Nantong
CR Gas and 5% in Hengshui CR Gas)
19,422
Less: Net assets acquired (93,106)
Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries:
Cash consideration paid (73,684)
Bank balances and cash acquired 75,501
1,817

The carrying amounts of the net identifiable assets of the acquirees
were approximate to their fair values at the respective dates of
acquisitions.

The acquirees contributed HK$23,733,000 and losses of
HK$2,877,000 to the Group’s turnover and profit for the period
between the respective dates of acquisitions and 31st December,
2009.

On 27th August, 2010, the Group acquired 43.18% equity interest
in Zhengzhou Gas, which is engaged in sales of natural gas,
pressure control equipment and gas appliances, construction of
gas pipelines and provision of renovation services of gas pipelines,
and 100% equity interest in FBERMRTERAE (“Nanyang
Gas”) from Zhengzhou Gas Group Co., Ltd., a government-related
entity, for total consideration of RMB452,875,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$524,482,000). Upon the completion of
acquisition of 43.18% equity interest in Zhengzhou Gas, China
Resources Gas (China) Investment Limited (“CR Gas Investment”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, and the parties acting in
concert with it are required to make a mandatory conditional cash
offer for all the domestic shares and H shares in Zhengzhou Gas
(the “Offer”) in compliance with the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers
and Mergers.
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In September 2010, the Group received acceptances in respect
of 3.94% equity interest in H shares and 9.75% equity interest in
domestic shares of Zhengzhou Gas and the offer and acceptances
of the Offer by the shareholders became unconditioned and is
irrevocable. The transfer of 3.94% equity interest in H shares
to CR Gas Investment has been completed by 31st December,
2010 for a cash consideration of RMB64,879,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$75,138,000) while the transfer of 9.75% equity
interest in domestic shares will be made to a fellow subsidiary of
the Company, which is outstanding and pending for approvals from
the relevant PRC authorities.

Necessary actions have been taken by the Group and the fellow
subsidiary to effect the transfer of the legal title of the 9.75% equity
interest in domestic shares of Zhengzhou Gas. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the fellow subsidiary has the beneficial
interests in and rights over the voting power of the 9.75% equity
interest in domestic shares of Zhengzhou Gas at 31st December,
2010 as the Offer and acceptances were already unconditional
and binding on all relevant parties. In addition, pursuant to an
agreement entered into between a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group and the fellow subsidiary, the Group is able to exercise
the voting power related to the 9.75% equity interest in domestic
shares of Zhengzhou Gas. Hence, Zhengzhou Gas is controlled
by the Group and is treated as a subsidiary of the Group for the
purposes of the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31st December, 2010.

The transactions have been accounted for using the acquisition
method. The information for acquisition of Nangang Gas is
disclosed together with Zhengzhou Gas as Nangang Gas is
individually immaterial to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

Net identifiable assets of the subsidiaries acquired:

Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Interest in associates
Operating rights

Deferred tax assets
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from customers for contract work
Tax recoverable

Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables
Dividend payable

Taxation payable

Bank and other borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash
Plus: Non-controlling interests
(52.88% in Zhengzhou Gas and 49% in a
subsidiary held by Zhengzhou Gas)
Less: Net assets acquired

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries:
Cash consideration paid
Bank balances and cash acquired
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RS B 5
ERALHE
(EEE%E)
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
(provisional
basis)
FET
HK$’000

1,227,942
226,242
28,395
17,325
30,562
45,124
263,665
22,768

81
545,195
(1,037,961)
(71,402)
(29,134)
(63,366)
(28,305)

1,177,131

TETT
HK$'000

599,620

616,636
(1,177,131)

39,125

(599,620)
545,195

(54,425)
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RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

Management of the Group believes this acquisition will enable the
Group to expand its geographic coverage and products, which will
place both the Group and Zhengzhou Gas in a better position to
exploit new opportunities and growth potential in the gas industry
in the PRC.

The acquirees contributed HK$611,628,000 and HK$97,349,000 to
the Group’s turnover and profit for the period between the date of
acquisition and 31st December, 2010.

Had the acquisition of Zhengzhou Gas and Nanyang Gas been
completed on 1st January, 2010, total group revenue of the Group
for the year would have been HK$9,633,998,000, and profit for
the year would have been HK$1,101,992,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily
an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1st January, 2010, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results. In determining the pro-forma profit of
the Group had Zhengzhou Gas and Nanyang Gas been acquired
at the beginning of the current year, the directors have calculated
depreciation of plant and equipment acquired on the basis of
the fair values arising in the initial accounting for the business
combination rather than the carrying amounts recognised in the
pre-acquisition financial statements.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill
have been determined on provisional basis, awaiting the completion
of the identification of separable assets and valuation of the assets
and liabilities.

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of subsidiaries because the
costs of the combinations included control premium. In addition,
the consideration paid for the combinations effectively included
amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue
growth, future market development and the assembled workforce
of the acquirees. These benefits are not recognised separately
from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria
for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.



R-BEBHENA=ZTH KB ES
ME (BH) ARAR (AEBEHN—H
= &M E A A LA (E95,395,0007%
TREBRREERRKE —HER
THEESEERRRERAF ([
BEN| HEHEREARERER
BEHE) M E ARN46%/ AN - f7
I R AN 2 N R FR AP B EE O (R4
THENEREES 2R IHEHAK
BEANER ©

REEEREGEEWIBLRZER TR
B AT BB B A RHE

e Y S

TR

LA 5 AR T A B LR
RWREF AL ITIRFIA
&R [R) 2 i /&8 2 B R IR
RITHEBR LB

PN E 5 BR A% Ho A FE A 3R
RNEFAAITRHIA

R BRI A RIALE.
RS TR IR

BEENE (HF40(b))

M REEERRREEN
B A R IR R R

o BUEEEE

WHEE £ R oE

WEHREZESERNRS X
BeFERAFEIN
FISIRITREBERE

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

RE MRS RERMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

On 30th June, 2009, Zibo China Resources Gas (Hong Kong)
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, acquired 46%
equity interest in the registered capital of EZEBEKR AR A A
(“Zibo CR Gas”), a jointly controlled entity which is engaged in
sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines, from CR
Gas Holdings for a consideration of HK$95,395,000. The remaining
equity interests are not held by any entities under common control
of CRNC. The transaction has been accounted for using the

acquisition method.

ARG B EAG WR

AHNERREHE

Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group

FHAT
HK$'000
Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity acquired
attributable to the Group’s interest:
Property, plant and equipment 84,608
Inventories 3,254
Trade and other receivables 19,652
Amounts due from customers for contract work 510
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 98
Bank balances and cash 34,489
Trade and other payables (9,208)
Amounts due to customers for contract work (25,325)
Dividend payable to an intermediate holding company (2,233)
Taxation payable (1,000)
104,845
FHT
HK$'000
Consideration transferred (Note 40(b)) 95,395
Plus: Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries held by
Zibo CR Gas 78
Less: Net assets acquired (104,845)
Discount arising on acquisition (9,372)
Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of acquisition of jointly controlled entities:
Bank balances and cash acquired 34,489

Annual Report 2010 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

185)



(1%

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

A SRR MIEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Y 3B 2K B (7] — [ R X MY /8 A AR
HE—JHEEBE - Fit - ZFE
FRAREHERERBRATHER -

WEARE—"TZAF+-A=+—
BHIE  wRBETEASEZERRAR
s A B B BA 5 Bl /74,405,000/% 7T K&
5,798,000/ T °

MRZBZANFENA=Z1H - BEIAR
AR (AEEH—H2EKBAR) N
IR % X 267,398,000/ It A1 2 B &£ E
WHEETERRR BB AR ([HEIE
BRE]  REHER(ERRERER
EiE) M E AR E45%H AR AR RS o
BT AR A R 2 I oK B AP B R A R
FITHERNERIES EEXIER
BB EARR - RIREERH - RIBET
ERRRO A FREEFERE TS
AE Bl 5+ & &Y 4 B #7 5% /3138,393,000
BT REZE-T—ZTE+-_/A=+
—HBILFE  BRERHREEFE
WAFERRRTEDZK - T5H
B s IE B AN S S ER
EZ B -

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

The discount on acquisition arose from a bargain purchase from a
fellow subsidiary, accordingly, the discount was accounted for as
a deemed capital contribution and recognised in equity.

The acquiree contributed HK$74,405,000 and HK$5,798,000 to
the Group’s turnover and profit for the period between the date of
acquisition and 31st December, 2009.

On 30th June, 2009, Profit Dash Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group, acquired 45% equity interest in the registered capital
of T EBRA AR A A (“Zhenjiang CR Gas”), a jointly controlled
entity which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection
of gas pipelines, from CRH, for a consideration of HK$67,398,000.
The remaining equity interests are not held by any entities under
common control of CRNC. The transaction has been accounted
for using the acquisition method. At the date of the acquisition,
discount on acquisition of HK$138,393,000 was determined
provisionally based on the net identifiable assets of Zhenjiang CR
Gas. During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the identification
and determination of fair values of the net identifiable assets
acquired has been completed. The following adjustments have
been made to retrospectively adjust the provisional amounts
recognised at the date of acquisition.
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(HEEE)
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group AR EFE
(provisional Fair value ATE
basis) adjustments Fair values
FET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
REEEREGEDWE Net identifiable assets of
R HE N jointly controlled entity 187 :)
AR EEFE acquired attributable g
to the Group's interest:
ME - WEK&EE Property, plant and equipment 191,489 28,082 219,571
FERFRL R IE Prepaid lease payments 10,762 - 10,762
R Operating rights 1,004 - 1,004
RSN TS Interest in an associate 3,514 = 3,514
A HEERE Available-for-sale investments 8,755 - 8,755
FEREFRIEEE Deferred tax assets 8,929 - 8,929
T8 Inventories 6,697 - 6,697
FEWE SEREZ REMmAEIS  Trade and other receivables 50,472 = 50,472
EREFAHTRERE Amounts due from customers
for contract work 6,324 - 6,324
BEIEIFRITER Pledged bank deposits 2,555 = 2,555
RITHEBKRIRE Bank balances and cash 42,808 = 42,808
ENESERNEMERZ  Trade and other payables (72,097) - (72,097)
BNEEAHIREFE Amounts due to customers
for contract work (23,641) - (23,641)
eI Taxation payable (1,751) - (1,751)
M EEERARRE Dividend payable to an
intermediate holding company (4,136) - (4,136)
RITEE Bank borrowings (25,529) - (25,529)
RIERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (364) (7,020) (7,384)
205,791 21,062 226,853
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FET
HK$’000
Consideration transferred (Note 40(b)) 67,398
Less: Net assets acquired (226,853)
Discount arising on acquisition (159,455)
Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

in respect of acquisition of jointly controlled entities:

Bank balances and cash acquired 42,808
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The discount on acquisition arose from a bargain purchase from
an intermediate holding company, accordingly, the discount was
accounted for as a deemed capital contribution and recognised
in equity.

The acquiree contributed HK$138,274,000 and HK$23,328,000 to
the Group’s turnover and profit for the period between the date of
acquisition and 31st December, 2009.

On 1st July, 2009, CR Gas Investment acquired 40% equity interest
in the registered capital of Luzhou CR Gas, a jointly controlled
entity which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection of
gas pipelines, from an independent third party for a consideration
of HK$111,803,000. The transaction has been accounted for using
the acquisition method. At the date of the acquisition, goodwill of
HK$34,395,000 was determined provisionally based on the net
identifiable assets of Luzhou CR Gas and its subsidiaries. During
the year ended 31st December, 2010, the identification and
determination of fair values of the net identifiable assets acquired
has been completed. The following adjustments have been made
to retrospectively adjust the provisional amounts recognised at the
date of acquisition.



AR MR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements A

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 BHE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HLFE

B
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(HEEE)
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group AR EFE

(provisional Fair value ATE
basis) adjustments Fair values
FET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
(&%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
REEEREED Net identifiable assets of
U B AR P ) jointly controlled entity 189 :)
BT R A A R acquired attributable "
to the Group’s interest:
KEYHE Investment properties 4,114 - 4,114
M - BERRE Property, plant and equipment 40,237 28,699 68,936
TEFR L FIR Prepaid lease payments 3,819 16,727 20,546
AT EIRE Available-for-sale investments 358 = 358
EIERIAE B Deferred tax assets 190 - 190
FE Inventories 3,097 - 3,097
BB SERREMEWSZ  Trade and other receivables 1,619 - 1,619
RUEEA 4 TIRFE Amounts due from customers
for contract work 55,062 - 55,062
RITHEBRRIA S Bank balances and cash 26,494 = 26,494
FEREZEFEEMERT  Trade and other payables (24,231) = (24,231)
ENEEA4ITENE Amounts due to customers
for contract work (14,628) - (14,628)
JER R TR Taxation payable (4,601) - (4,601)
AR B Dividend payable (2,300) = (2,300)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (9,077) = (9,077)
R IAEE Deferred tax liabilities - (11,357) (11,357)
80,153 34,069 114,222
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FHET
HK$’000
Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 111,803
Plus: Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
held by Luzhou CR Gas 2,745
Less: Net assets acquired (114,222)
Goodwill arising on acquisition 326
Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of acquisition of jointly controlled entities:
Cash consideration paid (111,803)
Bank balances and cash acquired 26,494
(85,309)

The acquiree contributed HK$42,363,000 and HK$3,679,000 to
the Group’s turnover and profit for the period between the date of
acquisition and 31st December, 2009.

On 1st January. 2009, &M R AR EE2AF] (“Chengdu Gas”),
a jointly controlled entity of the Group, acquired 45% equity interest
in the registered capital of Z8EFH LR R BREE2AF] (“Xinan Gas”)
from independent third parties for a consideration of RMB3,375,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$3,833,000). As Chengdu Gas
held over 50% voting rights on the board of directors of Xinan
Gas and can exercise control over Xinan Gas on its financing and
operating policies, Xinan Gas is considered to be a subsidiary of
Chengdu Gas. The Group effectively shared 36% equity interests in
Chengdu Gas using proportionate consolidation, accordingly, the
Group acquired 36% of net assets of Xinan Gas at a consideration
of HK$1,380,000. The transaction has been accounted for by using
the acquisition method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity
acquired attributable to the Group’s interest:
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Bank balances and cash
Other payables

Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash

Plus: Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
held by Xinan Gas

Less: Net assets acquired

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of acquisition of jointly controlled entities:
Cash consideration paid
Bank balances and cash acquired

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

AEEEG
Wi B HI R
ERALHE
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable to
the Group
FET
HK$’000

1,706

382

2

387

663
(1,806)

1,334

TET
HK$'000

1,380

734
(1,334)

780

(1,380)
663

(717)

The carrying amount of the net identifiable assets of the acquiree

was approximate to its fair value at the date of acquisition.

The acquiree contributed HK$116,000 to the Group’s profit for
the period between the date of acquisition and 31st December,

2009.
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A Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HEz—

RBEE-_TTAF+_A=+—8H
WEFE - NEBE 2 E KB 2 RShine
Right LimitedA X {8512,171,0007%
TCRE SR E AR EE
EMEBRIERAR ([EMEBKR
R HEHEREIRERGERS
REEET) M ERMA9%M i A
R o B2 T AR AR 2 I A B B
HEZEH TOEMERFE - AR
SRR -

NG B S FE (S B U R
BRI HREEFRE
M - BB R
TE L FIE
AHHERE
REFRIBAE
i
FEURE 5 B 3k I EL At FE UK
BlREFAHIEFHE
RITHEB RS
FEHE 5 BR 30 e EAth A 3R
ENEFAHNIRIIEB
BB &

B IEAE

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

—EEF+_A=1+—HALLFE

During the year ended 31st December, 2009, Shine Right Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, acquired 49% equity

interest in the registered capital of EFIZEERE AR A A

(“Xiamen

CR Gas”), a jointly controlled entity which is engaged in sales of

liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines, from CRH for a

consideration of HK$512,171,000. The remaining equity interests

are not held by any entities under common control of CRNC.

The transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition

method.

Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity
acquired attributable to the Group’s interest:
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Available-for-sale investments
Deferred tax assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from customers for contract work
Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to customers for contract work
Government grants
Deferred tax liabilities

AEBEEMG
Wi H 5
ERREHE
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group
FHET
HK$’000

605,030
26,815
178

71
3,548
35,624
9,540
243,219
(164,384)
(56,185)
(703)
(15,132)

687,621



BEERE (HEE40(d)

i REMEBRREFSER
B8~ Rl FE AR A A a1

W BEREBEEE

W EE A o 3T ok

WREHRZESEENRE R
REEERAFEOMN ¢
RS RITREBREIRE

Y B 4 B 2K B (7] — ) LR R A RIME
He—JHEEBE - FEitt - &
RRRIEHERERRATHER -

KEABRE_ZTNF+=_R=1+—
BHR  WRB I HASEEEEER
& ) 80 & Bt 9 5l £133,025,0007% 7T
%211,456,000/8 7T °

RBEZZTTZANEFE+=_A=+— ElJt
FE - EEZEBERR (B8) ARAQ

m%lm—F‘aﬁ%éWEAmuﬁE
156,408,000/ T A E H M R E B R
AU B — [ A 2 1 B 48 78 2= 2 R
RERAR ([BEEHME - «téi
HERELREERGEREREBEE
%) uzﬂﬂé“zlmﬁsw/omﬂxzwg* ° B4R
TR A 2 N SR R AP B EE R A R 9
TEOEREERE - Bab%ﬁﬁﬁ &S
MBEREERRFTERAEEAREME
ERN—HRAE MASEIHEE
EHRRITEERES - B - EE
ERRRERAREEN —RILRE
HIEEE - AR SEAREEAR -

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements A

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

AR MR

BE_Z-ZF+_A=1+—HALFE

FET
HK$’000
Consideration transferred (Note 40(d)) 512,171
Plus: Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
held by Xiamen CR Gas 1,456
Less: Net assets acquired (687,621)
Discount arising on acquisition (173,994)
Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of acquisition of jointly controlled entities:
Bank balances and cash acquired 243,219

The discount on acquisition arose from a bargain purchase from
an intermediate holding company, accordingly, the discount was
accounted for as a deemed capital contribution and recognised
in equity.

The acquiree contributed HK$133,025,000 and HK$11,456,000 to
the Group’s turnover and profit for the period between the date of
acquisition and 31st December, 2009.

During the year ended 31st December, 2009, Jining China
Resources Gas (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group, acquired 51% equity interest in the registered capital

fOEEEBERRAR AT (“Jining CR Gas”), a jointly controlled
entity which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection
of gas pipelines, from CR Gas Holdings for a consideration of
HK$156,408,000. The remaining equity interests are not held by
any entities under common control of CRNC. The Group is able
to exercise joint control over Jining CR Gas as all of the strategic
financial and operating decisions require unanimous consent of the
Group and the other joint venturer. Accordingly, Jining CR Gas is
regarded as a jointly controlled entity of the Group. The transaction
has been accounted for using the acquisition method.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

AEEEEREERELR

2 BB AT BRI B A

E Y B

T TR AIFRIE
AHEERE

BB REE
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&
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EREPA# TIEF0R
RITHER B

&5 58 5 AR SR B LAt A 3R
ENEP A TIZHA
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BEERE (HEE40(d)
e NEEEBRRS AR

(R)EPNGIE BRI ¢
o BB EE

Yo R E A 0 3T o

Wi HRZEHEENORE R
ReFERANFEIN
B IRITREHB LR S

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity
acquired attributable to the Group’s interest:
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Available-for-sale investments
Deferred tax assets
Operating rights
Interest in an associate
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from customers for contract work
Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to customers for contract work
Taxation payable

Consideration transferred (Note 40(d))

Plus: Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
held by Jining CR Gas

Less: Net assets acquired

Discount arising on acquisition

Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of acquisition of jointly controlled entities:

Bank balances and cash acquired

AEEEG
Wi B H K
ERRAeHE
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group
FET
HK$’000

91,490
20,333
1,142
1,323
1,473
4,001
9,479
24,814
363
64,626
(25,060)
(19,781)
(899)

173,304

THET
HK$'000

156,408

3,356
(173,304)

(13,540)

64,626
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HILFE

The discount on acquisition arose from a bargain purchase from a
fellow subsidiary, accordingly, the discount was accounted for as
a deemed capital contribution and recognised in equity.

The acquiree did not have any contribution to the Group’s turnover
and profit for the year since the acquisition was completed at the
end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group obtained
25% equity interest in the registered capital of Chongqging Gas
by capital injection amounting to USD170,300,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,321,423,000). Chongging Gas is engaged in
sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines. The Group
is able to exercise joint control over Chongqging Gas as all of the
strategic financial and operating decisions require unanimous
consent of the Group and the other joint venturer. Accordingly,
Chongqging Gas is regarded as a jointly controlled entity of
the Group. The transaction has been accounted for using the
acquisition method.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010
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EEERE
o REEMRIFENBAT
Y FFIE A o
W BEREBEEE

WEELmEE

EHRRERERAT — T THEFRH

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity
acquired attributable to the Group’s interest:
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Available-for-sale investments
Deferred tax assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from customers for contract work
Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to customers for contract work
Taxation payable
Bank and other borrowings
Government grants
Deferred tax liabilities

Consideration transferred,
satisfied by deposits paid in 2009
Plus: Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
held by Chongqging Gas
Less: Net assets acquired

Goodwill arising on acquisition

AEEEG
Wi B HI R
ERALHE
(HEEE)
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group
(provisional
basis)

FET
HK$’000

540,425
38,721
19,212

4,061
35,756
150,259
2,557
633,740
(275,895)
(143,642)
(19,106)
(89,185)
(11,220)
(2,331)

883,352

TET
HK$'000

1,321,423

53,547
(883,352)

491,618
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements A

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 BHE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HLFE

FHET
HK$’000
Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of acquisition of jointly controlled entities:
Bank balances and cash acquired 633,740

The acquiree contributed HK$1,038,702,000 to the Group’s turnover
and HK$64,889,000 to the Group’s profit for the period between
the date of acquisition and 31st December, 2010.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill
have been determined on a provisional basis, awaiting the
completion of the identification of separable assets and valuation
of the assets and liabilities.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Chongging Gas
has become an associate of the Group. Details are set out in Note
44,

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group acquired
50% equity interest in the registered capital of & BT AR
A7|] (“Yibin CR Gas”), a jointly controlled entity which is engaged
in sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines,
from an independent third party for a cash consideration
of RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to HK$113,780,000). The
transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition method.

Annual Report 2010 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

197)



iR M ISR
A Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—HLFE

AEEEG
Wi B H K
ERRAeHE
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group

FHIT
HK$’000
A5 [ A o FE A1 B b PR 2 (R 42 ) Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity
BRI HEIEEFE : acquired attributable to the Group's interest:
ME - BB KEE Property, plant and equipment 124,722
NI b Interest in an associate 1,677
A ERE Available-for-sale investments 33
75 Inventories 11,702
( 198 e 5 BR T N E b e UK Trade and other receivables 77,596
' RITHBKIA S Bank balances and cash 16,510
FEHE 5 B8R 3R K% E A B 3R Trade and other payables (52,714)
RITREMEER Bank and other borrowings (56,868)
BIETHIRBE Deferred tax liabilities (2,821)
119,837
FHET
HK$’000
EEERE  UREXM Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 113,780
mn: EEEERRIFEN Plus: Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
LRIEEPNCIE 2 g held by Yibin CR Gas 6,057
o BB ERE Less: Net assets acquired (119,837)
W BB EE A R PR Goodwill arising on acquisition -
I EIE I EREMARE & Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
REFEMBFEON ¢ in respect of acquisition of jointly controlled entities:
BEfRERE Cash consideration paid (113,780)
FIiSiRITEMRKRIR 2 Bank balances and cash acquired 16,510
(97,270)
WERSE T FF+_A=+— The acquiree contributed HK$156,211,000 to the Group’s turnover
BIFHAR - fUEE h AR E L ¥ and HK$12,135,000 to the Group’s profit for the period between
Ko A B BR 9 5l 2156,211,0007% the date of acquisition and 31st December, 2010.

7t % 12,135,000 7T °

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH



REBEE-_Z—ZTF+-A=t+—H1
FE - AEE AR &K E686,543,000
BILREN B = H U — M RZE
EEMAIFERIMRE (RREHER
ftRERERBREEER) THER
49%M Ik AR i s o BRI 5 W g
JENER ©

RE B G E B R
BRI EAEEFE
e L
EEEE
LA 5 BR R T A B LR
RITEHR A D
JE 5 28 55 BRI EL At A 35K

EEERE

w - EWBEERE

WBEEMEE

Wi HRZEHEENORE R
BEFERDFEIMN
ENEERE
FSIRITREBEERS

AR MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HILFE

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group acquired

49% equity interest in the registered capital of Nanjing Jiangning CR

Gas, a jointly controlled entity which is engaged in sales of liquefied

gas and connection of gas pipelines, from an independent third

party for a cash consideration of HK$686,543,000. The transaction

has been accounted for using the acquisition method.

Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity
acquired attributable to the Group’s interest:
Property, plant and equipment
Taxation recoverable
Trade and other receivables
Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables

Consideration transferred
Less: Net assets acquired

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents

in respect of acquisition of jointly controlled entities:

Cash consideration paid
Bank balances and cash acquired
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AEBEEL
Wi B R
EHRRAEHE
(HEE%E)
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group
(provisional
basis)

FET
HK$’000

253,321
37,140
110,818
154,187
(20,324)

535,142

T
HK$'000

686,543
(535,142)

151,401

(686,543)
154,187

(532,356)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—HLFE

KEARE T —ZF+=_RA=1+—
B8R - WE S A EE S ¥E
Ko &9 B B9 5l £55,735,000/% 70
%.3,167,0005% 7T

FEEERAENRTFERBET
RYEEMEAGFE  UEFHERTDH

The acquiree contributed HK$55,735,000 to the Group’s turnover
and HK$3,167,000 to the Group’s profit for the period between the
date of acquisition and 31st December, 2010.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill
have been determined on a provisional basis, awaiting the

BENREERBBMHETK

completion of the identification of separable assets and valuation
of the assets and liabilities.

REE-ZT—ZTF+=-_A=+—H
IHEE AEBURSRKEBARE
75,892,4407T (18 % $°86,716,000/%
TL) (A8 S 58 = 75 U B — ) 2 (R 22 )
EREAIEMRRBRAA ([RIE
BRR] - REHERER RERKE
REBER) & A50%H) I AN
( 200 7 o AR SEEAWEEANE ©

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group acquired
50% equity interest in the registered capital of ATZEEMRE R
RA7] (“Neijiang CR Gas”), a jointly controlled entity which is
engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines,
from an independent third party for a cash consideration of
RMB75,892,440 (equivalent to HK$86,716,000). The transaction
has been accounted for using the acquisition method.

AEEES
WiE B B
ERALHE
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group

FHT
HK$’000
NG [ o R B UK B A R4 ) Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity

A EEFE acquired attributable to the Group’s interest:
M - BE KRG Property, plant and equipment 39,328
FE A FIA Prepaid lease payments 12,774
NI b Interest in an associate 5,325
7&8 Inventories 2,976
FEUE 5 B 7% B E At fE U R Trade and other receivables 9,134
RITHEBRIA S Bank balances and cash 47,487
FERT B 5 BR 0 R E A FERT3R Trade and other payables (12,774)
RITREMEER Bank and other borrowings (22,738)
81,512

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HILFE

FET

HK$’000

Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 86,716

Less: Net assets acquired (81,512)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 5,204

Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents

in respect of acquisition of jointly controlled entities:

Cash consideration paid (86,716)

Bank balances and cash acquired 47,487

(39,229)

The acquiree contributed HK$28,891,000 to the Group’s turnover
and HK$1,520,000 to the Group’s profit for the period between the
date of acquisition and 31st December, 2010.

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, Kunshan China
Resources Gas (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group, acquired 49.9% equity interest in the registered capital
of BIWEMHMMAEMRAR], a jointly controlled entity which is
engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines,
from CR Gas Holdings for a consideration of HK$81,420,000.
The remaining equity interests are not held by any entities under
common control of CRNC. The transaction has been accounted for
using the acquisition method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

37. WEEHEEHERE (&) 37. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

AEEELRE
HHHE RIS
(HEE%E)
Amounts
recognised

at the date of
acquisition
attributable

to the Group

(provisional
basis)
FHT
HK$'000
R (B4 2 FE G B UGBS R 42 Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity
BRI HNEEFE - acquired attributable to the Group’s interest:
L EN NG Property, plant and equipment 75,672
FERHEAFRIEA Prepaid lease payments 3,006
R IEEE Deferred tax assets 685
Yy Inventories 153
FEULE 5 BR 3R N b & UK Trade and other receivables 6,439
EWERFEA 4 TI2F8 Amounts due from customers for contract work 6,145
IRITHEB KRS Bank balances and cash 53,912
FERHE 5 BR 3% R L A FE A 3R Trade and other payables (16,733)
ENREA#TIEFIE Amounts due to customers for contract work (27,809)
FERFTE Taxation payable (441)
R —ERRMB A RKIE Amount due to a fellow subsidiary (119)
100,910
FHT
HK$'000
EHEER(E (FI5H40(e)) Consideration transferred (Note 40 (e)) 81,420
B BEWEEEFE Less: Net assets acquired (100,910)
WS E A TR Discount arising on acquisition (19,490)
IR KR FI E RIS K& Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
BeEERAFEON ¢ in respect of acquisition of jointly controlled entities:
Fif3iR1THB EE S Bank balances and cash acquired 53,912

ERRRERERDE —Z - TEFRH
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He—JHEEBE - Fit - ZFE
FRAREHERERBRARHER -

WEBRE T —TF+_A=1+—
HIEEME - BT RSB S EE
Ko F) ) B Bf 9 Bl A81,405,0007 7T
%10,146,000/5 7T °

B EERBENRAFEDIZREE
MRERIGE - UEFRRADHEEN
REERBBEMGEETK -

RBE-_Z-—ZTF+_-_A=+—~H
LEE - 2EEHRR (BB BR
RAN(ARR2ENBRR) ARE
197,399,000 7T ) 2 78 A S/ 42 B IR
BRI B EEE B
REBRRAR (REEBEMR] - =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HILFE

The discount on acquisition arose from a bargain purchase from a
fellow subsidiary, accordingly, the discount was accounted for as
a deemed capital contribution and recognised in equity.

The acquiree contributed HK$81,405,000 to the Group’s turnover
and HK$10,146,000 to the Group’s profit for the period between
the date of acquisition and 31st December, 2010.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired have been
determined on a provisional basis, awaiting the completion of the
identification of separable assets and valuation of the assets and
liabilities.

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, Suining China
Resources Gas (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group, acquired 49.9% equity interest in the registered
capital of MJIIZFEHEBRRKXMERLAE (“Suining CR Gas”), a
jointly controlled entity which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas
and connection of gas pipelines, from CR Gas Holdings for a
consideration of HK$197,399,000. The remaining equity interests
are not held by any entities under common control of CRNC.
The transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition
method.
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AEEES
Wi B HI K
ERAEHE
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group

FAT
HK$’000
INER B i o R A W B 2 R ) Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity acquired
BRI HEIEEFE : attributable to the Group’s interest:
Y HWE N&E Property, plant and equipment 62,535
TET A RIE Prepaid lease payments 9,294
1R Operating rights 22,387
NS 2 Interest in an associate 4,301
EEFIEE E Deferred tax assets 3,305
FE Inventories 10,966
FEUE 5 BR 3K & E At FE MR Trade and other receivables 16,618
R — 8 B 2B B A ) 708 Amounts due from a fellow subsidiary 89
RITHEBRRIR S Bank balances and cash 125,275
T E 5 IR R E M FE A X Trade and other payables (39,313)
ENREA4TIEHIE Amounts due to customers for contract work (22,030)
FEI TR Taxation payable (1,179)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (1,316)
190,932
FAT
HK$'000
BEEAE (KiiE40(e)) Consideration transferred (Note 40(e)) 197,399
n: ZEEHRRFEHHERR] Plus: Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
FEFE i held by Suining CR Gas 2,859
B BN EEFE Less: Net assets acquired (190,932)
WHEEENEE Goodwill arising on acquisition 9,326
KRG EENIRE Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
EREFERNFEDN in respect of acquisition of jointly controlled entities:
FiSiRITESRRE S Bank balances and cash acquired 125,275

EHRRERERAT — T THEFR
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE—

RE S EmERMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EEF+_A=F+—RALFE

The acquiree contributed HK$154,777,000 to the Group’s turnover
and HK$20,583,000 to the Group’s profit for the period between
the date of acquisition and 31st December, 2010.

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of jointly controlled entities
because the costs of the combinations included a control premium.
In addition, the consideration paid for the combinations effectively
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce of the acquirees. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition
criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

—E-FF —ETNEF

+=A=+—-8B +Z=ZA=+—H

31.12.2010 31.12.2009

FHET FHET

HK$°000 HK$'000

(&%)

(Restated)

—FR Within one year 21,371 6,372
FEERF In the second to fifth year inclusive

(RIEEEMFEA) 32,946 9,534

RFI& After five years - 1,009

54,317 16,915

BERON RIS EERPAE
BENEHENES - BOOERR
ErfeTys—2ReH (22
NE  —EAFH) -

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for office and factory premises. Leases are negotiated and rentals
are fixed for term ranging from one to five years (2009: one to six
years).
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38. KEMEW (&)
AEEERHEA

R|ERR  AREEARARTT L
TR EETRL - BRAAXNH
SEHESHFHEWT :

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_ZT-TE+_A=+—HILEE

38. OPERATING LEASES (Continued)

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
lessees for the following future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

—E-ZF —EZNF

+=ZA=+—-8B +ZRA=+—H

31.12.2010 31.12.2009

FHET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

(&%)

(Restated)

—FR Within one year 3,987 1,464
FE_FERF In the second to fifth year inclusive

(BREEEMFEA) 2,767 1,594

AF% After five years 446 984

7,200 4,042

FRERBBRAD LR T —
ET-48(CRTAF: —E+=
5) i - B DRERELY
RTINS 2 -

ERRIRERERDE —F - TFFRH

The investment properties rented during the year have committed
tenants for term ranging from one to twelve years (2009: one to
twelve years). No contingent rent was arranged for the above
operating lease arrangements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ‘

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 #HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

39. EAEIE 39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
—E-ZF —ZEThEF
+=—A=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
FHERT FAT
HK$°000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
BB ITAERRENYE - Capital expenditure in respect of
MR &5t FAN & IE acquisition of property, plant and
&R equipment/prepaid lease payments
contracted but not provided for 181,006 89,968
BRJHERBENRE Capital expenditure in respect of an
HEEREZ investment contracted but not provided for - 478,999
181,006 568,967
BEOHAEERTANYE - Capital expenditure in respect of
MR &5 BN ERE acquisition of property, plant and
o= WG equipment/prepaid lease payments
authorised but not contracted for 18,518 - 207
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Hep o REESEH

[F4% 1 & 88 10 &

BE—

—EEF+_A=1+—HALLFE

Included in the above, the Group’s share of the capital commitments

AT : of the jointly controlled entities are as follows:
—E-ZTF ZETNEF
+=A=+—-8B +ZA=+—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
FER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
BECINBERBENYE - Capital expenditure in respect of
W= K&t ENAERE acquisition of property, plant and
&AM equipment/prepaid lease payments
contracted but not provided for 98,925 37,222

(a)

(b)

(c)

RZZEZNFARA  THREEN
%@1&{%310,969,000%%@%5@
MREERRWERREE N R
B RS R BB MA LI F
ERREERKLENBARRER
THIBERHOMEHRBAR - B
FZWEE - BN —HERRME AR
B FIEE 11310,969,00078 7T ©

RZZEZNFAA ZREE
LA #8 1%, f8162,793,000/% 7T [M] —
EEEN Y= MG Gl o =24
AR A R B R R SR I E 48 o
=Sl N =
NAE BEER AR RIELE
162,793,000/& 7T °

é—??j‘bﬂz/\ﬂ +E| =k
14475,073,000/% 7t 7] — & 7] &
M A A 3T — REE1Z T
LTmik - BRRIEE B EMNZ
B Z T8 A 7] & 48 [F) & B R IR
FREARER o

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

In June 2009, the Top Steed Group acquired all subsidiaries
of the Top Steed Group, which were incorporated in British
Virgin Islands and Hong Kong and are holding the Top
Steed Group’s operating subsidiaries and jointly controlled
entities, from CR Gas Holdings for a total consideration
of HK$310,969,000. As a result of these acquisitions,
the amount due to a fellow subsidiary was increased by
HK$310,969,000.

In June 2009, the Top Steed Group acquired two jointly
controlled entities from a fellow subsidiary and an intermediate
holding company for an aggregate consideration of
HK$162,793,000. As a result of the above transactions, the
amounts due to a fellow subsidiary/an intermediate holding
company was increased by HK$162,793,000.

On 30th June, 2009, Top Steed issued one ordinary share of
US$1 to a fellow subsidiary for HK$475,073,000, settled by
capitalisation of amount due to a fellow subsidiary to the same
amount.



dy REBEE-_ZZAF+_A=+
—HIEFE * Mega Fair Group
LA 48X {8668,579,00078 JT [A] —
MEEZERAR L —HERZEHK
JB 2 E Yo R D A R I BB o
HRZERS  BNEZEER
A &) A 8 1N512,171,000/%5 7T
K FE AT R 2 M BB 2 &) 5k T8 35 AN
156,408,000/8 7T °

(e) REBE-Z—ZF+-_A=+—
HIEFE * Mega Fair GroupA
41X (278,819, 0005%7_Er_1 — fd]
[ 2R Bt JB 7 ) M o i R 22 il
B - ANZERS VEHH%’*
Fff B8 A 7 30 I8 3 Hhn278,819,000
BT °

H REBEE-_ZT—TF+=-A=
+—BLEEE AEEBE N
K {E2,221,155,000/ JT @
Powerfaithff BEMega FairZz &b
B A RERS - BB 3 R BT
186,654,223% f% (D E 1 »

R-F-FF+-A=1-H0 &%
ENARZHERRET -HEEE
2 RAEEBEARTRIGER -

i
#£188,029,000/8 ;T (Z T N F +
—A=+—8 :181,718, ooo,%ru) o
AEBERShZERZEHEEN
36% M AN IR PR S AR+ &
It AR B E BB (h36%M 3 A B &
67,690,000 T (ZZEZNF+=A
=+ —H 65,419,000 T) - A =
T—ZTFER-_FTFNF+=_A=1+—
A BERZAFELITEL  BHER
BERBBRNRZ IR - B3
ESENGRAVBARABRRAD BITE

.
=7
s °

iR e M SRR I
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements A

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HEZ-ZT—ZTF+-A=+—HILFE

(d) During the year ended 31st December, 2009, the Mega
Fair Group acquired two jointly controlled entities from
an intermediate holding company and a fellow subsidiary
for total consideration of HK$668,579,000. As a result of
these transactions, the amount due to an intermediate
holding company was increased by HK$512,171,000 and
the amount due to a fellow subsidiary was increased by
HK$156,408,000.

(e) During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Mega Fair
Group acquired two jointly controlled entities from a fellow
subsidiary for total consideration of HK$278,819,000. As
a result of these transactions, the amount due to a fellow
subsidiary was increased by HK$278,819,000.

(f)  During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group
acquired 100% equity interest in Mega Fair from Powerfaith
for a consideration of HK$2,221,155,000 which was settled
by allotment and issue of 186,654,223 shares.

As at 31st December, 2010, the Group’s jointly controlled entity
has given guarantees amounting to HK$188,029,000 (31st
December, 2009: HK$181,718,000) to a bank in respect of
banking facility granted to a state-controlled entity. The Group
effectively shared 36% equity interests in that jointly controlled
entity using proportionate consolidation, accordingly, the Group
effectively shared 36% of contingent liabilities of HK$67,690,000
(81st December, 2009: HK$65,419,000). The fair values of the
guarantees as at 31st December, 2010 and 2009 are not significant
as it is remote for the default payment by state controlled entity
and therefore no amount has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as liabilities.
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RZE—ZTFF+-_A=1+—H "

ECEW T EEERRITEERE

RE-P-TE+-A=t+—HILFE

NS At 31st December, 2010, the Group pledged the following assets

RHF-—RARBEENENE ZERER of natural gas as follows:

H PR

ME - BB MR
& B B8R
EHEMRITER

( 210

B & B 7% i 2R A8 A P S P 8 RO B S
ALTR BN NEE R F A EREEA

THETTIRS

BB AT BERERE

BERRIRE
HETRRMERR
$HE T M B A F A EAR
EfN—RRRME R

B ALE B 52
EfNf—MRRMNE QAN

ikl bd
EN—RRHEEBRRNERE
BETHRAS T —H

BESGIFNG)
mlEES =N

EE TR

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

Property, plant and equipment
Trade receivables
Pledged bank deposits

—s-%%
2010
FHT
HK$’000

1,470
412
12,010

13,892

as securities for bank borrowings and trade payables to suppliers

2009
FHET
HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)

95,978

19,262

115,240

In addition to the related party transactions set out in the respective
notes to the consolidated financial statements, the Group entered

into the following transactions with related parties during the

year:

Purchases from minority shareholders
of subsidiaries
Purchases from joint venturers
Sales to fellow subsidiaries
Sales to minority shareholders of subsidiaries
Interest expenses paid to a fellow subsidiary

Rental expenses paid to a fellow subsidiary

Consultancy fee paid to a fellow subsidiary

Reimbursement of administrative expenses
to a fellow subsidiary

Reimbursement of administration expense
from a fellow subsidiary

—2-%%F
2010
Filx
HK$’000

399,192
27,671
2,051
93,664
24,441

392

33,033

2009
FHT
HK$'000
(&71)
(Restated)

138,033
54,799
2,780
78,836

5,642

570
1,702

41,492



AEEE_ZT-TF A BERER
RAAEB &£ F245% (BERD)
[BEE R R | F25Z 27 FTElEb 0 E
o AEE A S RHBEBTES S
HEFHETRAEERRN—HD
A HE B AT BB EGNE
BRENEERTES -

BRESARALEMBARNZS (B
R R & B TS S R A9 EL A B AE B R
S - AN 55 B % B AP B R R Sk PR R
2 HEZESRENERTE N
EREAREBRETETER £
FBEEMR - BEMASOMRRRE
BFHERIEEE -

AR MR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements A

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HILFE

The Group has early adopted the partial exemptions set out
in paragraphs 25 to 27 of HKAS 24 (Revised) “Related Party
Disclosures” in advance of its effective date from 1st January.
2010. The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
CRNC which is controlled by the PRC government and the Group
operates in an economic environment currently predominated by

entities controlled by the PRC government.

Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in
the ordinary course of business, including purchases and sales
of gas. A large portion of purchases of gas is from government-
related entities.

—E—ZF —ETNF

2010 2009

FHET T

HK$°000 HK$’000

EHIEF Short-term benefits 12,125 2,565
BIKERET Post-employment benefits 317 173
12,442 2,738

RZTE——F=-_A=+H REESE
ERREFEMNBEAERAREBE
BERE (AEE—RHERZEHEE)
MEERRBA—THRER B H
ERAM - Sk (AR e HER
EEEREENRBREERROMEER
WS B 75 R4S RS E R — BRI B A 1§
Moo Bt - BEBARERTHERIE
EEMRENREHENEAZE
71 MRERAN G B A e & 5T R IR I
K BUEEERRRBEREAERDN
B A RIALR ©

On 20th February, 2011, in preparation of Chongging Gas future
initial public offering in the PRC, all the shareholders of Chongging
Gas, a jointly controlled entity of the Group, passed a resolution
to amend its memorandum of association in which, among others,
the terms requiring unanimous consent of the Group and the joint
venturer on all of the strategic financial and operating decisions of
Chongging Gas had been removed. Accordingly, going forward the
Group no longer jointly controlled but retained significant influence
on Chongging Gas, and Chongging Gas since then is accounted
for as an associate under equity accounting by the Group.
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NEEH
Name of company

EHRRERAR
China Resources Gas

Limited

BREIMRERAR

&R

ZEEMRBRAA

EREERRERA

REEERRERA

EILEREMRAR AR

AREBRRERAR

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HEz—

AR,

FR 3L 3t 26

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

HEEREAHE
British Virgin
Islands

E
PRC

E
PRC

i
PRC

i
PRC

i
PRC

H
PRC

—EEF+_A=1+—HALLFE

BBITR
BEREK
AR A

Issued and fully
paid share/
registered capital

LRRAZET
Ordinary US$4

AE#50,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000

15,000,0003 7T
USD15,000,000

16,000,0005 7T
USD16,000,000

4,000,0003 T
USD4,000,000

11,000,000% 7T
USD11,000,000

AR #44,000,0007T
RMB44,000,000

REB LR RE
Attributable equity
interest of the Group

—g-%F -—TThAE

2010 2009
% %
100 100
80.4 80.4
70 70
50 50
100 100
54 54
75 75

TEER
Principal activities

REEKR

Investment holding

HERILR

Sales of liquefied gas

HERER
REBHBRES
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection

of gas pipelines

HERILR
PERHREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines

HERILR
RERRREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines

HERILSR
FERBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines

HERIER
RESRREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines



DRER
Name of company

BREBMRERAR

BEREBRRERA

BERERRRERAF?

EIEBRRERA

REEEMRERAR

RERERMRRER AR

MR
R 3L it 26
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

R
PRC

RE
PRC

e
PRC

e
PRC

e
PRC

I
PRC

AR MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements A

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE—

ERTR
BERE
L AR A

Issued and fully
paid share/
registered capital

AR #50,000,0007T
RMB50,000,000

AE#70,000,0007T
RMB70,000,000

A #10,000,0007T
RMB10,000,000

AR #10,000,0007T
RMB10,000,000

AR #51,300,0007T
RMB51,300,000

7,788,900k 7T
US$7,788,900

—EEFT_A=F+—HLLFE

FEBELRE
Attributable equity TEEHK
interest of the Group Principal activities
—E-%F ZTTNHF

2010 2009
% %

75 75 HERILR
REERREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
71.43 71.43 HERILR
FEEHBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection

of gas pipelines

100 100 HERIER
PERBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines

100 100 HERIER
REBBRE R
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines

51 51 HERILR
FERBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines

100 100 HERIER
kEBBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE-ZT—ZTF+-A=+—HIFE

ERTR
Bl BERAK
FX L 26 R
Place of Issued and fully AER B AL IR
NG incorporation/ paid share/ Attributable equity TEER

Name of company

establishment

registered capital

interest of the Group

—e-%F —FTNF

Principal activities

2010 2009
% %
ARERRRARAR FE AR #29,890,6007T 51 51 HERILR
PRC RMB29,890,600 FESRRESR
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
M ZEBRRAR A i AR #380,000,0007T 70 70 HERIER
PRC RMB80,000,000 PERRRESR
Sales of liquefied
{.‘ ik gas and connection
of gas pipelines
ABEBRRER QA i AR %5,000,0007T 100 100 HERILR
PRC RMB5,000,000 PEBHREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
ZRMNEEBRE i AR#50,000,00070 100 100 HERILR
BRAR! PRC RMB50,000,000 PERBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
BINRERDERA o AE#125,150,0007T 47.12 - HERARE DR
PRC RMB125,150,000  (Note 36) 1 R R R s
(PF97+36) MREB

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

Sales of natural gas
pressure control
equipment and
gas appliances and
construction of
gas pipelines



45. TEMBLRER (&)

1. EEATERENPILELEGH
RAFtE -

2. BEARNEREMNEBALEN
RiFtE -

3. ZALERBEMBRES4%EE @ Wik
BRI EDE57.11%5 5

4. ZAFRRRFEKIOBRNDERD
o

BEBRRAERQB RAR B EERE
B PR EA bt BB A RIS
BMARAMERA @ WEBEEMK
3 PRI RIS E T o

R_E—ZTFE+_A=+—HAx%EFR
FERTERSFE - % B B8 1 B AR R A R AR (8
BES -

ARBEERE - ERAIINAEE
MEBAREAEENEEREERS
BEEEAXE - ARBEZERS #
FIEAML KB R R MEFEE S ARER
RITE °

AR MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 #HEZT—TF+-A=+—HILFE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of sino-
foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly
foreign-owned enterprise.

3 These Group holds 54% equity interest in the subsidiary and shares
profit at 57.11% according to the shareholders’ agreement.

4 The Company was established in the PRC as a jointly stock limited
company.

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
the Company, all other above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company and are operating principally in their place
of incorporation/establishment.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
31st December, 2010 or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length.
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HEEHER HWELR

FENRSER
Equity interest rEEEGRE
Rt MR held by the Attributable
ARER Place of Registered jointly controlled interest equity TEEK
Name of company establishment capital entities/subsidiary of the Group Principal activities
“E-BF —TTNF ZB-BF _TThF
2010 2009 2010 2009
% %
7o)l B R AR FE AR %10,000,0007T 49 49 17.64 17.64 HERILR
BBREFERE PRC RMB 10,000,000 Sales of liquefied
gas
AR FRAR HE AR #3,000,0007T 49 49 17.64 1764  HERIELE
BREFLA PRC RMB3,000,000 Sales of liquefied
gas
A R RB R HE AK#10,000,0007T 45 45 16.2 162 HEAAR
| 216 BREAR PRC RMB 10,000,000 RESBREE
.' Sales of natural gas
and connection
of gas pipelines
HIRRBERAR H AR #16,500,0007C 25 25 11.25 1125  HERAR
BRAF PRC RMB16,500,000 Sale of liquefied
gas
FRLRR h AR #95,590,0007T 27 - 15.16 - HEXRRR RILA
BREEAR PRC RMB95,590,000 hR SR R
EMREE
Sale of natural
gas, LPG and

gas appliances
and construction
gas pipelines

RRREERE  ERAIINAKE

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the

AN opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
BEEEAVE - ARAEERA  # results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
Bl H b B = A AR EF B S 2 AR5 A associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,

result in particulars of excessive length.

EHRRERERAT — T THEFRH
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47. TEHEFEFEREHR 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES
FR L 2 rEERERE
DNAERE Place of SR AR A Attributable equity TEEH
Name of company establishment Registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
—E-TF —TTHNH
2010 2009
% %
BREB TR F AR #800,000,0007T 36 36 HERIER
BREMERA PRC RMB800,000,000 RESBREE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EHEBRRARRA HE 29,980,000 7T 50 50 HERIER
PRC USD29,980,000 kERBREE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
217
ENEEEBRRERLAR  FE AR#117,939,5007T 40 40 HERIER
PRC RMB 117,939,500 kEEEBRER

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
HIEERRAER AR # AR#150,000,0007T 51 45 HERILR
PRC RMB150,000,000 kERBRER

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
MBEERRAR AR H AK%186,000,0007C 46 46 HERER
PRC RMB 186,000,000 kESEREE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
ERNEERABRAT H AK#1,000,000,0007C 49 49 HER(ILR
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 RESBRER

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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NEER
Name of company

BEZEMRRERA

BEMR (£E)
BREEATF

HEEFHIMRARA

HRTEEBEMR
BRAF

MIIERRRERARF

EEMREBRAA

MR EBRR
BinBRAE

EHRRERERAT — T THEFR

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HEz—

BR Lt 2
Place of
establishment

3
PRC

k3
PRC

e
PRC

i
PRC

H
PRC

HE
PRC

£
PRC

—EE+_A=F+—HLLFE

AR AR AR
Registered capital

ANFR#286,582,8587T
RMB286,582,858

AE#1,216,116,0827C

RMB1,216,116,082

AR #200,000,0007T
RMB200,000,000

AE#951,000,0007C
RMB951,000,000

AR #126,487,4007T
RMB126,487,400

AR #148,000,0007C
RMB148,000,000

AR#122,423,3727T
RMB122,423,372

FEBELRE
Attributable equity

interest of the Group
—E-BF —TTNF

2010 2009
% %

51 51

25) -

50 =

50 =

49.9 =

TEXRE
Principal activities

HERILR
kEBHREE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

HERILR
REBHRES
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines

HERIER
FESHRESR
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines

HERILR
REEBRER
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines

HERILR
RERBREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines

HERILR
FEERBREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines

HERILR
FEERREE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE_ZT—ZTF+-_A=+—HILFE

1 The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies as all
of the strategic financial and operating decisions require unanimous
consent of the Group and the joint venturers. Accordingly, these
companies are regarded as jointly controlled entities of the Group.

The above jointly controlled entities are jointly controlled by the
Group and the other significant shareholder under the respective
shareholders’ agreements. Therefore, they are classified as jointly
controlled entities of the Group.

The above table lists the jointly controlled entities of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results of the year or form a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other jointly controlled
entities would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result
in particulars of excessive length.

IR B FE G L R HE I B AL R S Y B RS The summarised financial information in respect of the interests 219»
BRETIHHMT : in jointly controlled entities attributable to the Group is set out
below:
—E-FF ZEZTNF
2010 2009
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
mBEE Current assets 4,809,886 1,785,976
EREEE Non-current assets 3,302,938 2,671,169
mEaE Current liabilities 3,824,893 2,603,026
e =NE Non-current liabilities 431,709 281,120
RiBa ERAKA Income recognised in profit or loss 4,696,329 1,870,282
RERERNFEZ Expenses recognised in profit or loss 4,131,637 1,542,039
EfE2mBiA Other comprehensive income 56,620 326
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(5 Financial Summary

BEE TURNOVER

ERRF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Bt ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
ARAFBA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
FERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

220

BEME TOTAL ASSETS

SR4E TOTAL LIABILITIES

RAME TOTAL EQUITY

ADAFEEA EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
PR OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

LTHHEATE SHARE OPTION RESERVE OF
BRERE A LISTED SUBSIDIARY

FERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

RAHE TOTAL EQUITY

BE-2T\ER-FENET=A=t+—
B 1k F1ELF 2 0B 5 61 T IA R BSR4
ERRHMARBGHREHES B5% 1
REHAHZ A RIHE] HPE - BE=
PEAER-BTLET-A=+—BLM
B4 BB TS R R 39

EHRRERERAT — T TEFEFRH

3,450,659

280,396

232,417
47,979

280,396

= ¢ T
2006
FEIL

HK$'000

7,923,129
(4,113,506)

3,809,623

2,755,091

5,805

1,048,727

3,809,623

HET-A=1T—HILEFE

Year ended 31st December

“TTtE —TTN\E
2007 2008
THT THET
HK$'000 HK$'000
(&E31)

(Restated)

6,251,087 3,505,535
480,655 354,024
402,079 383,659
78,576 (29,635)
480,655 354,024
T-A=t—H

31st December

S —TENE
2007 2008
TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
(E7)

(Restated)

10,556,557 4,827,613
(6,196,899) (2,078,354)
4,359,658 2,749,259
3,613,734 2,373,329
10,840 -
735,084 375,930
4,359,658 2,749,259

“ZTNF
2009
FHET
HK$'000
(2731)
(Restated)

4,110,151

558,579

459,574
99,005

558,579

“ITNF
2009
TET
HK$'000
(&51)
(Restated)

10,716,718
(7,559,200)

3,157,518

2,424,913

732,605

3,157,518

—g-%%
2010
FH7
HK$’000

8,326,747

970,399

733,685
236,714

970,399

—g-%%
2010
Fb%
HK$’000

19,158,882
(11,579,523)

7,579,359

5,684,495

1,894,764

7,579,359

The financial information for the two years ended 31st December,

2008 and 2009 has been restated to reflect the effect of application of

Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting under Common Control

Combination” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants. The financial information for the two years ended 31st
December, 2006 and 2007 has not been adjusted.
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